

DOCTORAL THESIS

Measurement of the inclusive top quark pair in association with a radiated photon production cross section in the dilepton channel for pp collisions at 8 TeV $$\rm TeV$$

Author: Nik Berry Supervisors: Prof. Akram Khan Prof. Peter Hobson

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

 $in \ the$

Department of Electronic and Computer Engineering College of Engineering, Design and Physical Sciences

Brunel University London

April 3, 2017

Declaration of Authorship

I, Nik Berry, declare that the work in this dissertation was carried out in accordance with the requirements of the University's Regulations and Code of Practice for Research Degree Programmes and that it has not been submitted for any other academic award. Except where indicated by specific reference in the text, the work is the candidate's own work. Work done in collaboration with, or with the assistance of, others, is indicated as such. Any views expressed in the dissertation are those of the author.

SIGNED: DATE:

(Signature of student)

"Real courage is when you know you're licked before you begin, but you begin anyway and see it through no matter what."

Harper Lee, To Kill a Mockingbird

Abstract

Here is presented the top-quark pair plus photon production cross section measured in pp collisions at a centre-of-mass energy of $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV with the CMS detector at the Large Hadron Collider, using data recorded in 2012 corresponding to an integrated luminosity of $\mathcal{L}_{int} = 19.6 \text{ fb}^{-1}$. The measurement is performed in the dilepton decay channel. The fiducial region is defined by the final state of the process $pp \rightarrow W^+W^-b\bar{b}l\nu\gamma$, with a minimum photon transverse energy of $E_T(\gamma) > 25$ GeV and lies within a pseudorapidity range of $|\eta(\gamma)| < 1.4442$, with a separation of $\Delta R(\gamma, all) > 0.3$ between the photon and quarks or leptons in $\eta - \phi$ space. Signal events are simulated using the MADGRAPH event generator. Data-driven templates are constructed in order to measure the photon identification efficiency using the supercluster footprint removal technique, and a fit to the charged hadron isolation is performed. The ratio of $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ cross section relative to the inclusive $t\bar{t}$ cross section, $R = \frac{\sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}}{\sigma_{t\bar{t}}}$, is exploited in order to cancel various sources of systematic uncertainties. The combination of dilepton final state decay channels ratio in the fiducial area is measured to be $R = 0.00115 \pm 0.00023(stat.)$. Using a recent CMS $t\bar{t}$ cross section measurement at 8 TeV in the dilepton channel of $\sigma_{t\bar{t}} = 245.6 \pm 1.3(stat.) \pm ^{+6.6}_{-5.5}$ $(syst.) \pm 6.5(lumi.)$ pb, the top pair plus photon production cross section is calculated to be $\sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}^{CMS} = 944 \pm 154(stat. + syst.)$ fb. Being in agreement with the $t\bar{t}+\gamma$ SM expectation of $\sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}^{SM} = 861 \pm 71$ (scale) ± 30 (PDF) fb, this is the most accurate measurement of the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ process to date, and the first at a centre-of-mass energy of 8 TeV in the dilepton channel.

Acknowledgements

I couldn't possibly list the number of people that have made the last four years as enjoyable, and sometimes bearable, as it was. I want to start by thanking my supervisor *Akram Khan* for introducing me to the topic of top quark physics, and for punctually reading through and correcting my thesis and other documents throughout my time as a PhD student. I must also thank *Joanne Cole* for her incredibly fastidious corrections to my thesis, and for being extremely helpful whenever I was in need of her wealth of physics knowledge. I, and the whole HEP group at Brunel, am incredibly grateful for the technical help (and beers) provided by *Ivan Reid*, without whom I doubt I would have got to this point. Lastly, I would like to thank the other students within the Brunel HEP group, *Rhys Gardener*, *Uthayan Suthakar*, and *Hassan Ahmad* for making my experience enjoyable, with a special mention to *Philip Symonds* for his contribution in the early stages of the analysis.

Throughout my time working at CERN I have worked with many people, and I would like to especially thank certain people. From the TOP group I would like to greatly thank Andreas Meyer, Jacob Linacre, and Andrea Giammanco for their extremely insightful input into the analysis and patience. Also, a special mention to Till Arndt for joining me as joint TOP EGamma expert and generally being a nice guy. I would like to thank Marco Peruzzi and Yutaro Iiyama for their great help with the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ analysis and EGamma work. I would also like to thank Duncan Leggat for making my time at CERN one that I will always have fond memories of, and accompanying me when exploring the darkest corners of Switzerland.

With regard to the analysis, I would like to give special thanks to *Mikhail Makouski* who always took the time to talk given the Swiss-US time difference. *Francisco Yumiceva* and *Danny Noonan* for pioneering the analysis in the semileptonic channels as Misha finished. And finally *Heiner Tholen* for his endless contributions to the analysis, without whom it would not even exist, and without whom I would not have gained a friend for life.

I would like to make a special thanks to my family and partner for their constant support and encouragement throughout, as well as keeping me alive when the funding ran out. Without them I could not have reached this stage in my life, and I am forever indebted to them. And finally, to *Peter Hobson* and the Science and Technology Facilities Council, for providing me with funding and allowing all of this to happen.

Contents

In	Introduction			1
1	Theoretical Motivation			4
	1.1	The S	M of Particle Physics	4
		1.1.1	Gauge theory	6
		1.1.2	The electroweak theory	9
		1.1.3	Quantum chromodynamics	11
		1.1.4	Electroweak symmetry breaking	14
		1.1.5	The CKM matrix	18
		1.1.6	Where the SM fails	19
	1.2	The 7	Fop Quark	23
		1.2.1	Top quark production at hadron colliders	25
		1.2.2	Top quark decay modes	29
		1.2.3	$t\bar{t} + \gamma$ background processes	31
		1.2.4	Backgrounds of photon signature	34
		1.2.5	Top quark anomalous couplings	36
		1.2.6	The top-photon vertex	37
		1.2.7	Previous measurements	39
2	The	e LHC	and the CMS Detector	41
	2.1	The I	Large Hadron Collider	41
		2.1.1	Pre-LHC accelerator complex	42
		2.1.2	Design of the LHC	43
		2.1.3	Physics goals	44

		2.1.4	Luminosity at the LHC	45
		2.1.5	Performance throughout Run I	45
	2.2	The C	MS Detector	47
	2.3	Inner '	Tracking System	49
		2.3.1	Tracker performance in Run I	51
	2.4	Electro	omagnetic Calorimeter	53
		2.4.1	Overview	53
		2.4.2	Composition of the ECAL	54
		2.4.3	Photodetectors	56
		2.4.4	Performance of the ECAL throughout Run I	57
	2.5	Hadro	n Calorimeter	58
		2.5.1	Overview	58
	2.6	Superc	conducting Solenoid	60
	2.7	Muon	System	61
		2.7.1	Performance of the muon system in Run I	64
	2.8	Trigge	r and Data Acquisition	66
		2.8.1	Performance of the Trigger in Run 1	68
3	Eve	nt Rec	construction & Simulation	70
				•••
	3.1	Event	Reconstruction and Computing	. o 72
	3.1	Event 3.1.1	Reconstruction and Computing	72 72
	3.1	Event 3.1.1 3.1.2	Reconstruction and Computing	72 72 72 73
	3.1 3.2	Event 3.1.1 3.1.2 Simula	Reconstruction and Computing	 72 72 72 73 76
	3.1 3.2 3.3	Event 3.1.1 3.1.2 Simula Monte	Reconstruction and Computing	72 72 73 76 76
	3.13.23.3	Event 3.1.1 3.1.2 Simula Monte 3.3.1	Reconstruction and Computing	72 72 73 76 76 76
	3.13.23.33.4	Event 3.1.1 3.1.2 Simula Monte 3.3.1 Simula	Reconstruction and Computing	72 72 73 76 76 76 76 76
	 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 	Event 3.1.1 3.1.2 Simula Monte 3.3.1 Simula Simula	Reconstruction and Computing	 72 72 72 73 76 76 76 76 79 80
	 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 	Event 3.1.1 3.1.2 Simula Monte 3.3.1 Simula Simula 3.5.1	Reconstruction & SimulationReconstruction and ComputingEvent data modelAnalysis softwareAnalysis softwareation of the CMS detectorCarlo SimulationMonte Carlo event generatorsAnalysisated Samples for the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ Analysis<	 72 72 72 73 76 76 76 76 76 79 80 81
	 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 	Event 3.1.1 3.1.2 Simula Monte 3.3.1 Simula Simula 3.5.1 Physic	Reconstruction & SimulationReconstruction and ComputingEvent data modelAnalysis softwareAnalysis softwareation of the CMS detectorCarlo SimulationCarlo SimulationMonte Carlo event generatorsated Samples for the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ Analysisation of the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ Signal SampleOfficial $t\bar{t} + \gamma 2 \rightarrow 7$ sample production	 72 72 72 73 76 76 76 76 76 76 80 81 85
	 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 	Event 3.1.1 3.1.2 Simula Monte 3.3.1 Simula 3.5.1 Physic 3.6.1	Reconstruction & Simulation Reconstruction and Computing	 72 72 72 73 76 76 76 76 76 76 76 80 81 85 87
	 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 	Event 3.1.1 3.1.2 Simula Monte 3.3.1 Simula 3.5.1 Physic 3.6.1 3.6.2	Reconstruction and Computing	 72 72 72 73 76 76 76 76 76 76 76 80 81 85 87 89
	 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 	Event 3.1.1 3.1.2 Simula Monte 3.3.1 Simula 3.5.1 Physic 3.6.1 3.6.2 3.6.3	Reconstruction & Simulation Reconstruction and Computing	 72 72 72 73 76 76 76 76 76 76 76 80 81 85 87 89 90

		3.6.4	The Particle Flow event reconstruction algorithm 90
		3.6.5	Electron reconstruction
		3.6.6	Electron identification
		3.6.7	Muon reconstruction
	3.7	Higher-	level Object Reconstruction
		3.7.1	Jet reconstruction
		3.7.2	Jet identification
		3.7.3	Jet energy corrections
		3.7.4	B-tagged jets
		3.7.5	Reconstruction of Missing Transverse Energy
	Б		100
4	Eve	nt Seleo	IU8
	4.1	Event S	Selection
	4.2	Pre-sele	ection: Selection of $t\bar{t}$ Events
	4.3	Skim .	
	4.4	Trigger	and Event Cleaning
		4.4.1	Trigger selection
		4.4.2	Filtering
	4.5	Dilepto	n Selection and Vetoes
		4.5.1	Electrons
		4.5.2	Muons
	4.6	Jet Sele	ection and b-tag Requirements
	4.7	Missing	Transverse Energy
	4.8	Compa	rison of Data and Simulation for $t\bar{t}$ Selection
	4.9	Selectio	on of $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ Events
		4.9.1	Cut based photon identification
		4.9.2	Final state radiation suppression
		4.9.3	Supercluster footprint-removal for photon isolation
	4.10	Phase S	Space Overlap Removal
	4.11	Correct	ions to Simulated Events
	4.12	Event S	Selection Cut Flow

5	Mea	asurement of the Inclusive $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ Cross Section 139
	5.1	Measurement of the Cross Section Ratio $R = \sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}/\sigma_{t\bar{t}}$
	5.2	Photon Purity Estimation
		5.2.1 Signal template construction using the random cone method 144
		5.2.2 Background estimation using the $\sigma_{i\eta i\eta}$ side-band method 145
		5.2.3 Fit to charged hadron isolation
	5.3	Number of Signal Events in Data
	5.4	Signal Acceptance Calculation
6	Sys	tematic Uncertainties 161
	6.1	Flat Rate Uncertainties
		6.1.1 Luminosity
		6.1.2 Lepton efficiencies
	6.2	Shape Uncertainties
		6.2.1 Parton distribution function
		6.2.2 Pile-up reweighting
		6.2.3 Jet energy corrections
		6.2.4 Missing transverse energy
		6.2.5 B-tagging efficiency
	6.3	Modelling Uncertainties
		6.3.1 Renormalisation and factorisation scales
		6.3.2 Parton-level matching thresholds
	6.4	Impact of Uncertainties
7	Res	ults 173
	7.1	Cross Section Calculation for Individual Channels
	7.2	Combination of Channels
С	onclu	isions 178
\mathbf{A}_{j}	ppen	dices 180
	A.1	Operator Contributions to $\gamma t \bar{t}$
	A.2	Electron and Muon Efficiencies

	A.2.1	Dilepton trigger scale factors
	A.2.2	Electron ID and isolation efficiencies
	A.2.3	Muon ID and efficiencies
A.3	Variab	le Distributions
	A.3.1	Lepton variables
	A.3.2	Jet variables
	A.3.3	MET variables
	A.3.4	$t\bar{t}$ photon variables
	A.3.5	$t\bar{t} + \gamma$ photon variables
A.4	List of	Acronyms

216

Bibliography

List of Figures

1.1	The SM of particle physics [3]	5
1.2	The experimentally measured values of the effective gauge coupling $\alpha_s(q)$	
	confirm the theoretically expected behaviour [Equation 1.28] at high ener-	
	gies (compilation of the Particle Data Group) [17]	13
1.3	The "Mexican Hat Potential" describing the vacuum expectation value of	
	the Higgs in the real and imaginary planes, such that the minima lies below	
	zero [19]	15
1.4	Quantum correction to the mass of the Higgs boson via a fermion loop	22
1.5	The introduction of a new scalar boson loop in the Higgs boson propagator.	22
1.6	Lowest level diagrams for $t\bar{t}$ production at the LHC. Gluon scattering pro-	
	cesses, (a), (b), and (c), are the dominant processes at LHC energies, while	
	quark scattering, process (d), is the dominant one at TeVatron energies [37].	26
1.7	Leading-order level diagrams for single top production at the LHC. (a) s-	
	channel, (b) and (c) represent the t-channel, (d) and (e) both represent the	
	two tW channels [37]. \ldots	27
1.8	Summary of measurements of the top-pair production cross section at 8 ${ m TeV}$	
	compared to the exact NNLO QCD calculation complemented with NNLL	
	re-summation (top $++2.0$). The theory band represents uncertainties due	
	to renormalisation and factorisation scale, parton density functions and the	
	strong coupling. The measurements and the theory calculation are quoted	
	at $m_{top} = 172.5 \text{ GeV} [38]$	28

1.9	Top quark pair production cross section measurements compared to the	
	SM predictions as a function of the centre-of-mass energy. The new result	
	of the CMS collaboration at 13 TeV is displayed in red and is in agreement	
	with the theory prediction (green band) [41]	29
1.10	Branching fractions of the W decays within top quark pairs [45]	31
1.11	Feynman diagram depicting the signal $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ production process in the	
	dilepton channel showing all available decay modes and particles which	
	could possibly radiate a photon.	32
1.12	Examples of Feynman diagrams of the considered $t\bar{t}$ backgrounds. QCD	
	showering is necessary in all cases to obtain the required jet multiplicity [46].	33
1.13	Background of photon identification: Initial state radiation (ISR). Left:	
	Quark fusion. Right: Gluon fusion does not give rise to ISR as photons	
	couple to charge (based on [47])	35
1.14	Background of photon identification: Final state radiation (FSR). All charged	
	particles in the top-pair decay tree contribute to FSR. (a) FSR from a W	
	boson, (b) FSR from a b quark, (c) FSR from a quark or lepton, (d) FSR	
	from an anti-quark or anti-lepton [47]	35
1.15	Top-photon vertex. Left: Leading Order (LO). Right: One-Loop Next to	
	Leading Order (NLO) correction.	37
1.16	Sketch of expected photon energy spectra. The reference line (grey) is SM	
	$(q_{top} = +2/3)$. A deviation of the top electrical charge yields a differently	
	normalised photon rate ($q_{top} = 4/3$, shown in red). Extra couplings, e.g.	
	a large electrical dipole moment manifests in different kinematic shapes	
	(dashed line) [52]	39
2.1	A full schematic of the full CERN accelerator complex [67]	42
2.2	Left: Peak luminosity, Right: integrated luminosity recorded by the LHC	
	between 2010 and 2012 for proton operation. The 2010 luminosity values	
	have been multiplied by a factor 20 [72].	46

2.3	Left: The accumulation of the integrated luminosity produced at the LHC	
	vs. time for runs in 2010, 2011, and 2012. The 2010 integrated luminosity	
	is multiplied by 100 in order for it to be visible on the plot. Right: Total	
	integrated luminosity vs. time for the 2012 run in CMS and the LHC [72].	47
2.4	A cross sectional view of the CMS detector [73]	48
2.5	The sub-detectors of the CMS silicon tracker system: TOB=outer barrel,	
	TIB=inner barrel, TID=inner disc, TEC=endcaps, PIXEL=pixel detector.	
	Each line represents a detector module. Double lines indicate back-to-back	
	modules which deliver stereo hits [74]	50
2.6	Muon reconstruction efficiency in the tracker as functions of pseudora-	
	pidity (left) and the number of proton-proton interaction vertices (right)	
	[78]	52
2.7	Primary vertex resolution in the transverse plane (left) and along the beam-	
	line (right) as functions of the number of tracks attached to the vertex [78].	53
2.8	Geometric view of one quarter of the ECAL (top). Layout of the CMS	
	electromagnetic calorimeter presenting the arrangement of crystal modules,	
	supermodules, endcaps and the preshower in front (bottom) [74]	55
2.9	Geometric view of one quarter of the ECAL (top). Layout of the CMS	
	electromagnetic calorimeter presenting the arrangement of crystal modules,	
	supermodules, endcaps and the preshower in front (bottom) [74]	56
2.10	Left: The mass resolution of the Z peak, reconstructed from its di-electron	
	decay mode, as a function of time for the barrel. Right: Relative electron	
	(ECAL) energy resolution unfolded in bins of pseudo-rapidity η for the	
	barrel [82]	58
2.11	Longitudinal view of one quarter of the detector in the $r-\eta$ - plane, showing	
	the positions of the HCAL parts: hadron barrel (HB), hadron outer (HO),	
	hadron endcap (HE) and hadron forward (HF) [74]. \ldots	59
2.12	General artistic view of the five modules composing the cold mass inside	
	the cryostat, with details of the supporting system (vertical, radial and	
	longitudinal tie rods) [74].	62

2.13	Layout of one quadrant of CMS. The figure shows the four DT stations	
	in the barrel (MB1-MB4, yellow), the four CSC stations in the endcap	
	(ME1-ME4, green), and the RPC stations (RB1-RB4 and RE1-RE3) [74]	63
2.14	RPC Muon efficiencies on top of the semi-Tight muon selection in \mathbf{p}_T and	
	$ \eta $ [88]	66
2.15	Architecture of the Level 1 trigger [74].	67
2.16	Top Triggers: Efficiency of the hadronic leg for the electron plus jets paths	
	in 2012 versus the p_T of the 4th jet (left) and the dependence with respect	
	to the number of vertices (right) [91]	69
3.1	Graphic visualisation of a hadron collision process where two partons come	
	in from the right and the left, represented by the directional arrows. Two	
	gluons (blue) form the hard scattering interaction (red circle). This section	
	of the process depicts the matrix element calculation. In the hard scat-	
	tering interaction prompt decays and parton showers then take place as	
	represented by the smaller red circles. Finally, the hadronisation process	
	begins (green circles). Collinear gluon emissions are also observed as well	
	as underlying event particles stemming from a softer collision with other	
	partons in the hadrons. This is represented by the purple colouration and	
	subsequent interactions [94].	71
3.2	A radiography of a quarter of the simulated tracker geometry in the (a)	
	fast and (b) full simulation [99]. The data points are from the vertices of	
	converted photons, whereby there are a much larger number of simulated	
	events in the FastSim.	76
3.3	Process generation. The red, blue, and green boxes depict the matrix	
	element calculation. Background processes with the same final state are	
	included as well [52].	81
3.4	Comparison between the full and the factorised $2 \rightarrow 7 \mbox{ process using samples}$	
	generated with WHIZARD. All distributions are normalised to unity [110].	84
3.5	Comparison between the MADGRAPH and WHIZARD generators for the	
	factorized 2 \rightarrow 7 process. All distributions are normalised to unity [110].	86

3.6	An event display of a simple hadronic jet in the (x, y) view (top) and in
	the (η, ϕ) view, where η stands for pseudo-rapidity and ϕ for the azimuthal
	angle, on the ECAL surface (bottom left) and the HCAL surface (bottom
	right). (These two surfaces are represented as two circles centred around
	the interaction point in the first view.) The K_L^0 , the π^- and the two pho-
	tons from the π^0 decay are detected as four well separated ECAL clusters
	(bottom left). The π^+ leaves no energy in the ECAL. The two charged
	pions are reconstructed as charged-particle tracks, appearing as vertical
	solid lines in the (η, ϕ) views and circular arcs in the (x, y) view. These
	tracks point towards two HCAL clusters (bottom right). In all three views,
	the cluster positions are represented by dots, the simulated particles by
	dashed lines, and the position of their impact on the calorimeter surfaces
	by various open markers [92]
3.7	Schematic showing a displaced secondary vertex due to a b-quark decay
	from the primary vertex forming a b-jet. The impact parameter, d_0 , mea-
	sures the displacement with respect to the primary vertex along the z-axis,
	and L_{xy} measures the displacement from the primary vertex in the trans-
	verse plane
3.8	Logarithmic distribution of the partons as a function of the CSV b-tagging
	discriminant [131]
4.1	Flow chart showing each stage of the analysis. The box numbers represent
	the outlined analysis steps
4.2	Lead lepton p_T (top left), second lepton p_T (top right), and dilepton mass
	(bottom) for the $\mu^+\mu^-$ channel only after $t\bar{t}$ selection. The upper plots show
	the distribution of the variable, where the black markers represent the data
	and the solid colours represent the signal and background MC samples. The
	lower plots show the ratio of data to MC. The hashed markings represent
	the error on the MC
4.3	Comparison of the sum of the transverse momentum and η in all recon-
	structed jets (top), and number of jets (bottom) per event for the $\mu^+\mu^-$
	channel only after $t\bar{t}$ selection

4.4	The missing transverse energy distributions in terms of missing energy,
	azimuthal angle ϕ , and MET significance for the $\mu^+\mu^-$ channel only after
	$t\bar{t}$ selection
4.5	Comparison of the photon E_T and $ \eta $ distributions in data and simulation
	in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels after $t\bar{t}$ selection
4.6	Comparison of photon E_T and $ \eta $ distributions in data and simulation in
	the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels after photon selection
4.7	Comparison of the $\Delta R(\gamma, jets)$ distributions in data and simulation in the
	$\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels after photon selection
4.8	Graphical representation of the PF candidate footprint (red) from the pri-
	mary interaction vertex, within the isolation cone (green) [139] 131
4.9	Graphic representation of the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ phase space relative to the $t\bar{t}$ phase
	space
4.10	Cutflow plots showing the number of events remaining after individual
	cuts are introduced, comparing distributions in data and simulation in the
	$\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels
5.1	Graphic representation of the signal and background definitions [143] 142
5.1 5.2	Graphic representation of the signal and background definitions [143] 142 Illustration of the random cone technique. Under the assumption that
5.1 5.2	Graphic representation of the signal and background definitions [143] 142 Illustration of the random cone technique. Under the assumption that the footprint of the photon (red) is completely removed from the isolation
5.1 5.2	Graphic representation of the signal and background definitions [143] 142 Illustration of the random cone technique. Under the assumption that the footprint of the photon (red) is completely removed from the isolation sum, the energy deposited in the random-cone area (green in right image)
5.1 5.2	Graphic representation of the signal and background definitions [143] 142 Illustration of the random cone technique. Under the assumption that the footprint of the photon (red) is completely removed from the isolation sum, the energy deposited in the random-cone area (green in right image) predicts the energy deposited in the isolation cone (green area in left image).
5.1 5.2	Graphic representation of the signal and background definitions [143] 142 Illustration of the random cone technique. Under the assumption that the footprint of the photon (red) is completely removed from the isolation sum, the energy deposited in the random-cone area (green in right image) predicts the energy deposited in the isolation cone (green area in left image). Left shows the composition of the random cone before rotation, and right
5.1 5.2	Graphic representation of the signal and background definitions [143] 142 Illustration of the random cone technique. Under the assumption that the footprint of the photon (red) is completely removed from the isolation sum, the energy deposited in the random-cone area (green in right image) predicts the energy deposited in the isolation cone (green area in left image). Left shows the composition of the random cone before rotation, and right shows after [139]
5.1 5.2 5.3	Graphic representation of the signal and background definitions [143] 142 Illustration of the random cone technique. Under the assumption that the footprint of the photon (red) is completely removed from the isolation sum, the energy deposited in the random-cone area (green in right image) predicts the energy deposited in the isolation cone (green area in left image). Left shows the composition of the random cone before rotation, and right shows after [139]
5.1 5.2 5.3	Graphic representation of the signal and background definitions [143] 142 Illustration of the random cone technique. Under the assumption that the footprint of the photon (red) is completely removed from the isolation sum, the energy deposited in the random-cone area (green in right image) predicts the energy deposited in the isolation cone (green area in left image). Left shows the composition of the random cone before rotation, and right shows after [139]
5.1 5.2 5.3	Graphic representation of the signal and background definitions [143] 142 Illustration of the random cone technique. Under the assumption that the footprint of the photon (red) is completely removed from the isolation sum, the energy deposited in the random-cone area (green in right image) predicts the energy deposited in the isolation cone (green area in left image). Left shows the composition of the random cone before rotation, and right shows after [139]
5.1 5.2 5.3	Graphic representation of the signal and background definitions [143] 142 Illustration of the random cone technique. Under the assumption that the footprint of the photon (red) is completely removed from the isolation sum, the energy deposited in the random-cone area (green in right image) predicts the energy deposited in the isolation cone (green area in left image). Left shows the composition of the random cone before rotation, and right shows after [139]
5.15.25.35.4	Graphic representation of the signal and background definitions [143] 142 Illustration of the random cone technique. Under the assumption that the footprint of the photon (red) is completely removed from the isolation sum, the energy deposited in the random-cone area (green in right image) predicts the energy deposited in the isolation cone (green area in left image). Left shows the composition of the random cone before rotation, and right shows after [139]
5.15.25.35.4	Graphic representation of the signal and background definitions [143] 142 Illustration of the random cone technique. Under the assumption that the footprint of the photon (red) is completely removed from the isolation sum, the energy deposited in the random-cone area (green in right image) predicts the energy deposited in the isolation cone (green area in left image). Left shows the composition of the random cone before rotation, and right shows after [139]
 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5 	Graphic representation of the signal and background definitions [143] 142 Illustration of the random cone technique. Under the assumption that the footprint of the photon (red) is completely removed from the isolation sum, the energy deposited in the random-cone area (green in right image) predicts the energy deposited in the isolation cone (green area in left image). Left shows the composition of the random cone before rotation, and right shows after [139]

5.6	Fit to charged hadron isolation with pseudo-data in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and	
	$e\mu$ channels	51
5.7	Fit to charged hadron isolation templates in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels.	152
5.8	Fit to charged hadron isolation in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels 1	53
A.3.1a	a Lead lepton p_T , second lepton p_T , and dilepton mass distributions for the	
	e^+e^- and $e\mu$ channels after $t\bar{t}$ selection	83
A.3.11	b Lead lepton η and second lepton η distributions for the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and	
	$e\mu$ channels after $t\bar{t}$ selection	84
A.3.10	c Lead lepton ϕ and second lepton ϕ distributions for the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and	
	$e\mu$ channels after $t\bar{t}$ selection	85
A.3.2a	a Comparison of the sum of the transverse momentum and η in all recon-	
	structed jets, and number of jets per event for the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$	
	channels after $t\bar{t}$ selection	86
A.3.21	b Comparison of the transverse momentum (left) and η (right) in leading jet	
	of reconstructed jets for the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels after $t\bar{t}$ selection.	187
A.3.20	c Comparison of the ϕ distributions in all jets (left) and leading jet (right)	
	reconstructed jets for the $\mu^+\mu^-, e^+e^-$, and $e\mu$ channels after $t\bar{t}$ selection. 1	188
A.3.3	The missing transverse energy distributions in terms of missing energy, the	
	azimuthal angle ϕ , and MET significance for the e^+e^- and $e\mu$ channels	
	only after $t\bar{t}$ selection	89
A.3.4a	a Comparison of the η and H/E distributions in data and simulation in the	
	$\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels after $t\bar{t}$ selection	90
A.3.4	b Comparison of the ρ -corrected neutral hadron isolation and photon iso-	
	lation distributions in data and simulation in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$	
	channels after $t\bar{t}$ selection	91
A.3.40	c Comparison of the shower shape $(\sigma_{i\eta i\eta})$ and $\Delta R(\gamma, jets)$ distributions in	
	data and simulation in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels after $t\bar{t}$ selection. 1	92
A.3.40	d Comparison of the $\Delta R(\gamma,\mu)$ and $\Delta R(\gamma,e)$ distributions in data and simu-	
	lation in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels after $t\bar{t}$ selection	93
A.3.5a	a Comparison of the η and H/E distributions in data and simulation in the	
	$\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels after photon selection	94

- A.3.5e Comparison of the $\Delta R(\gamma, \mu)$ and $\Delta R(\gamma, e)$ distributions in data and simulation in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels after photon selection. 198

List of Tables

1.1	SM particles and their supersymmetric counterparts and spin values	22
1.2	The SM cross sections for both single top and $t\bar{t}$ processes at the Tevatron	
	and the LHC. All cross sections are calculated at next-to-next-to-leading-	
	order and measured in pb. [42]	27
2.1	LHC design parameters [69]	44
2.2	Tower segmentation in azimuthal and polar angle for the hadronic barrel,	
	endcap and forward calorimeter [83]. \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	59
2.3	Parameters of the LHC Superconducting Solenoid [85]	61
3.1	Dataset information for signal and background MC samples	74
3.2	Dataset information for each run in each respective decay channel. \ldots .	75
3.3	Variables used in electron identification algorithms [37]	98
4.1	Triggers for each dilepton channel.	112
4.2	The number of expected events in MC and events observed in data for the	
	$\mu^+\mu^-$ channel, before the fitting process, including statistical uncertainties.	137
4.3	The number of expected events in MC and events observed in data for the	
	e^+e^- channel, before the fitting process, including statistical uncertainties :	137
4.4	The number of expected events in MC and events observed in data for the	
	$e\mu$ channel, before the fitting process, including statistical uncertainties	138

5.1	Simulated samples categorised by origin of reconstructed origin after nom-
	in al selection in the $\mu^+\mu^-$ channel. Events are normalised by process the -
	oretical cross sections. Data-driven QCD sample is not expected to have
	signal photons or electrons. All errors are statistical
5.2	Simulated samples categorised by origin of reconstructed origin after nom-
	in al selection in the e^+e^- channel. Events are normalised by process the-
	oretical cross sections. Data-driven QCD sample is not expected to have
	signal photons or electrons. All errors are statistical
5.3	Simulated samples categorised by origin of reconstructed origin after nomi-
	nal selection in the $e\mu$ channel. Events are normalised by process theoretical
	cross sections. Data-driven QCD sample is not expected to have signal pho-
	tons or electrons. All errors are statistical
5.4	Measured quantities used in the likelihood fit for the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$
	channels
5.5	Scale factors found to maximise the likelihood function in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- ,
	and the $e\mu$ channels, respectively. The uncertainties are statistical 158
5.6	Efficiency and acceptance of the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ selection in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$
	final states. Uncertainties are statistical
6.1	Systematic uncertainties listed in descending order of their contribution to
	the cross section ratio in the $\mu^+\mu^-$ channel
6.2	Systematic uncertainties listed in descending order of their contribution to
	the cross section ratio in the e^+e^- channel
6.3	Systematic uncertainties listed in descending order of their contribution to
	the cross section ratio in the $e\mu$ channel
6.4	Simulated samples for $t\bar{t}$ systematic uncertainties
7.1	Values used in calculating the cross section ratios in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and
	$e\mu$ channels
A1	Dilepton trigger scale factors [157]
A2	Electron ID and isolation efficiencies [158]
A3	Muon ID and isolation efficiencies [157]

Introduction

It is a peculiar fact that the entire observable universe can be described by just three fundamental particles: the up and down quarks, and the electron. The question must then be asked as to why it is that three generations of quarks and leptons are observed, where subsequent generations are much heavier than the first. This collection of the most fundamental particles is called the Standard Model (SM) of particle physics. Ever since its first construction, some 50 years ago, it has stood the test of time and held strong against intense scrutiny. The most massive of the fundamental particles is the top quark, with a mass of around $173.3 \,\text{GeV}/c^2$, which is 7.5×10^4 times more massive than the up and down quarks and the heaviest of the fundamental particles.

With the new energy frontier reached by the LHC an abundance of top quarks are produced in the hard collisions produced primarily in the ATLAS and CMS discovery experiments. This level of top production has not been achievable at any other collider experiment, such as the Tevatron at Fermilab, and thus the Large Hadron Collider (LHC) obtains its title as a top factory. This large production of top quarks allows for extremely precise measurements of the properties of the top quark, such as production cross section, mass, couplings, spin correlations, forward-backward asymmetry, and charge measurements. The couplings of the top quark are of particular interest due to the fact that the top quark does not hadronise, and can thus be accessed directly. The production cross section of a particular top decay can be measured and properties inferred from the energy distribution, where any contribution from beyond the SM physics is to expected to manifest in the tail of this distribution. Both of these techniques are the focus of this analysis.

Despite the discovery of the Higgs boson on the 4th of July, 2012, by the ATLAS and CMS experiments [1, 2] at the LHC, top physics analyses remain some of the highest priority physics analyses at the LHC. Top pair production and mass are essential precision

Introduction

measurements due to the direct link of the top quark with the Higgs mass. This can be seen through the Yukawa coupling of the top, such that it is extremely close to unity, and implies that the fine tuning of the Higgs mass is dependent on its coupling to the top. One of the most important features of the top quark is that its signature is a primary background to many new physics processes beyond that of the SM, where most models beyond the SM extend the top sector, thus introducing more degrees of freedom and solutions to known problems (such as the hierarchy problem).

Chapter 1 discusses the composition of the SM and the symmetry groups that it is based on, a much more detailed explanation of how particles acquire mass, and an indepth description of the top quark. The discussion focuses on how couplings of the top quark to a gauge boson are constructed, and what implications this might have should a deviation from what is predicted by theory be seen. Chapter 2 describes the design and performance of the CMS detector, with an emphasis on the electromagnetic calorimeter which is of high importance for the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ analysis due to the strong ability to reconstruct photons.

Chapter 3 begins the event simulation and reconstruction section of the analysis, describing the way in which particles are identified within the detector and the output is transferred into data on which offline analysis is performed. This chapter also describes the process for the simulation of the official CMS signal sample and comparison to other Monte Carlo event generators. The second part of the analysis is described in Chapter 4, where the selection process for the signal events is stated. This is broken down into two categories: top quark pair selection, and photon selection. This method for selection allows calculation of selection efficiencies in a much more convenient manner. The process for the estimation of the number of background events within the selection is then described.

After event yields have been calculated, taking into account background processes, in Chapter 5 the production cross section for top quarks with a radiated photon is calculated, decaying to final states containing two oppositely-signed leptons and at least two jets (where one is b-tagged). This is broken down into several variables which are calculated separately. Due to the way in which the analysis is performed, the way in which objects are reconstructed and the detector is composed, corrections for such effects must be made by calculating systematic and statistical uncertainties. These are described in Chapter 6, where all individual uncertainties are calculated and incorporated into the final cross section measurement. The final results of the cross section measurement are then presented (Chapter 7) by breaking down each component of the cross section into its different components. Instead of calculating the cross section directly, the ratio of the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ to the $t\bar{t}$ cross section was calculated in order to cancel out several global variables (such as luminosity), and then multiply the ratio, R, by the $t\bar{t}$ cross section to find the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ cross section. This is carried out for each dilepton decay mode.

Finally, in Chapter 7.2 conclusions from the results of the analysis are presented, and the future outlook for the analysis for measurements at the new higher centre-of-mass energy now in use at the LHC described. The analysis described in this thesis has been presented at many CMS internal meetings within the Top Properties subgroup of the TOP POG (Physics object group), as well as various conferences.

The analysis presented in this thesis was completed in its entirety by myself, and has been presented in front of various groups and conferences: many TOP cross sections and properties group meetings, EGamma working group meetings, Warwick high energy physics summer school (2013), Brunel ResCon 2014, CERN-Fermilab summer school (2014), Institute of Physics (IOP) conference (2015), TOP2015 – 8th international workshop on top quark physics, and various CMS UK conferences. A dedicated Monte Carlo signal sample for the signal $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ process was created by the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ analysis and TOP groups.

Chapter 1

Theoretical Motivation

1.1 The SM of Particle Physics

The SM of particle physics is the most successful physical theory to date, having been scrutinised and tested over and over again and still remaining strong. The SM is a quantum field theory that describes all known fundamental particles and their interactions with one another with the exception of gravity. It categorises fundamental particles and forces into three categories: three generations of quarks of type up and down, three generations of leptons, each linked to their corresponding neutrino type, and the forces. These categories can be classified into fermions, fundamental matter particles, and bosons, force particles carrying the quanta of the electromagnetic, weak, and strong forces. The three categories are shown in Figure 1.1. Each fundamental particle holds a property called "spin", which is the intrinsic angular momentum of that particle. Fermions are all spin-1/2 particles, whereas the bosons are all spin-1 particles — with the exception of the Higgs, which has a spin of 0.

The SM was first introduced in the 1960s when Sheldon Glashow first combined the weak and electromagnetic forces [4] to form an $SU(2)_L \otimes U(1)_Y$ gauge invariant electroweak model, which was then extended to incorporate the Higgs mechanism by Abdus Salam and Steven Weinberg [5, 6]. Quarks and gluons (the quanta of the strong force) were later found to posses a property called colour, whereby quarks are only able to exist as composite particle states called hadrons, with the exception of the top quark which has such a large mass that it does not undergo hadronisation. This property lead to the



Figure 1.1: The SM of particle physics [3].

concept, and thus development, of quantum chromodynamics (QCD) [7, 8, 9], described in more detail in Section 1.1.3. The leptons differ from the quarks in that they interact only via the electromagnetic and weak interactions, where the neutrinos only interact via the weak force as they do not carry electric charge. This process is described in more depth in Section 1.1.2. These fundamental forces were combined in a gauge-invariant model, $SU(3)_C \otimes SU(2)_L \otimes U(1)_Y$, to form the modern day form of the SM.

The masses of the fundamental particles are not explicitly stated in the SM, it is with the introduction of the Higgs mechanism through the process of spontaneous symmetry breaking that they acquire mass with the introduction of the Yukawa terms (see Section 1.1.4). It was thought that the neutrinos were considered massless until the recent discovery of oscillations between generations of neutrinos [10], originally postulated by Bruno Pontecorvo in 1957 [11]. The first evidence for neutrino oscillations was published in 1998 in the study of atmospheric neutrinos in the Super-Kamiokande detector, Kamioka, Japan.

The Higgs mechanism is the process responsible for the breaking of the electroweak symmetry in the gauge group $SU(2)_L \otimes U(1)_Y$, and thus the acquisition of mass in fundamental particles. Although first postulated in 1964 [12, 13, 14], the Higgs mechanism was only recently verified with the discovery of the Higgs boson with the ATLAS [2] and CMS [1] experiments at the Large Hadron Collider (LHC), CERN. This Higgs mechanism essentially completes the SM picture, with the exception of various short-comings described in Section 1.1.6.

1.1.1 Gauge theory

Almost all of the physics within SM arises directly from imposed symmetries. Interactions are produced by requiring local gauge invariance under specific symmetry groups. The SM in group theory is defined as the unification of two gauge symmetry groups, describing the electroweak and strong interactions. The Glashow-Weinberg-Salam electroweak model sees the electromagnetic and weak interactions combined to create the electroweak gauge symmetry group $SU(2)_L \otimes U(1)_Y$, where the gauge symmetry group for strong interactions is defined as $SU(3)_C$. Thus, the gauge symmetry group of the SM is defined to be:

$$SU(3)_C \otimes SU(2)_L \otimes U(1)_Y \tag{1.1}$$

In order to explain the concept of gauge invariance changes to the phase of the wavefunctions or fields are considered. Taking the Lagrangian density of a free Dirac field, ψ , describing all free-moving spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ fermions with a mass, m:

$$\mathcal{L} = \bar{\psi}(i\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} - m)\psi \tag{1.2}$$

where γ^{μ} are the Dirac matrices. It can be shown that this is invariant under phase rotations, defined by:

$$\psi \to \psi' = e^{i\theta}\psi, \quad \bar{\psi} \to \bar{\psi}' = e^{-i\theta}\bar{\psi}$$
 (1.3)

as the exponential factors will cancel each other out, thus a U(1) symmetry and corresponding conserved current is returned. This is what is known as a global phase transformation due to the time dependency of θ . However, a local gauge invariance is required, and therefore a local phase transformation must be applied such that θ is different at every space-time point, which is now defined as $\theta(x_{\mu})$. The local phase transformations are applied to the wave function, ψ , and are defined in the following way:

$$\psi \to \psi' = e^{i\theta(x_{\mu})}\psi, \quad \bar{\psi} \to \bar{\psi}' = e^{-i\theta(x_{\mu})}\bar{\psi}$$
(1.4)

Dropping the space-time component μ from x_{μ} for simplicity, it can be seen that the Dirac equation is now not invariant under the local gauge transformation as:

$$\partial_{\mu}(e^{i\theta(x)}\psi) = i(\partial_{\mu}\theta(x))e^{i\theta(x)}\psi + e^{i\theta(x)}\partial_{\mu}\psi$$
(1.5)

which can then be expressed in terms of the Lagrangian as:

$$\mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{L} - [\partial_{\mu}\theta(x)]\bar{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\psi \tag{1.6}$$

In order to restore local gauge invariance, it is hypothesised that the fermions interact with a "gauge field" A_{μ} . The interacting fermion Lagrangian can then be redefined as:

$$\mathcal{L} = \bar{\psi}(i\gamma^{\mu}D_{\mu} - m)\psi \tag{1.7}$$

replacing the ordinary derivative, ∂_{μ} covariant derivative, D_{μ} , defined as:

$$\partial_{\mu} \to D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} + iqA_{\mu} \tag{1.8}$$

where:

$$A_{\mu} \to A_{\mu} - \partial_{\mu}\theta(x)$$
 (1.9)

In this way the gauge transformation of the fields cancel with that of the fermion fields, and therefore invariance is restored. The Lagrangian of Equation 1.2 is exactly what is expected for a fermion in an electromagnetic field with charge q. The second term that is obtained when the Lagrangian, $-q\bar{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}A_{\mu}\psi$, is expanded describes the interaction of a fermion with a vector field with coupling strength q = Qe, where Q is the charge of the particle in units of e, where e is the electromagnetic coupling constant. By forcing a local U(1) gauge invariance, quantum electrodynamics (QED) is essentially introduced, with the exception of the gauge field (photon) kinematic term described by the field strength tensor, $F_{\mu\nu}$, denoted:

$$F^{\mu\nu} = \partial^{\mu}A^{\nu} - \partial^{\nu}A^{\mu} \tag{1.10}$$

and thus the gauge-invariant QED Lagrangian density is obtained:

$$\mathcal{L}_{QED} = \bar{\psi}(i\not\!\!D_{\mu} - m)\psi - \frac{1}{4}F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu}$$
(1.11)

where D_{μ} is equal to $\gamma^{\mu}(\partial_{\mu} + iqA_{\mu})$.

It should be noted that the gauge field A_{μ} is required to be massless in order to satisfy invariance under a local gauge transformation. This property arises as the gauge field mass term $m^2 A_{\mu} A^{\mu}$ would explicitly break the gauge invariance, and thus must be removed from the Lagrangian density. Therefore it can be said that QED describes Dirac fields, such as electrons and positrons, interacting with Maxwell electromagnetic force fields, photons.

By requiring local gauge invariance of the Lagrangian density by introducing additional fields in order to make it covariant with respect to an extended group of local transformations, the gauge principle that is a fundamental process in particle physics is described. For the case of QED, a group of 1×1 unitary matrices multiplied by the Dirac field is introduced. The set of transformations form the Lie group U(1), a group that is commutative, and thus Abelian. Gauge principle or local gauge invariant transformations can be applied to any SU(N) group; Chen Ning Yang and Robert Mills first produced a theory of the SU(2) gauge group [15], which was later extended to an SU(3) gauge group to create QCD.

1.1.2 The electroweak theory

A theory for the unification of the electromagnetic and weak forces was first proposed by the American physicist Sheldon Glashow in 1961 [4] and was later independently revised by Steven Weinberg in 1967 [5] and Abdus Salam [6] with the introduction of massive vector bosons acquiring mass by the process of spontaneous symmetry breaking. The Glashow-Salam-Weinberg (GSW) electroweak model later saw the authors receive the Nobel prize in physics in 1979. The GSW electroweak theory requires a unification of the gauge groups $SU(2)_L \otimes U(1)_Y$, where the definition of the U(1) group from the previous section now refers to the unitary group of 1×1 matrices with respect to the weak hypercharge, Y, defined as:

$$Q = I_W + \frac{Y}{2} \tag{1.12}$$

where Q is the electric charge, and I_W is the weak isospin, also denoted I_3 . The weak force is the only force known to violate parity, and thus distinguish between right- and lefthandedness and confirmed in 1957 [16]. Left-handed doublets and right-handed singlets for fermions are defined as:

$$\begin{pmatrix} u_L \\ d_L \end{pmatrix}, u_R, d_R; \quad \begin{pmatrix} c_L \\ s_L \end{pmatrix}, c_R, s_R; \quad \begin{pmatrix} t_L \\ b_L \end{pmatrix}, t_R, b_R;$$
(1.13)

for each generation of quark, and:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \nu_{e,L} \\ e_L \end{pmatrix}, e_R; \quad \begin{pmatrix} \nu_{\mu,L} \\ \mu_L \end{pmatrix}, \mu_R; \quad \begin{pmatrix} \nu_{\tau,L} \\ \tau_L \end{pmatrix}, \tau_R; \tag{1.14}$$

for each generation of leptons.

Left-handed quark and lepton doublets have weak isospin values of $I_W = 1/2$ where the upper and lower particle in each have $I_W^3 = +1/2$ and -1/2, respectively. Right-handed particles are defined as singlets under the $SU(2)_L \otimes U(1)_L$ gauge group symmetry and thus have weak isospin of $I_W = 0$. Left- and right-handedness is defined by applying projection operators to the fields, such that:

$$\psi = \frac{1}{2}(1 - \gamma^5)\psi + \frac{1}{2}(1 + \gamma^5)\psi = \psi_L + \psi_R \tag{1.15}$$

where the γ^5 matrix is defined as the product of all the gamma matrices:

$$\gamma^5 = i\gamma^0\gamma^1\gamma^2\gamma^3 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1\\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.16)

such that $(\gamma^5)^2$ is equal to the 4×4 identity matrix.

Analogous to the previous case describing the U(1) electromagnetic gauge group, the full covariant derivative for the electroweak theory within a $SU(2)_L \otimes U(1)_L$ gauge symmetry is given by:

$$\partial_{\mu} \to D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - igI_W \mathbf{T}^i \mathbf{W}^i_{\mu} - i\frac{g'}{2}YB$$
 (1.17)

The g and g' terms represent the coupling constants for the $SU(2)_L$ and $U(1)_Y$ gauge groups, respectively; \mathbf{T}^i represents the three generators of the $SU(2)_L$ gauge group defined by the Pauli matrices:

$$\sigma_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.18)

 \mathbf{W}^{i}_{μ} are the gauge fields that are now introduced conserve invariance in the gauge symmetry group $SU(2)_{L}$; and B is the new gauge field for the conservation of invariance in the $U(1)_{Y}$ gauge symmetry group. For right-handed particle singlets, the generators \mathbf{T}^{i} are equal to 0, and thus the second term in the electroweak covariant derivative vanishes, there the electroweak Lagrangian density can be defined as such:

$$\mathcal{L}_{EWK} = \bar{\psi}_L \gamma^\mu \left(i\partial_\mu - gI_W \mathbf{T}^i \cdot \mathbf{W}_\mu - \frac{g'}{2} Y B_\mu \right) \psi_L + \bar{\psi}_R \gamma^\mu \left(i\partial_\mu - \frac{g'}{2} Y B_\mu \right) \psi_R - \frac{1}{4} \mathbf{W}_{\mu\nu} \mathbf{W}^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4} B_{\mu\nu} B^{\mu\nu}$$
(1.19)

Here the ψ_L and ψ_R are defined as the double and singlet fields. Although the gauge fields \mathbf{W}^i_{μ} and B_{μ} are introduced to conserve invariance, they have no direct physical

relation to gauge bosons. Instead the gauge fields are combined to form physical gauge bosons in the following linear combinations:

$$W^{\pm}_{\mu} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (W^{1}_{\mu} \pm i W^{2}_{\mu}), \qquad (1.20)$$

$$Z_{\mu} = -B_{\mu}\sin\theta_W + W^3_{\mu}\cos\theta_W, \qquad (1.21)$$

$$A_{\mu} = B_{\mu} \cos \theta_W + W_{\mu}^3 \sin \theta_W \tag{1.22}$$

The physical fields of the W^{\pm} and Z^{0} bosons, and the photon (A_{μ}) are formed by the mixing of the W^{i}_{μ} and $B\mu$ gauge fields with respect to the weak mixing angle, θ_{W} , where the electric charge is defined as:

1

$$e = g' \cos \theta_W = g \sin \theta_W \tag{1.23}$$

A theory of electroweak interactions that does not incorporate electromagnetism explicitly and where the introduction of a mass term would explicitly break invariance of the SU(2) and U(1) symmetries, due to the way in which right- and left-handed fermions coupling differently, can now be described. Therefore, all particles must be massless in this theory. This problem is solved via the process of spontaneous symmetry breaking in the Higgs mechanism, described in Section 1.1.4.

1.1.3 Quantum chromodynamics

Quantum Chromodynamics (QCD) is the theory of interactions between quarks and gluons confined within hadrons by what is known as the strong force — so called because of its strength compared to the weak force. The theory is based upon the gauge symmetry group $SU(3)_C$, where C represents colour, the QCD analogue of electrical charge. The $SU(3)_C$ gauge group is non-Abelian under the requirement of local gauge invariance. From experimental evidence it is observed that quarks carry a conserved charge, defined as "colour" with three degrees of freedom, such that a quark can be represented as a multiplet of fields in colour space:

$$r = \begin{pmatrix} r \\ b \\ g \end{pmatrix} \tag{1.24}$$

Upon imposing invariance under SU(3) gauge symmetry, the Lagrangian density for QCD is derived to be:

$$\mathcal{L}_{QCD} = \bar{q} \left(\gamma^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} - m \right) q + g_s \left(\bar{q} \gamma^{\mu} T_a q \right) G^a_{\mu} - \frac{1}{4} G^a_{\mu\nu} G^{\mu\nu}_a \tag{1.25}$$

where T_a represents the eight generators of the SU(3) gauge group defined by the Gell-Mann lambda matrices, each T_a is a 3×3 matrix in colour space which do not commute with each other and are completely anti-symmetric under the swapping of any pair of indices, and thus satisfy the lie algebra relation:

$$[T_a, T_b] = i f_{abc} T_c \tag{1.26}$$

The lambda matrices represent eight massless gluon gauge fields, where f^{abc} are the structure constants responsible for gluon self-interactions that arises in the field strength tensor shown in Equation 1.27. It should be noted that the colour matrices and Dirac matrices do not interact as they act on different vector spaces:

$$G^a_{\mu\nu} = \partial_\mu G^a_\nu - \partial_\nu G^a_\mu + g_s f^{abc} G^b_\mu G^c_\nu \tag{1.27}$$

As a product of self-interaction, two distinct properties of QCD in the form of colour confinement and asymptotic freedom are observed.

In a similar manner to photon exchange, the forces resulting from this type of interaction scale as $1/r^2$ at large distances, r, and thus the energy required to break up a quark-antiquark bound state is therefore finite. Quarks have never been observed in isolation, but only in bound states of quark-antiquark pairs, or three-quark baryonic couplings.

Upon including higher-order corrections to the calculation, it is observed that the strength interactions mediated by vector bosons is dependent on the magnitude of q



Figure 1.2: The experimentally measured values of the effective gauge coupling $\alpha_s(q)$ confirm the theoretically expected behaviour [Equation 1.28] at high energies (compilation of the Particle Data Group) [17].

(energy-momentum transfer between partons), and it can be shown that the strong coupling constant, α_S , can be defined as:

$$\alpha_s(q) = \frac{g_s(q)^2}{4\pi} = \frac{c}{\log(q/\Lambda)} + \dots \tag{1.28}$$

where q is the energy-momentum transfer between partons, Λ is the mass scale, and c is a constant. The logarithmic decay of the coupling is what is referred to as **asymptotic freedom** and is observed in high-energy scattering (Figure 1.2), such that the mass scale, Λ , has been determined to be 213^{38}_{-35} MeV [18]¹. It is found that the strong coupling α_S decreases for interactions with higher energy, and is the reason that coloured particles are always found in colour-neutral states, as the coupling between the colour-charged states will be too strong and thus the particles are not be able to escape each other.

This prediction of QCD was first discovered in the early 1970s by H. David Polizer [9], and by David J. Gross and Frank Wilczek [8] in a completely independent study during the same year. They were subsequently awarded the Nobel prize in physics in 2004.

Another prominent aspect of QCD, which arises due to the increasing of the strong force as distance increases between quarks, is the property of **confinement**. As quarks continue to be pulled apart from one another, the energy rises sufficiently enough such that

¹Here Λ refers to a particular definition of the α_s called the \overline{MS} scheme of dimensional regularisation.

they form a colourless bound state, such as a quark-antiquark pair (meson), or three-quark baryonic state (baryon) as mentioned above. This process is called hadronisation, and is the reason why isolated quarks have never been observed.

1.1.4 Electroweak symmetry breaking

The concept of spontaneous symmetry breaking of the electroweak symmetry first came to fruition in the 1960s and was postulated by the British physicist Peter Higgs [12], and independently by two groups: The first formed by the Belgian duo Francois Englert and Robert Brout [13], and the second by Gerald Guralnik, Carl Richard Hagen, and Tom Kibble [14].

Spontaneously breaking of the internal SU(2) gauge symmetry arises by introducing an external field with a non-zero vacuum expectation value (vev), $\phi_c(x)$. Therefore, an SU(2) doublet of complex scalar fields, ϕ , is required and defined as:

$$\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \phi^+ \\ \phi^0 \end{pmatrix} \tag{1.29}$$

The doublet of complex scalar fields has a weak isospin, $I_W = 1/2$, and hypercharge Y = 1 thus leading to +1 for the upper members of the doublet, and 0 for the lower. Thus, they can be written in terms of real scalar fields ϕ_i as:

$$\phi^+ = \frac{\phi_1 + i\phi_2}{\sqrt{2}}, \quad \phi^0 = \frac{\phi_3 + i\phi_4}{\sqrt{2}}$$
 (1.30)

The Lagrangian density for the Higgs is then created by adding the scalar contribution to the massless GSW models:

$$\mathcal{L}_{Higgs} = (D_{\mu}\phi)^{\dagger} (D^{\mu}\phi) - V(\phi) \tag{1.31}$$

where D_{μ} is the electroweak covariant derivative defined in Section 1.1.2 such that the conjugate ϕ^{\dagger} encompasses the antiparticles $(\phi^{-}\bar{\phi^{0}})$, and $V(\phi)$ is input as the most general $SU(2)_{L} \otimes U(1)_{Y}$ invariant and renormalisable scalar potential defined as:

$$V(\phi) = -\mu^2(\phi^{\dagger}\phi) + \lambda(\phi^{\dagger}\phi)^2.$$
(1.32)



Figure 1.3: The "Mexican Hat Potential" describing the vacuum expectation value of the Higgs in the real and imaginary planes, such that the minima lies below zero [19].

By defining $\lambda < 0$ and $\mu^2 < 0$ such that \mathcal{L}_{Higgs} includes a wrong-sign mass term $(-\mu^2 \phi^{\dagger} \phi)$. This means that the potential defined is now bounded below such that there will be an invariant manifold of minima that lies below $V(\phi) = 0$ as required. This produces what is known as the "mexican hat" potential, as can be visualised in Figure 1.3.

It can now be seen that \mathcal{L}_{Higgs} is invariant under a local $SU(2)_L \otimes U(1)_Y$ gauge transformation:

$$\phi \to \phi' = exp[-ig\frac{T^i}{2} \cdot \Delta - i\frac{g'}{2}\Lambda]\phi$$
 (1.33)

The minima of $V(\phi)$ is defined to be:

$$\frac{dV}{d(\phi^{\dagger}\phi)} = 0 \to \mu^2 - 2\lambda(\phi^{\dagger}\phi) = 0$$
(1.34)

such that the degenerate minima are:

$$\phi^{\dagger}\phi|_{min} = \frac{\mu^2}{2\lambda} = \frac{v^2}{2} \tag{1.35}$$
The $SU(2)_L \otimes U(1)Y$ symmetry is then broken by choosing a minimum corresponding to the lowest energy state, or vacuum. The choice of vacuum direction is in fact arbitrary, however in order for the photon to remain massless a non-zero value to a neutral field must be assigned, and thus the conventional notation:

$$\langle 0|\phi|0\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0\\v \end{pmatrix} \tag{1.36}$$

is used.

 ϕ is then expanded around the selected minimum, where it is set ϕ to v + H where H is the neutral scalar Higgs field:

$$\phi = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ v+H \end{pmatrix} \tag{1.37}$$

In this way, fields with vacuum expectation values set to zero are introduced, also called the "Goldstone" fields. This can see by applying a local gauge transformation to the field. Thus it can be seen that a gauge transformation of Equation 1.37 is a gauge transformation of ϕ with four independent scalar fields. From this transformation arises three massless gauge bosons, the W^{\pm} and Z^0 which gain mass and acquire three extra longitudinal polarisation degrees of freedrom by "absorbing" the three unphysical Goldstone bosons. The Lagrangian density can now be written as:

$$\mathcal{L}_{Higgs} = \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\mu} H) (\partial^{\mu} H) + \frac{1}{4} g^{2} (H^{2} + 2vH + v^{2}) W^{+}_{\mu} W^{-\mu} + \frac{1}{8} (g^{2} + g'^{2}) (H^{2} + 2vH + v^{2}) Z_{\mu} Z^{\mu} - \mu^{2} H^{2} - \frac{\lambda}{4} (H^{4} + 4vH^{3})$$
(1.38)

Where previously the relation $(g \cos \theta_W + g' \sin \theta_W)^2 = g^2 + g'^2$ was used, the masses of the W^{\pm} and the Z^0 can now be directly read off by extracting the mass terms $m_W^2 W^+_{\mu} W^{-\mu}$ and $\frac{1}{2} M_Z^2 Z_{\mu} Z^{\mu}$ from Equation 1.38, where the photon still remains massless as would be expected. The masses of the bosons can then be written as:

$$M_W = \frac{1}{2}gv \tag{1.39}$$

$$M_Z = (g^2 + g'^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}v = \frac{1}{2}\frac{gv}{\cos\theta_W}$$
(1.40)

For the Higgs scalar, the mass is defined to be:

$$M_H = \sqrt{2\mu} = v\sqrt{2} \tag{1.41}$$

and as a result of the above vector boson masses the following relation is observed:

$$\frac{M_W}{M_Z} = \cos\theta_W \tag{1.42}$$

This vector boson mass relation is often called the "weak $\Delta I = 1/2$ " rule, and arises by the initial choice of Higgs doublet in order to perform spontaneous symmetry breaking.

The Higgs mechanism is then used in a similar fashion to introduce the masses for all other fermions, which is done so by introducing a gauge-invariant term in $SU(2)_L \otimes U(1)_Y$ which is responsible for interactions between the Higgs and fermion fields — the Yukawa term. This is then written as a generalised SM Lagrangian with the additional Yukawa terms for the first generation of fermions as such:

$$\mathcal{L}_{Yukawa} = -Y_e^{ij} \bar{l}_L^i \phi e_R^i - Y_u^{ij} \bar{q}_L^i \epsilon \phi^{\dagger} u_R^j - Y_d^{ij} \bar{q}_L^i \phi d_R^j + h.c.$$
(1.43)

where the Yukawa couplings, $Y_{e,u,d}^{ij}$ (e, u, d = electron, up, down), are 3 × 3 complex matrices and ϵ is the 2 × 2 antisymmetric tensor. In the SM fermion masses are generated through the coupling of the Yukawa couplings to the Higgs doublet (Equation 1.36) such that the mass terms are derived by:

$$M_e = Y_e \frac{v}{\sqrt{2}} \tag{1.44}$$

where the mass term for the electron has been generated, in a gauge invariant system. By construction, a resultant feature of the Yukawa couplings is that the couplings of the Higgs boson are proportional to the masses (or squares of the masses) of particles with which it interacts. This feature is integral to the phenomenology of Higgs searches. The discovery of the Higgs boson in 2012 by both the ATLAS [2] and CMS [1] experiments with a mass of ~ 125 GeV, and with couplings calculated to be consistent with the SM [20, 21]. proved to be another triumph for the SM. So far, a picture where fermions of different generations have not been encountered has now been constructed. The most successful theory of quark interactions came in the form of the CKM matrix, described in 1.1.5.

1.1.5 The CKM matrix

Inspired by early work from Murray Gell-Mann and Maurice Lévy, Italian physicist Nicola Cabibbo first introduced the Cabibbo rotation angle, θ_c , in 1963 [22] in order to preserve the universality of the weak interaction. The Cabibbo angle was built on the idea that there is a relative probability for a down-type quark to decay into an up-type quark. At that time only two generations of quark were known to exist, the charm quark still only being theorised, and so the relative probabilities only described the mixing of the up, down, and strange quark (V_{ud} and V_{us}). It was also known that the probability of a strange-type quark decaying to a down-type quark is zero, which is to say that quarks of the same up or down-type cannot mix without the help of a loop.

The angle, θ_c , describes the rotation of the mass eigenstate vector space, formed by the mass eigenstates $|d\rangle$, $|s\rangle$, into the weak eigenstate vector space, formed by the weak eigenstates $|d'\rangle$ and $|s'\rangle$. From this it can be said that the probability of an object coupling to an up-type quark through a charged weak interaction is a superposition of down-type quarks. This can be written as:

$$|d'\rangle = V_{ud} |d\rangle + V_{us} |s\rangle \tag{1.45}$$

or in terms of the Cabibbo angle:

$$|d'\rangle = \cos\theta_c \,|d\rangle + \sin\theta_c \,|s\rangle \tag{1.46}$$

Upon observing that CP (charge-parity) violation could not be resolved within a fourquark model, Japanese physicists Makoto Kobayashi and Toshihide Maskawa sought to extend the Cabibbo rotation matrix to accommodate three generations of quark [23]. This is written in the same manner as the Cabibbo rotation matrix, but including the top and bottom quark mixing phases, as seen in Equation 1.47, where d', s', and b' are the weak eigenstates written in terms of the mass eigenstates d, s, b. Kobayashi and Maskawa's predictions later came true when the bottom quark was discovered. Ever since the discovery of the bottom quark in 1977 at Fermilab, Chicago [24], by a team led by Nobel prize-winning experimental physicist Leon Lederman, the top quark was theorised. The top quark was later discovered in 1995 by the CDF [25] and D0 [26] experiments, also at Fermilab, and thus a full third generation of quarks was in place. Kobayashi and Maskawa subsequently won the Nobel prize in physics in 2008 for "the discovery of the origin of the broken symmetry which predicts the existence of at least three families of quarks in nature":

$$\begin{pmatrix} d'\\s'\\b' \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} V_{ud} & V_{us} & V_{ub}\\V_{cd} & V_{cs} & V_{cb}\\V_{td} & V_{ts} & V_{tb} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} d\\s\\b \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.47)

The CKM matrix describes the mixing of quark flavours where each term in the matrix represents the probability of that a quark transitioning into another quark. The values for each quark transition are given in Equation 1.48 [27]. It can be seen that the CKM matrix is essentially diagonal:

$$V_{CKM} = \begin{pmatrix} 0.97427 \pm 0.00014 & 0.22536 \pm 0.00061 & 0.00355 \pm 0.00015 \\ 0.22522 \pm 0.00061 & 0.97343 \pm 0.00015 & 0.0414 \pm 0.0012 \\ 0.00886^{+0.00033}_{-0.00032} & 0.0405^{+0.0011}_{-0.0012} & 0.99914 \pm 0.00005 \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.48)

1.1.6 Where the SM fails

The SM of particle physics is has come under intense scrutiny for the past 50 years, and has always prevailed. Although the model is so finely crafted, it does not come without its failures. For example, it is known that neutrinos are in fact massive particles, and thus new parameters must be incorporated to include the masses of the neutrinos. Despite all measurements conducted using all currently available experimental data describing the SM to a high accuracy, there are still a number of questions that it does not answer:

- What are the values of the neutrino mass parameters?
- Why is the top quark so much heavier than the other fundamental particles?
- Why is gravity not incorporated within the SM?
- Can CP-violation explain the abundance of matter over anti-matter in the universe?
- Why is the electroweak scale so much smaller than the Grand Unified Theory (GUT) scale and both so much smallers than the Planck scale?
- What are Dark Matter and Dark Energy?

At present there aren't any definitive answers to any of these questions. However, there are a number of theoretical models motivated by Beyond the SM (BSM) physics trying to address these problems. Unfortunately, there is no observed evidence in agreement with any of these models. Some of the more prominent and accepted models to address problems in the SM are listed below:

- **Grand Unified Theory** A Grand Unified Theory (GUT) was one of the original ideas proposed to overcome problems in the SM. The premise is that the SM gauge group $SU(3)_C \otimes SU(2)_L \otimes U(1)_Y$ is actually just a subset of a larger gauge symmetry, the simplest of which is a SU(5) gauge symmetry. This simplest case implies that SU(5)has $5^2 - 1 = 24$ generators in the group, and thus 24 gauge bosons in the model, and thus 12 more gauge bosons than in the SM. In this new theory there are two stages of symmetry breaking, whereby the SU(5) symmetry is broken at the GUT scale and the new bosons acquire mass, and at the electroweak scale symmetry breaking proceeds as usual. However, three problems with this theory can be identified: couplings do not unify at the GUT scale; why is the GUT scale higher than the electroweak scale; and protons are described to decay via the exchange of the new scalar bosons in the GUT model, contrary to observation.
- Hierarchy Problem Most of the new physics models that are created are done so in order to overcome the so called *hierarchy problem*, i.e. why is it that the electroweak scale is much smaller than the Planck scale, where gravity is much stronger, and so much less than GUT scales? Usually when referring to the hierarchy problem, the technical form of hierarchy problem is referred to, relating to the mass of the Higgs boson. When considering the mass of the Higgs boson, quantum corrections are observed in the form of fermion loops, as shown in Figure 1.4.
- **Technicolour** One of the oldest solutions to the hierarchy problem, Technicolour says that as the main problems arise from the inclusion of a fundamental scalar particle, they can be solved by not incorporating one. This is done by introducing a new set of gauge interactions, *Technicolour*, which acts on the new "technifermions". This process can be described in a similar manner to QCD with the use of different gauge groups. Technifermions are created in bound states with the lightest being the technipions,

and using the Higgs mechanism, the longitudinal components of the W^{\pm} and Z^{0} bosons arise, generating the gauge boson masses. However, there must also be a mechanism whereby the technifermions acquire their masses. *Extended Technicolour* models have been hard to construct which have not already been ruled out. This idea lost favour until recent models containing a "little Higgs" have sparked a resurgence of the idea.

- Supersymmetry In Supersymmetry (SUSY) for every fermionic degree of freedom a corresponding bosonic degree of freedom and visa versa. That is to say that each fermionic particle in the SM has two corresponding bosonic supersymmetric particles, with spin-0 for bosonic partners, and each bosonic SM particle has one fermionic supersymmetric particle with a spin of 1/2. The supersymmetric partners to SM particles can be seen, for the first generation at least, in Table 1.1. SUSY requires two Higgs doublets to give mass to both up- and down-type quarks such that the transformation is still invariant under a local gauge transformation. By introducing a scalar loop into the Higgs propagator, as shown in Figure 1.5, a new contribution to the Higgs mass is introduced. This property is one of the main aspects of SUSY as introducing two scalars, with the same mass, for every fermion then cancels out the quadratic divergences. SUSY also incorporates dark matter by introducing a particle called the "lightest supersymmetric particle" which is a dark matter particle candidate.
- Extra Dimensions Another way to overcome the hierarchy principle comes in the form of extra dimensions. There are many models that describe the universe in more than 4 dimensions the most popular theories describe the universe in 10 or 11 dimensions. In these theories gravity is said to propagate through the current three dimensions into smaller extra dimensions, and thus leads to a reduction in the hierarchy between the electroweak and Planck scales.

There are a number of ways of searching for BSM effects, including the following:

Collider Experiments If the theory is correct, then BSM particles should be detectable at collider experiments, such as the LHC, and decay to SM particles. These types of



Figure 1.4: Quantum correction to the mass of the Higgs boson via a fermion loop.

SM Particle	Spin	SUSY Particle Spin	
Electron	1/2	Selectron	0
Neutrino	1/2	Sneutrino	0
Up	1/2	Sup	0
Down	1/2	Sdown	0
Gluon	1	Gluino	1/2
Photon	1	Photino	1/2
Z^0	1	Zino	1/2 Neutralinos
Higgs	0	Higgsino	1/2
W^{\pm}	1	Wino	1/2 Charginos
H^+	0	Higgsino	1/2

Table 1.1: SM particles and their supersymmetric counterparts and spin values.



Figure 1.5: The introduction of a new scalar boson loop in the Higgs boson propagator.

particles would be detected by all-purpose discovery machines like the ATLAS and CMS experiments.

- **Precision Experiments** By measuring SM processes to an extremely high precision, it is possible to compare the results to theoretical prediction and measure any deviations. Experiments such as LEP (e^+e^- collider) provide high precision measurements of the Z^0 pole, and the g-2 experiment which measures the anomalous magnetic moment of the muon.
- Rare Decay/Process Measurements Measurements can be conducted by calculating the cross section or decay rate of a rare decay/process which is predicted to be extremely small within the SM. Examples of such experiments include: the NA62 experiment, which measures rare decays of kaons, neutron electric dipole moment experiments, proton decay experiments, neutrino mixing experiments (T2K/SuperKamiokande), and CP violation experiments such as LHCb and Belle.

In practice it is seen that several detection techniques are in fact complimentary to one another, for example CP-violation is a process that must be studied by dedicated experiments, however if the results from these experiments differ from that of the SM then there should be new particles which should be observable in collider experiments.

1.2 The Top Quark

The top quark is the heaviest of all the fundamental particles and was first postulated, along with the bottom quark, in 1973 by Makoto Kobayashi and Toshihide Maskawa [23] to explain the observations of CP violation in the kaon sector. It was with the discovery of the τ lepton [28] in 1975, and then the discovery of the bottom quark in 1977 [24] and the quark-lepton generation symmetry which lead to the postulation of the top quark. Even with the discovery of the W and Z bosons in 1985 with the UA1 [29] and UA2 [30] experiments at the Super Proton Synchrotron (SPS), CERN, the top quark was still nowhere to be seen, and at this point in time there was still no experimental apparatus capable of reaching the required energies needed to discover the top. It was in 1995 when the CDF [25] and D0 [26] experiments at the Tevatron (Fermilab, Illinois) first observed the top quark, which subsequently prompted Kobayashi and Maskawa to win the Nobel prize for their predictions in 2008.

The mass of the top quark is of critical importance due to the fact that the Yukawa coupling (coupling to the Higgs) of the top is close to unity, and is thus at the scale of electroweak symmetry breaking. Although the top quark mass is a vital parameter in the SM, there is a conceptual problem when defining the mass of the top. The problem arises when considering free particles, such as leptons, where the mass is well defined, but when considering confined states then there is no straight forward way in which to measure the mass of that particle. The mass of the top is inferred and a scheme defined by which to measure this property, noting that the value is subject to change depending on the scheme used. The two main interpretations of the top mass are the pole mass and minimal subtraction (\overline{MS}) schemes. Upon considering the pole mass, the top mass is treated as a physical mass term in the quark propagator, similar to any other free particle. This works well in perturbation theory, however the non-perturbative infra-red effects in QCD, additional loops from self-interacting gluons, are not accounted for in this scheme. In order to define a realistic and finite value for the mass of the top, a renormalisation scheme is introduced — the \overline{MS} scheme. The scheme is often called the running mass, due to its dependence on the renormalisation scale, μ , which is essentially arbitrary. It is possible for the mass derived from the \overline{MS} scheme to be calculated from the pole mass [31], however the \overline{MS} top quark mass can be extracted straight from data, and is thus a more preferential method. A recent result shows that, when incorporating electroweak corrections for a Higgs mass of 125 GeV, the difference between the pole and MS schemes results in around a 1 GeV difference [32].

The mass of the W boson and the top are two of the most important parameters to global electroweak fits constraining the Higgs potential. The most up-to-date measurement of the top mass has been calculated by combining results from the LHC and the Tevatron to be $m_{top} = 173.34 \pm 0.27(stat.) \pm 0.71(syst.)$ GeV/c² [33]. As a direct result of the top quark's extremely large mass, it has a very short decay time which is shorter than the time required for quarks to hadronise and form composite particles with other quarks. The decay time of the top is approximately 5×10^{-25} s [34], whereas the hadronisation time for quarks is given as $\tau_{had.} \approx 1/\Lambda_{QCD} \approx 10^{-23}$ s [35]. Thus, $t\bar{t}$ bound states are never observed and the information relating to spin is inherited by the decay products of the top. Therefore the top quark provides unique opportunities to study precision tests of the SM.

1.2.1 Top quark production at hadron colliders

There are two processes whereby top quarks are produced at hadron colliders: single top quark production via the electroweak interaction in association with a quark or a vector boson, and top quark pair $(t\bar{t})$ production where a top quark is produced with its antiparticle through the strong interaction. The latter of the two is the most prevalent of the production sources, and thus provides the signature for this analysis. The leading order (LO) Feynman diagrams for the production of top quark pair and single top processes can be seen in Figures 1.6 and 1.7. Single top production is of particular significance as it allows direct measurement of the Wtb vertex, and thus it is possible to measure the magnitude of the CKM matrix element $|V_{tb}|$.

Due to the high centre-of-mass energy of the LHC, top quarks are produced in copious amounts such that it has obtained the title of "top factory". Unlike the Tevatron, which did not have a high enough centre-of-mass energy to probe the properties of the top, the LHC is able to measure its properties to a high accuracy. The main production mechanism at the Tevatron saw quark-antiquark annihilation in 90% [36] of collisions due to the collision of protons and anti-protons, where the secondary production process was gluon-gluon fusion in 10% of collisions. At the LHC the converse is true, such that gluon-gluon fusion is the most prominent process and top pairs are produced in this way 80% of the time at $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV. The rate for top production through gluon-gluon fusion increases with energy, and will rise to around 90% at $\sqrt{s} = 14$ TeV. The reason for this lies in the parton distribution functions (PDFs) and how the energy of a hadron is distributed with the increase of energy. As the energy increases the gluons carry a much larger fraction of the hadron's energy. At the Tevatron quark-antiquark annihilation can arise from valence quarks of the hadron, whereas at the LHC the quarks must originate from the "sea" quarks. The increase in $t\bar{t}$ events produced by gluon-gluon fusion events implies that the probability of the production of initial state radiation is reduced, and thus the sensitivity to the $t\gamma$ vertex is increased.

One of the main observables in particle physics experiments is the production cross section, σ , of a process. The cross section for $\sigma_{i\to f}$ is defined to be the probability for an initial statie, *i*, to transition into a final state, *f*. The cross section of a process is calculated



Figure 1.6: Lowest level diagrams for $t\bar{t}$ production at the LHC. Gluon scattering processes, (a), (b), and (c), are the dominant processes at LHC energies, while quark scattering, process (d), is the dominant one at TeVatron energies [37].

by convoluting the PDFs $f_1(x_i, \mu_F)$ and $f_2(x_j, \mu_F)$ of the initial particles (protons in this case) with the cross section of the hard interaction process, $\hat{\sigma}_{i,j} \to t\bar{t}$, for all parton species i, j. It is also possible to calculate the cross section of top quark pairs with an associated particle, as measured in this analysis, as follows:

$$\sigma_{pp \to t\bar{t}+X} = \sum_{i,j} \int_0^1 dx_1 \int_0^1 dx_2 f_1(x_i, \mu_F) f_2(x_j, \mu_F) \hat{\sigma}_{i,j \to t\bar{t}}(\hat{s})$$
(1.49)

The production cross section of top quark pair events has been measured by both the ATLAS and CMS experiments to be $242.4 \pm 1.7(stat.) \pm 5.5(syst.) \pm 7.5(lumi.) \pm 4.2$ (beam energy) pb [39] and $245.6 \pm 1.3(stat.) \pm ^{+6.6}_{-5.5}(syst.) \pm 6.5(lumi.)$ pb [40]. The LHC $t\bar{t}$ cross section can be seen in Figure 1.8. The value of the $t\bar{t}$ and single top production cross sections for different centre-of-mass energies, as measured by the LHC and the Tevatron, is shown in Table 1.2. It can be seen that as energy increases, the top quair pair production cross section increases. This is shown in Figure 1.9.



Figure 1.7: Leading-order level diagrams for single top production at the LHC. (a) schannel, (b) and (c) represent the t-channel, (d) and (e) both represent the two tW channels [37].

	\sqrt{s}	s-channel	t-channel	tW-channel	$t\bar{t}$
Tevatron	1.9	1.046	2.08	0.266	7.31
LHC	7	4.56	65.9	15.6	163
	8	5.55	87.2	22.2	235.8
	14	11.86	248	83.6	920

Table 1.2: The SM cross sections for both single top and $t\bar{t}$ processes at the Tevatron and the LHC. All cross sections are calculated at next-to-next-to-leading-order and measured in pb. [42]



Figure 1.8: Summary of measurements of the top-pair production cross section at 8 TeV compared to the exact NNLO QCD calculation complemented with NNLL re-summation (top++2.0). The theory band represents uncertainties due to renormalisation and factorisation scale, parton density functions and the strong coupling. The measurements and the theory calculation are quoted at $m_{top} = 172.5$ GeV [38].



Figure 1.9: Top quark pair production cross section measurements compared to the SM predictions as a function of the centre-of-mass energy. The new result of the CMS collaboration at 13 TeV is displayed in red and is in agreement with the theory prediction (green band) [41].

1.2.2 Top quark decay modes

It is observed that the top quark decays to a W boson and a bottom quark $(t \to Wb)$ almost 100% of the time, as other decay modes to lighter quarks $t \to Wq$ (q = d, s) are highly Cabibbo suppressed by the SM. This can be seen by examining the matrix elements of the CKM matrix for top decays, such that the value of $|V_{tb}|$ gives:

$$|V_{tb}| = 0.999146^{+0.000021}_{-0.000046} \tag{1.50}$$

from the unitarity requirement of the CKM matrix [43]. The value of $|V_{tb}|$ can be measured by calculating the production cross section of single top production, and the latest measurement is given to be [44]:

$$|V_{tb}| = 0.998 \pm 0.038(experimental) \pm 0.016(theoretical)$$
(1.51)

which lies in accordance with the unitarity condition imposed on the CKM matrix.

Providing that the top decays to a W boson and b quark 100% of the time, it is possible to categorise into three distinct decay modes: fully leptonic, semi-leptonic, and fully hadronic. The three decay modes have branching fractions of 10.5%, 43.8%, and 45.7%, respectively [43]. The different channels are visualised in Figure 1.10.

- Fully leptonic (Also called the dileptonic or dilepton decay mode) denotes the decay mode of a top quark pair whereby both W legs decay to a lepton and a neutrino, with the exception of τ leptons. There are therefore three channels to observe with oppositely charged leptons in the final state: the di-muon, di-electron, and mixed electron and muon channels. Therefore dilepton events are required to have two leptons, and two b-tagged jets in the final state. The three decay channels have branching fractions of 1/81 for same-flavour channels, and 2/81 for mixed flavour final state modes. This mode provides the cleanest signature of the three decay modes within a hadronic environment, and thus a powerful tool for the measurement of top quark properties. The difficulty lies in the fact that there are two neutrinos in the final state, and thus a fourfold ambiguity in the full kinematic reconstruction.
- Semi-leptonic The semi-leptonic channel requires one of the W bosons to decay to a lepton and neutrino pair, and the other to two quarks, which subsequently hadronise to form two jets. This results in an event topology where there is one lepton, one neutrino, and 4 jets in the final state. This mode provides a easily accessible signature in the final state for electrons and muons, and has the advantage of having a larger branching fraction, with respect to the dilepton channel, and thus more events. Each semi-leptonic mode has a branching fraction of 12/81.
- **Fully hadronic** In this case both of the W boson decay hadronically, and thus contains only jets in the final state. This channel is not considered as the contamination from the QCD multijet background and the jet energy uncertainty is too large to carry out precision measurements.

In the analysis presented in this thesis only the fully leptonic (or dileptonic or dilepton) channel is considered with the exclusion of τ leptons in the final state, as a τ lepton must be identified by its decay products and adds extra uncertainty into the measurement. This channel has the quality that it provides a very clean signature in the detector, at least for a final state containing muons, as CMS excels at triggering and measuring muons. CMS also boasts a very high resolution electromagnetic calorimeter and thus it is ideal for

measuring electrons and photons. This analysis focuses on the dilepton channel but with an associated photon radiated from any of the charged particles, as shown in Figure 1.11



Figure 1.10: Branching fractions of the W decays within top quark pairs [45].

1.2.3 $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ background processes

Many processes produced in collisions at the LHC mimic top quark pair decay, and as a result it is important that a good understanding of these background processes is gleaned in order to produce an accurate and reliable measurement. The most significant background processes are shown in Figure 1.12. In order for these signatures to mimic the signal process they must contain at least two oppositely-signed leptons and two jets by α_S showering (gluon radiation). The background processes for the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ analysis are categorised into top-pair and photon-related backgrounds, and the most significant of these are described in greater detail below:

W+Jets The production of a W boson with additional jet activity is shown in Figure 1.12 (a). In this process a W boson is produced which decays to a single lepton (electron or muon) and corresponding neutrino in the form of missing transverse energy (MET). The MET is energy that is missing from the sum of momenta of all events in a collision, and is largely due to neutrinos. If there are at least two jets in the final state for this decay, and one jet is wrongly identified as a muon, then it is



Figure 1.11: Feynman diagram depicting the signal $t\bar{t}+\gamma$ production process in the dilepton channel showing all available decay modes and particles which could possibly radiate a photon.

likely that it would mimic a dileptonic $t\bar{t}$ event. However, leptons and jets originating from the W+Jets process are usually much softer than those of $t\bar{t}$ decay, due to the top quark's large mass. Therefore it is even less probable that jets from W+Jets are b-tagged jets, which are required in the signal process, thus implementing cuts on the transverse momenta of jets and leptons will reduce the probability of a false signal identification.

 $\mathbf{DY}+\mathbf{Jets}$ The Drell-Yan plus jets process is similar to W+Jets, and is the production of a Z^0 boson or photon with additional jets, shown in Figure 1.12 (b). The bosons then produce two oppositely signed electrons or muons, and with the additional jet activity this results in the same final state as the signal process. Therefore, several techniques must be applied to veto on/reduce this background, such as placing a veto on events that fall into the window such that the invariant mass of the two final state leptons form the Z mass, and also placing a requirement on the MET of the event as the DY+Jets process does not include neutrinos. Similar to the W+jets background process, the yield can be drastically reduced by placing a requirement of at least two jets, where one is a b-tagged jet, in the final state.

Single Top Single top quark contributions are observed in three channels: s-channel, t-



Figure 1.12: Examples of Feynman diagrams of the considered $t\bar{t}$ backgrounds. QCD showering is necessary in all cases to obtain the required jet multiplicity [46].

channel, and associated with a W boson (see Figure 1.7 and 1.12 (c)). Although the cross section is small for these processes, they may contribute significantly to the selection of top pairs, due to their event topology. Their signature may still contain the same final state particles as the dilepton $t\bar{t}$ channel, thus mimicking the signal. Single top production generally contains a lower number of jets in the final state, compared to $t\bar{t}$, however additional jets can emerge from initial and final state radiation (ISR/FSR).

QCD Multi-jet Due to the topology of dilepton events, and the energy of jets originating from QCD being low, this background is deemed negligible and do not include it in this analysis. This background process is shown in Figure 1.12 (d).

Other $t\bar{t}$ decay modes Top pair decays other than the dilepton channel (such as the semi-leptonic, fully hadronic, and decay modes that involve tau leptons) are not treated separately. As these decay modes may radiate a photon, it is possible that they can contribute to the $t\bar{t}+\gamma$ signal yield. This contribution is however considered to be small.

Other background processes, such as diboson production, are considered negligible and are not included in the analysis due to their very small cross sections and selection efficiencies.

1.2.4 Backgrounds of photon signature

Photon related background processes are subdivided into three classes. The first two of these comprise the irreducible backgrounds (backgrounds which contain real photons) radiated from initial state parton radiation (ISR), shown in Figure 1.13, and photons radiated from final state parton radiation (FSR) in the hard scattering interactions, shown in Figure 1.14. The third category contains, what is defined as, "fake photons" originating from electrons passing the same cuts as photons, and jets reconstructed as photons. It is assumed that photon showering in background samples describes the photon background sufficiently for these events.



Figure 1.13: Background of photon identification: Initial state radiation (ISR). Left: Quark fusion. Right: Gluon fusion does not give rise to ISR as photons couple to charge (based on [47]).



Figure 1.14: Background of photon identification: Final state radiation (FSR). All charged particles in the top-pair decay tree contribute to FSR. (a) FSR from a W boson, (b) FSR from a b quark, (c) FSR from a quark or lepton, (d) FSR from an anti-quark or anti-lepton [47].

1.2.5 Top quark anomalous couplings

The measurement of the couplings between the known fermions and bosons is a standard tool in the search for physics beyond the SM. At the LHC top quarks are produced in copious amounts, allowing to probe top couplings to a great precision. The large mass of the top quark is directly related to the effects of new physics on its couplings such that deviations from SM predictions may be detectable, therefore the LHC provides the perfect environment in which to study such effects.

The top quark provides a direct test of the quark-photon vertex which is unique among the quarks, thus there is great interest as to the determination of the coupling of the top quark and photon, and probing the $t\bar{t}\gamma$ channel at the LHC with an energy of 8 TeV provides the opportunity to directly explore the top quarks role in the mechanism of electroweak symmetry breaking. Any deviation from that of SM prediction would imply an anomalous structure of the quark-photon vertex, and would thus reveal any physics beyond that of the SM, such as exotic quarks, SUSY, and Technicolour, as described in Section 1.1.6.

In order to successfully create a model of interactions between fermions and bosons, a good enough parametrisation of the interactions is required in the form of a Lagrangian. A general parametrisation for the on-shell interaction of two fermions (f_i, f_j) and a boson $(V = W, Z, \gamma, g)$ can be written as:

$$\mathcal{L}_{Vf_if_j}^{OS} = \bar{f}_j \gamma^{\mu} (\mathcal{A}_L P_L + \mathcal{A}_R P_R) f_i V_{\mu} + \bar{f}_j i \sigma^{\mu\nu} q_{\nu} (\mathcal{B}_L P_L + \mathcal{B}_R P_R) f_i V_{\mu} + \text{h.c.}$$
(1.52)

where $q = p_i - p_j$ is the momentum of the outgoing boson and $\mathcal{A}_{L,R}$, $\mathcal{B}_{L,R}$ are form factors, which in general may depend on q^2 , however, for the flavour-conserving photon and gluon vertices $\mathcal{A}_L = \mathcal{A}_R$ and for flavour-changing $\mathcal{A}_{L,R} = 0$ due to gauge symmetry.

A set of dimension-six gauge-invariant operators, O_x , known as effective operators, can be found to parametrise quark couplings up to a scale Λ [48]. They appear linearly in an interaction Lagrangian, which is written in the form of a Taylor expansion, with complex effective coefficients C_x :

$$\mathcal{L}^{eff.} = \sum \frac{C_x}{\Lambda_x} O_x + \dots \tag{1.53}$$



Figure 1.15: Top-photon vertex. Left: Leading Order (LO). Right: One-Loop Next to Leading Order (NLO) correction.

Among the operators defined in the effective Lagrangian [49] fourteen contribute to the electroweak anomalous couplings. These are as so:

$$O_{\phi q}^{(3,i,j)} = i(\phi^{\dagger} \tau^{I} D_{\mu} \phi)(\bar{q}_{Li} \gamma^{\mu} \tau^{I} q_{Lj}), \qquad O_{Du}^{ij} = (\bar{q}_{Li} D_{\mu} u_{Rj}) D^{\mu} \tilde{\phi}, \qquad (1.54)$$

$$O_{\phi q}^{(1,i,j)} = i(\phi^{\dagger} D_{\mu} \phi)(\bar{q}_{Li} \gamma^{\mu} q_{Lj}), \qquad O_{\bar{D}u}^{ij} = (D_{\mu} \bar{q}_{Li} u_{Rj}) D^{\mu} \tilde{\phi}, \qquad (1.55)$$

$$(\phi^{\dagger} D_{\mu} \phi)(\bar{u}_{Ri} \gamma^{\mu} d_{Rj}), \qquad O_{Dd}^{ij} = (\bar{q}_{Li} D_{\mu} d_{Rj}) D^{\mu} \phi, \qquad (1.56)$$

$$O^{ij}_{\phi u} = i(\phi^{\dagger} D_{\mu} \phi)(\bar{u}_{Ri} \gamma^{\mu} d_{Rj}), \qquad O^{ij}_{\bar{D}d} = (D_{\mu} \bar{q}_{Li} d_{Rj}) D^{\mu} \phi, \qquad (1.57)$$

$$O_{uW}^{ij} = (\bar{q}_{Li}\sigma^{\mu\nu}\tau^{I}u_{Rj})\tilde{\phi}W_{\mu\nu}^{I}, \qquad O_{qW}^{ij} = \bar{q}_{Li}\gamma^{\mu}\tau^{I}D^{\nu}q_{L}jW_{\mu\nu}^{I}$$
(1.58)

$$O_{dW}^{ij} = (\bar{q}_{Li}\sigma^{\mu\nu}\tau^{I}d_{Rj})\phi W_{\mu\nu}^{I}, \qquad O_{qB}^{ij} = \bar{q}_{Li}\gamma^{\mu}D^{\nu}q_{Lj}B_{\mu\nu}$$
(1.59)

$$O_{uB\phi}^{ij} = (\bar{q}_{Li}\sigma^{\mu\nu}u_{Rj})\bar{\phi}B_{\mu\nu}, \qquad O_{uB}^{ij} = \bar{u}_{Ri}\gamma^{\mu}D^{\nu}u_{Rj}B_{\mu\nu} \qquad (1.60)$$

for different flavours represented by the indices i, j = 1, 2, 3. \bar{q}_{Li}, u_{Ri} , and d_{Ri} represent the quark fields as shown in Section 1.1.2. The operators where i = j = 3 contribute to the electroweak coupling processes Wtb, $Zt\bar{t}$, and $\gamma t\bar{t}$.

1.2.6 The top-photon vertex

 $O_{\phi\phi}^{ij}=i$

The general expression for the interaction Lagrangian for the top-photon $(\gamma t\bar{t})$ vertex (shown in Figure 1.15) can be parametrised in terms of the dimension-six operators and written, not including the redundant operators, in the form [48]:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\gamma t\bar{t}} = -eQ_t \bar{t}\gamma^\mu t A_\mu - e\bar{t} \frac{i\sigma^{\mu\nu}q_\nu}{m_t} (d_V^\gamma + id_A^\gamma \gamma^5) t A_\mu \tag{1.61}$$

The first term in Equation 1.61 is a purely SM contribution, and is linear with respect to electrical charge of the top, Q_t , such that the bare $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ cross section is proportional to the square of the top-quark charge. The second term is described by the vector and axial form factors, d_V^{γ} and d_A^{γ} , which arise from the contributions of first-order loop corrections, representing the magnetic and electric dipole moment of the top quark (where the latter is CP-violating), respectively. The couplings, d_V^{γ} and d_A^{γ} , are real and comprise the operators $O_{uB\phi}^{33}$ and O_{uW}^{33} from the eight effective operators described previously mentioned. They parametrise deviations from SM expectations of the form factors, d_V^{γ} and d_A^{γ} , as such:

$$\delta d_V^{\gamma} = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{e} \operatorname{Re}[c_W C_{uB\phi}^{33} + s_W C_{uW}^{33}] \frac{vm_t}{\Lambda^2}$$
(1.62)

$$\delta d_A^{\gamma} = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{e} \operatorname{Im} [c_W C_{uB\phi}^{33} + s_W C_{uW}^{33}] \frac{v m_t}{\Lambda^2}$$
(1.63)

where δd_V^{γ} and δd_A^{γ} only receive non-zero contributions from phenomena beyond the SM. In order to obtain measurements of these constants by analysing the magnetic and electric dipole moments of the top quark. Noting that the γ^{μ} term does not receive corrections from the dimension-six operators. If the redundant effective operators (O_{Wq} , O_{Bq} , O_{Bu}) had been included then the first two would incorporate additional corrections of $\sim q^2 \bar{t}_L \gamma^{\mu} t_R A_{\mu}$ and the last $q^2 \bar{t}_R \gamma^{\mu} t_R A_{\mu}$, non-vanishing only when the photon is off-shell.

The magnetic dipole moment of the top quark is studied by measurements of spin correlation, whereas the electric dipole moment can be investigated through the $t\gamma$ vertex. Deviations from SM contributions are expected to manifest in the photon energy spectrum and angular photon distributions.

Measuring $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ provides a direct test of the electromagnetic coupling of the top quark in a way that is complementary to analyses that include an "exotic" top quark with a charge of -4/3e [50]. A sketch of the potential photon E_T in relation to having extra couplings, or having a charge of -4/3e can be seen in Figure 1.16. One issue when investigating the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ process is the large irreducible background of photons that are radiated by charged particles other than the top quark. It has also been proved that the interference of photon production from ISR and FSR can not be deemed negligible [51]. This is also discussed with respect to Monte Carlo signal generation in Section 3.5. Thus only inclusive observables of $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ can be probed, as it is not possible to trace the photon back to its parent particle. On-



Figure 1.16: Sketch of expected photon energy spectra. The reference line (grey) is SM $(q_{top} = +2/3)$. A deviation of the top electrical charge yields a differently normalised photon rate $(q_{top} = 4/3, \text{ shown in red})$. Extra couplings, e.g. a large electrical dipole moment manifests in different kinematic shapes (dashed line) [52].

and off-shell radiation is treated collectively. Prompt photon backgrounds are discussed in Section 4.

1.2.7 Previous measurements

Presently, the determination of the operators $C_{uB\phi}^{33}$ and C_{uW}^{33} is not possible due to the statistical significance of recorded events at the LHC being low. This will become more accessible at higher centre-of-mass energy and luminosity. Until then, benchmark studies have been undertaken [47].

The CDF experiment at the Tevatron, along with the CMS and ATLAS experiments at the LHC, have measured the inclusive $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ production cross section at $\sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}^{CDF} = 0.18 \pm 0.08$ pb [53], $\sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}^{CMS} = 2.4 \pm 0.2 (\text{stat}) \pm 0.6 (\text{syst.})$ [54], and $\sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}^{ATLAS} = 2.0 \pm 0.5 (\text{stat}) \pm 0.7 (\text{syst.}) \pm 0.08 (\text{lumi})$ pb at 7 TeV [55], respectively. The SM expectations for these values are given as $\sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}^{Tevatron} = 0.17 \pm 0.003$ pb and $\sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}^{LHC} = 2.1 \pm 0.4$ pb, respectively, and thus the measurements observed are in accordance to those theorised.

In relation to the electrical charge of the top quark, the CMS and ATLAS experiments have also performed analyses, hypothesis tests, where the final state charges of the top quark are combined, and both yield similar results. The experiments concluded that an electrical charge of $Q_t = -4/3e$ could be excluded with a high significance [56, 57].

Other top quark couplings have been measured at the Tevatron and the LHC. The structure of the Wtb vertex has been investigated in helicity measurements of top quark correlated W bosons at the Tevatron and LHC, putting limits on anomalous couplings [58, 59, 60]. The strength of tW couplings can be tested through single top quark production and has been found to be consistent with SM expectations [61, 62]. Also, the inclusive $t\bar{t}W$ and $t\bar{t}Z$ production cross sections have been measured by CMS to be $\sigma_{t\bar{t}W} = 170^{+90}_{-80}(\text{stat.}) \pm 70(\text{syst.})$ fb and $\sigma_{t\bar{t}Z} = 200^{+80}_{-70}(\text{stat.})^{+40}_{-30}(\text{syst.})$ fb, respectively, with the combined $t\bar{t}V$ cross section as $\sigma_{t\bar{t}V} = 380^{+100}_{-90}(\text{stat.})^{+80}_{-70}(\text{syst.})$ fb, and exclusion limits on anomalous couplings are set [63]. Another focus in the area is flavour changing neutral currents (FCNC) in top decays – the process by which the flavour of a fermion is changed by a hypothetical neutral particle. $t \to qZ$ and $t \to q\gamma$ are also currently being studied. Limits are set for these processes [64, 65], which confirm SM FCNC suppression.

It is important to note that a measurement of $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ is extremely challenging at the LHC with the current centre-of-mass energy and luminosity. This is due to the limited four-momentum resolution of partons, pile-up, and large background from QCD multi-jet events. It has been estimated that a 10% resolution of the top quark's charge will be available at $\sqrt{s} = 14$ TeV with 10 fb⁻¹ (the number of proton-proton collision events per femtobarn) [51]. As the energy is increased at the LHC the gluon fusion process becomes more dominant and thus fewer photons can be emitted in the form of ISR. A high energy e^+e^- collider would be preferable for this study as it would be a much cleaner working environment, such that it would be possible to obtain a 5–10% precision on the axial form factor d_A^{γ} with 10 fb⁻¹ at $\sqrt{s} = 500$ GeV [66].

Chapter 2

The LHC and the CMS Detector

It is important to stress that the analysis presented in this thesis would not have been possible if it were not for the incredible effort and brilliance involved in the construction of, what can only be described as a feat of engineering – the Large Hadron Collider and preaccelerating complex. For this reason, a short description of each engineering component designed to record and deliver data for analysis is described in this chapter.

2.1 The Large Hadron Collider

The Large Hadron Collider (LHC) is currently the largest, and highest energy, particle accelerator ever created. Located, on average, one hundred metres under the Franco-Swiss border at Geneva, the LHC is installed in the 26.7 km tunnel that once contained the Large Electron-Positron Collider (LEP) which ran from 1989 until the end of 2000. The project was approved by the CERN council in December of 1994. Originally, the accelerator was designed as a two-stage project: constructed to run at a centre-of-mass energy of $\sqrt{s} = 7$ TeV, and later an upgrade to $\sqrt{s} = 14$ TeV. This was due to budget constraints that did not include contributions from non member states.

After many setbacks, the first run began in 2010 and continued until the end of 2011 when the beam energy was then increased to $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV for the whole of 2012 before shifting to Long Shutdown 1 (LS1) from 2013 to 2015. During LS1 the CERN accelerator complex, shown in Figure 2.1, was completely upgraded in order to run at a new unprecedented centre-of-mass energy of $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV before ramping up to the original design



Figure 2.1: A full schematic of the full CERN accelerator complex [67].

energy of $\sqrt{s} = 14$ TeV.

2.1.1 Pre-LHC accelerator complex

The proton acceleration process begins by injecting Hydrogen (H_2) gas into a Duoplasmatron surrounded by an electric field, whereby the electrons become ionised through interactions with the free electrons from the cathode forming a plasma. This strips the electrons from the Hydroden leaving just the protons. The remaining protons are then linearly accelerated by the LINAC 2 accelerator, which uses radio frequency (RF) cavities to accelerate bunches of protons. By the end of this step the protons have reached an energy of up to 50 MeV and gained 5% in mass. The next stage in the sequence sees the protons enter the Proton Synchroton Booster (PSB) which is composed of superimposed sychrotron rings which accelerate the received protons up to 1.4 GeV in 1.2 seconds before injection into the Proton Synchrotron (PS). The advantage of the PSB is that it allows the PS to accept over 100 times more protons by squeezing the proton bunches such that they have a much smaller cross section.

The PS is an essential component in the accelerator complex at CERN, where it ac-

celerates either protons received from the PSB, or heavy ions from the Low Energy Ion Ring (LEIR). The apparatus first ran on the 24th of November 1959, and was, at that time, the world's highest energy particle accelerator. Having a circumference of 628 m, the PS comprises 277 conventional (room temperature) electromagnets, as well as 100 dipole magnets that serve to bend the beam around the ring. The PS accelerates protons, as well as other particles, up to 25 GeV in 3.2 s. The final stage of acceleration, before injection into the LHC, lies in the Super Proton Sychrotron (SPS). The SPS is the second largest of the CERN accelerators with a circumference of 7 km, and provides beams for various experiments other than LHC: such as the NA61/SHINE and NA62 experiments, the COMPASS experiment, and the CNGS neutrino experiment. Protons are accelerated to 450 GeV in 20 s within the SPS before injection into the LHC. Before the creation of LEP or the LHC, the SPS was the primary collider at CERN, and in 1984 the Nobel prize for the discovery of the W and Z bosons in proton-antiproton collisions was awarded to Carlo Rubbia and Simon Van Der Meer. The SPS comprises 1317 conventional electromagnets and 744 dipoles.

2.1.2 Design of the LHC

Two beams of protons are injected into the LHC and accelerated using RF cavities, one clockwise and the other counter-clockwise, taking roughly 20 minutes for each beam to reach the design energy of 7 TeV per beam. The two beams come into collision at four points around the ~ 27 km ring where the collisions are recorded by the four detectors placed on the beam line. There are two all-purpose discovery detectors, namely CMS and ATLAS, studies of mesons by LHCb, and the ALICE experiment which has a primary focus on heavy ion studies. Because the tunnel in which the LHC is placed was designed for LEP it has an internal diameter of only 3.7 m, which is not large enough to install two separate beam pipes, and thus a design for a twin-bore magnet [68] was created which would save space and cut costs substantially. Each beam is designed to hold 2808 bunches of protons with a bunch spacing of 50 ns. The protons are guided around the ring in a vacuum by superconducting electromagnets which are cooled to 1.9 K (-271.3°) by using liquid helium. There are 1232 dipole magnets that are each 15 m in length, and 392 quadrupole magnets that are 5-7 m in length that focus the beams. Before collisions can begin, a final shaping

LHC Parameters					
Parameter	2012 Run	Design Value			
Beam Energy (TeV)	4	7			
Maximum number of bunches	1380	2808			
Number of particles per bunch	1.7×10^{11}	1.15×10^{11}			
Bunch spacing (ns)	50	25			
Revolution frequency (kHz)	11.245	11.245			
Transverse beam size (μm)	18.8	16.6			
Peak luminosity $(cm^{-2}s^{-1})$	7.7×10^{33}	10^{34}			
Stored beam energy (MJ)	140	362			
Normalised emittance at start of fill (mm mrad)	2.5	3.75			
β^* in IP 1 and 5 (m)	0.6	0.55			

Table 2.1: LHC design parameters [69].

and cleaning of the beam takes place. Parameters for the LHC can be seen in Table 2.1.

2.1.3 Physics goals

There are many physics goals aimed to be achieved during the running of the LHC, but there are certain aims that are of a higher priority than others. One of the main focuses was the discovery of the Higgs boson and electroweak symmetry breaking, which was announced on the 4th of July 2012 [70, 71]. This discovery was a triumph for the physics community in that it shed light on a fundamental building block of the universe which was theorised to exist some sixty years before its discovery. The theoretical physicists Peter Higgs and François Englert subsequently won the Nobel prize in 2013 for their work predicting the existence of a massive gauge boson as the mediator of the Higgs field in 1964. The Higgs has since been measured in various decay channels by both the ATLAS and CMS experiments with on-going studies aiming to measure properties of the boson, such as the spin. Other physics goals include the search for supersymmetry, CP violation measurements, and studies of quark-gluon plasma using the ALICE experiment.

2.1.4 Luminosity at the LHC

Due to the nature of individual detectors, not all require the same levels of delivered luminosity. For example, with CMS being an all-purpose discovery machine, the detector needs as much luminosity as possible, however an experiment like LHCb that measures mesons that are produced frequently and only in a certain portion of the solid angle that the others use, less luminosity is required. The peak design luminosities for Run I and Run II are listed in Table 2.1. The instantaneous luminosity of a collider is calculated as:

$$\mathcal{L} = f \frac{N_1 N_2}{4\pi \sigma_x \sigma_y} \tag{2.1}$$

where f is the collision frequency given by $f = u \times N_b$, the repetition frequency, u, multiplied by the number of bunches in the beam, N_b , $N_{1,2}$ are the number of protons per bunch per beam, and $\sigma_{x,y}$ are the horizontal and vertical beam sizes at the interaction point (IP), respectively, and are defined as the product of the beam's beta function and the proton beam emittance, given by:

$$\sigma_{x,y} = \epsilon_{x,y} \beta_{x,y} \tag{2.2}$$

The emittance of a beam describes the volume of the 6-dimensional phase space occupied by the proton bunch.

2.1.5 Performance throughout Run I

Throughout Run I (2010 - 2013) the LHC operated with protons at beam energies of 3.5 and 4 TeV, where the beams consisted of single bunches and trains with different bunch spacing of 150 ns (2010), 75 ns (2011), and 50 ns (2011 and 2012). The performance of the LHC was much greater than initially expected at 50 ns, and culminated in the discovery of a 125 GeV/c² Higgs boson in both the ATLAS [71] and CMS [70] experiments. The use of 25 ns bunch spacing was only implemented in regards to electron-cloud scrubbing runs at the injection stage, and also for tests of future collisions with an upgraded LHC energy. One of the main focuses was to reduce the β^* - the measure of how precisely the beam is focused at the interaction point. For ATLAS and CMS β^* was lowered in steps from 3.5 mm in 2010 to 0.6 mm in 2012 by using tighter collimator settings. Other runs with mixed particle beams were also performed: such as proton-Pb, Pb-Pb, intermediate proton energy (1.38 TeV), and high beta.

For the 2012 run the default filling scheme introduced 1374 proton bunches per beam with 50 ns bunch spacing, giving ATLAS and CMS 1368 colliding bunches, 1262 in LHCb, and no colliding bunches in ALICE. The bunch intensity per beam peaked at 1.7×10^{11} protons per bunch, which was then translated into a bunch intensity of 1.6×10^{11} protons per bunch upon stabilisation of the beams. The transverse emittance remained constant throughout the year, despite moving to a different optical configuration with a lower transition energy. At the end of the runs the LHC had delivered an integrated luminosity of 23.3 fb^{-1} to ATLAS and CMS, and over 2.1 fb^{-1} to LHCb. The integrated and peak luminosity can be seen in Figure 2.2, along with the integrated luminosity recorded by CMS between 2011 ans 2013. A comparison to the total integrated luminosity delivered by the LHC, can be seen in Figure 2.3.



Figure 2.2: Left: Peak luminosity, Right: integrated luminosity recorded by the LHC between 2010 and 2012 for proton operation. The 2010 luminosity values have been multiplied by a factor 20 [72].



Figure 2.3: Left: The accumulation of the integrated luminosity produced at the LHC vs. time for runs in 2010, 2011, and 2012. The 2010 integrated luminosity is multiplied by 100 in order for it to be visible on the plot. Right: Total integrated luminosity vs. time for the 2012 run in CMS and the LHC [72].

2.2 The CMS Detector

The Compact Muon Solenoid (CMS) [74] is one of the two all-purpose discovery machines located approximately 100 m underground at point 5 (Cessy, France) on the LHC ring. Designed to cover the full solid angle, the hermetic detector is composed of multiple subdetectors, described in detail in the following sections, designed to to perform precision particle detection and withstand extremely high doses of radiation. Unlike other detectors that lie on the LHC, besides the ATLAS experiment, CMS is designed with the purpose of precision measurements of SM processes and the discovery of physics beyond that of the SM. The primary physics motivation for the construction of such a detector was to elucidate the nature of electroweak symmetry breaking of which the Higgs field was theorised to be responsible, which was proved correct in 2012 with the discovery of the quanta that propagates the Higgs field - the Higgs boson. Many theories predict the observation of new physics at the TeV scale, and so CMS was designed with the intention to be able to withstand high energy and fluence of particles. Discovering physics beyond the SM would pave the way for a potential unified theory. The detector weighs around 14,000 tonnes and has an overall length of 28.7 m and diameter of 15 m. A sectional view of the CMS detector labeling each sub-detector within is shown in Figure 2.4. CMS uses a right-handed coordinate system whereby the x-axis points towards the centre of the LHC



Figure 2.4: A cross sectional view of the CMS detector [73].

ring, the y-axis lies perpendicular to the beam, and the z-axis follows the direction of the beam anti-clockwise. The azimuthal angle, ϕ , is measured from the x-axis in the xy plane where the radial component in this plane is define by r, and the polar angle θ in the rz plane. The pseudorapidity is described as the distance of the particle from the beam line, and is thus defined as:

$$\eta = -\ln\left(\tan\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right)\right) \tag{2.3}$$

and the momentum transverse to the beam is defined as p_T , and calculated using the x- and y-components. The transverse energy is defined as $E_T = E \sin \theta$.

2.3 Inner Tracking System

The first sub-detector system located closest to the beam is the Inner Tracking System. The Inner Tracking System is composed of several modules that work in conjunction to provide precise and efficient measurements of the trajectories of charged particles resulting from the beam collisions, as well as a precision reconstruction of secondary vertices, where the products from the LHC beam interaction in the detector will decay. The tracker is almost completely hermetic around the interaction point (IP) of the beam-line, is 5.8 m in length, and has diameter of 2.5 m. In order to reconstruct particle tracks, measurements of the track's momentum must be made. To do this the tracker works in combination with the CMS Superconducting Solenoid (Section 2.6) with a magnetic field at 4 T.

Due to the high flux of the LHC at design luminosity the inner tracker will receive around 1000 particles per bunch crossing with around 20 primary vertices per collision, therefore the tracker was designed to operate with a high granularity and fast response time such that trajectories can be precisely identified and associated with the correct bunch crossing. Several challenges arise upon implementation of such technology: the requirement of high power density to the on-detector electronics means that sufficient cooling must be used throughout, which then conflicts with the ideology of keeping material to a minimum to prevent effects such as multiple scattering, bremsstrahlung, photon conversion, and nuclear scattering. Another challenge presents itself in the form of radiation damage to the tracking system due to the large flux of high energy particles over time. The requirements for a high granularity detector using minimum material that can run over a period of roughly 10 years whilst remaining radiation hard lead to a final design entirely based on silicon detector technology.

Shown in Figure 2.5, the Inner Tracking System is composed of a pixel detector with radii of between 4.4 cm and 10.2 cm, and a silicon strip tracker which is composed of 10 barrel detection layers reaching a radius of 1.1 m. In order to make tracking system hermetic the barrel detectors are surrounded by endcaps composed of 2 disks in the pixel detector and 3 plus 9 disks of silicon strip tracker, thus extending the acceptance, A, of the tracker up to a pseudorapidity of $|\eta| < 2.5$. Each individual pixel station covers a region of $100 \times 150 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ in the $r - \phi$ and z coordinate system, respectively. In total the pixel detector contains 66 million pixels, corresponding to an active area of 1 m².



Figure 2.5: The sub-detectors of the CMS silicon tracker system: TOB=outer barrel, TIB=inner barrel, TID=inner disc, TEC=endcaps, PIXEL=pixel detector. Each line represents a detector module. Double lines indicate back-to-back modules which deliver stereo hits [74].

The sensor elements in the silicon strip tracker system are single sided p-on-n type silicon micro-strip sensors [75, 76]. The Tracker Inner Barrel (TIB) and Tracker Inner Disks (TID), where the particle flux is smaller, extends to a radius of between 20 cm < r < 55 cm, and has a typical cell size of 10 cm \times 80 μ m², strip thickness of 320 μ m, and an occupancy of $\sim 2 - 3\%$ per strip per bunch crossing. The outer layer of the silicon strip tracker ranges from 55 cm < r < 110 cm and \sim 500 μ m thick, but with a cell size of 25 cm × 180 μ m due to lower levels of radiation in the outer region. The TIB and TID are surrounded by the Tracker Outer Barrel (TOB) which has an outer radius of 116 cm and comprises 6 barrel layers of 500 μ m thickness micro-strip sensors and strip patches of 183 μ m on the first 4 layers and 122 μ m on the 5th and 6th layers. Beyond the range of the TOB lies the Tracker EndCaps (TEC+ and TEC-, where the sign represents the location of the endcap along the z-axis) to provide complete coverage. The TECs cover the region 124 cm < |z| < 282 cm and 22.5 cm < |r| < 113.5 cm and are composed of 9 disks each consisting of 7 rings of silicon micro-strip detectors, 320 μ m thick on the inner 4 rings, 500 μ m thick on rings 5-7 with radial strips of 97 μ m to 184 μ m average pitch. Therefore, they provide up to 9 ϕ measurements per trajectory.

2.3.1 Tracker performance in Run I

Over the Run I period, from 2010 to 2013, the LHC delivered a luminosity of around 6 fb^{-1} at 7 TeV and 23.3 fb^{-1} at 8 TeV (Figure 2.2), out of this approximately 93% was recorded by CMS. The CMS tracker was responsible for roughly one third of the lost data due to the high voltage only being ramped up once stable beams are reached. By the end of Run I approximately 2.3% of the tracker barrel and 7.2% of the endcap modules were inactive associated with faulty wire-bonds or poor connections. During this period around 2.5% of the strip detector became inactive because of short-circuits in the control rings and HV lines, or due to faulty optical communications. Maintenance and repairs began upon shut-down of the LHC, and CMS was able to salvage up to 1.5% of the pixel barrel, up to 0.5% of the pixel endcap modules, and up to 1% of the strip detectors [77].

In order to process the data prior to track reconstruction the hit efficiency must be measured, the points at which a charged particle traversed each layer of the inner tracker. After track reconstruction the efficiency is calculated as the fraction of particles that are expected to pass through the fiducial regions of the sensors in a layer of the detector in which matching hits are found. For the strip detectors a hit is considered to be a hit if the energy deposit is found in the module in which it was expected to be observed. For efficient reconstruction of tracks knowledge of the position of each module in three-dimensional space is required. Distortions and movements of the inner tracker modules were monitored using cosmic ray data and collision tracks by measuring the distance between expected


Figure 2.6: Muon reconstruction efficiency in the tracker as functions of pseudorapidity (left) and the number of proton-proton interaction vertices (right) [78].

and observed track trajectories. Distortions in tracking lead to biases in the reconstructed track curvature, and were studied using the reconstructed mass of $Z \rightarrow \mu\mu$ events as a function of the positive muon's azimuthal angle. The muon reconstruction efficiency can be seen in Figure 2.6.

The CMS tracking software relies on an iterative procedure to measure hits in a high particle occupancy environment. Earlier steps of the tracking process search for tracks with higher p_T due to the more obvious nature of the tracks, which include a smaller impact parameter, and greater number of measured hits in each layer of the tracker. By selecting more obvious processes first, the reconstruction becomes easier as it has fewer hits to deal with. Track reconstruction efficiency is measured by using the tag-and-probe method in $Z \rightarrow \mu \mu$ events [78]. The tracking efficiency is then defined as the number of probes observed to have matching tracks within the tracker and is a function of the number of primary vertices and the pseudorapidity of the tracks and can be seen in Figure 2.7. LHC proton-proton events are reconstructed by firstly identifying the tracks, then grouping in accordance with their primary vertex, and finally fitting to the position of each vertex.

One of the long term damaging effects of high luminosity collisions is radiation damage. Radiation damage in the silicon was monitored throughout Run I and tested by performing special runs where the bias voltage was increased in steps from 0 to the operational voltages.



Figure 2.7: Primary vertex resolution in the transverse plane (left) and along the beam-line (right) as functions of the number of tracks attached to the vertex [78].

Results showed that the hit efficiency decreased with irradiation at first, then increased with changes in the effective doping [79]. Due to collisions not being completely aligned at the centre of the detector, even irradiation of the modules is seen in the azimuthal direction.

Overall, the CMS tracker has performed exceptionally throughout the Run I three-year period with regards to detector reliability and tracking. The tracker was able to overcome a major problem of high pile-up and reconstruct tracks with excellent efficiency. Less than 3% of the tracker became inactive throughout the entire run, and less than 5% of the delivered luminosity was lost through the tracker.

2.4 Electromagnetic Calorimeter

2.4.1 Overview

Directly after the Inner Tracking System, the second stage of particle identification and reconstruction comes in the form of the Electromagnetic Calorimeter (ECAL). The ECAL serves to stop electromagnetic particles, namely electrons and photons, and measure the energy deposited in the detector. These particles are identified and reconstructed using signatures such as charge, shower shape, and isolation. When an electron passes through the ECAL it showers via bremsstrahlung, positron pair annihilation, and photon conversion. Radiation losses due to bremsstrahlung scale with mass as m^{-4} (m^{-6}) when a charged particle travels perpendicular (parallel) to an electric field, and thus heavier electromagnetic particles are less likely to produce a shower. It is possible to differentiate between electrons and positrons by the curvature produced from the Superconducting Solenoid. Photons are neutrally charged and thus do not bend via the magnet, however they produce electron-positron pairs which then shower in the detector in the same manner as an incident electron, which can then be measured. The photon shower shape, known as $\sigma_{i\eta i\eta}$, is a prominent variable in this analysis and will be described in detail in Section 4.

A key component that drove the design of the ECAL is the decay channel $H \rightarrow \gamma \gamma$. At the time of design, the Higgs had not been discovered and thus the mass was not known, however it was known that the aforementioned decay mode was sensitive to a low mass Higgs, $m_H < 150$ GeV. Although the branching ratio of the decay is small ($\simeq 0.002$), the signature is clean and is a narrow resonance of two high E_T photons over a non resonant background [80]. In order to discover the Higgs the detector needed to have a powerful invariant mass resolution and background rejection, translating into a need for extremely efficient photon and electron identification, along with a high position and energy resolution.

2.4.2 Composition of the ECAL

The CMS ECAL is a hermetic, homogeneous fine-grained lead tungstate (PbWO₄) crystal calorimeter [81], shown in Figure 2.8. The PbWO₄ crystals are extremely dense ($\delta = 8.28$ g/cm³), thus providing excellent performance and compactness, and thus fit within the Superconducting Solenoid magnet volume. The crystals have an extremely small radiation length, $X_0 = 0.85$ cm, and small Molière radius, $R_M = 2.19$ cm. The decision to use a homogeneous medium was chosen because of the ability to obtain a greater energy resolution by minimising fluctuations [81].

There are 75,848 crystals within the ECAL, and are arranged into a barrel section (EB), covering a pseudorapidity range of $|\eta| < 1.442$, and sealed by endcaps (EE) at each end of the cylindrical detector, thus extending the pseudorapidity range to $|\eta| < 3.0$. The length of the crystals within the barrel are 230 mm and 220 mm in the endcap regions, which



Figure 2.8: Geometric view of one quarter of the ECAL (top). Layout of the CMS electromagnetic calorimeter presenting the arrangement of crystal modules, supermodules, endcaps and the preshower in front (bottom) [74].

corresponds to ~ 26 (EB) and ~ 25 (EE) radiation lengths. The crystals are projective and also slightly off-pointing in position, ~ 3° with respect to the IP. This configuration provides a full coverage and ensures that there are no cracks in the calorimetry that are aligned with particle trajectories. Within the barrel there is no longitudinal segmentation, and therefore the angle at which a photon is measured relies on the reconstructed primary vertex (PV) from the silicon tracker. EB crystals are 2.2×2.2 cm² on the front face, and 2.86×2.86 cm² in the endcaps, giving rise to a total crystal volume of 11 m³ and a weight of 92 t.

The EB crystals are arranged into 36 supermodules (or superclusters), each containing 1,700 crystals, whereas the EB crystals are arranged into two D-shaped segments comprising 3,662 crystals each. The final section of the ECAL is the pre-shower detector system (ES) placed directly in front of the endcaps at $1.65 < |\eta| < 2.6$ and can be visualised in Figure 2.9. The ES is composed of 4,288 sensors divided into 137,216 strips, each 1.90×61



Figure 2.9: Geometric view of one quarter of the ECAL (top). Layout of the CMS electromagnetic calorimeter presenting the arrangement of crystal modules, supermodules, endcaps and the preshower in front (bottom) [74].

mm² with x-y view, and has a total of ~ 3 radiation lengths. The purpose of the ES is provide improved separation of photons to π^0 s.

2.4.3 Photodetectors

The light read-out system for the barrel crystals comes in the form of Hamamatsu avalanche photodiodes (APD). There are two APDs for each crystal which are read in parallel, each measuring $5 \times 5 \text{ mm}^2$ with a quantum efficiency (QE) of 75%. The gain is set at ~ 50 and they are insensitive to the 4 T magnetic field from the Superconducting Solenoid. The scintillation light in each endcap crystal is read out by a vacuum photo-triode (VPT), each with an area of 280 mm² with a 20% QE and gain of ~ 10. The barrel APDs are temperature sensitive (with temperature coefficient $\frac{1}{E}\frac{dE}{dT} \sim -2.3\% C^{-1}$) whereas the VPT sensitivity to temperature is assumed to be negligible relative to that of the crystals.

2.4.4 Performance of the ECAL throughout Run I

The energy resolution, σ_E/E of the ECAL crystals can be parameterised by:

$$\left(\frac{\sigma_E}{E}\right)^2 = \left(\frac{A}{\sqrt{E}}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{B}{E}\right)^2 + C^2 \tag{2.4}$$

where A and B are the stochastic term for scintillation showers and noise term due to read-out electronics and photodetectors, respectively. C is a constant term which is a direct measure of the performance of the PbWO₄ crystals. The performance of the ECAL can be attributed to inconsistencies in longitudinal light collection, noise due to the read-out electronics, and dead material within the detector causing energy leakages. The resolution was measured from test-beam data, using electrons within the energy range of between 20 and 250 GeV. The values of A, B, and C have been measured to be 2.8%, 12%, and 0.3%, respectively [74]. The results were obtained in the absence of magnetic field, very little inert material in front of the calorimeter, and where the beam was aligned to the centre of the ECAL crystals.

For unconverted photons within the energy range of interest for physics analysis (~ 100 GeV) the energy resolution of the ECAL is dominated by the constant term¹ in Equation 2.4. The result signifies that the performance of the ECAL is largely dependent on the quality of calibration and monitoring during data-taking periods.

Figure 2.10 shows the invariant mass resolution as a function of time for prompt and re-reconstructed electrons (left), and the relative electron resolution as a function of pseudorapidity, η , (right) both having used a $Z \rightarrow e^+e^-$ sample.

The electron energy resolution, σ_e/E , is derived from the peak width of $Z \rightarrow e^+e^$ decays and fitting in bins of η using an unbinned maximum likelihood fit to the invariant mass distribution of e^+e^- pairs. It is found that the energy resolution is greater than 2% for $|\eta| < 0.8$, and ranges from 2 - 5% in other regions. The effect created by the excess of material upstream of the ECAL can also be seen in the regions where $|\eta| > 1$, also near the detector cracks (shown as a grey line) between ECAL modules can also be seen. The difference between data (blue) and Monte Carlo Simulation (MC) (red) is thought to arise

¹For photons and electrons converting at small radii within the silicon tracker, the dominant contribution to the energy resolution arises due to radiation in the silicon tracker material combined with the effect from the magnetic field.



Figure 2.10: Left: The mass resolution of the Z peak, reconstructed from its di-electron decay mode, as a function of time for the barrel. Right: Relative electron (ECAL) energy resolution unfolded in bins of pseudo-rapidity η for the barrel [82].

due to flaws in simulation, such as a mismodelling of the upstream material.

2.5 Hadron Calorimeter

2.5.1 Overview

The Hadron Calorimeter (HCAL), shown in Figure 2.11, lies directly after the ECAL within the volume of the superconducting solenoid, and is designed to measure energy deposits from hadron showers and clusters of collinear high-energy hadronic particles known as jets. A key role of the HCAL is to measure the MET produced by events containing neutrinos, and possible events that could be associated with new physics that may be seen at higher energies. In order to produce such a precision measurement, the HCAL must have an extremely good jet energy resolution and be completely hermetic in ϕ .

The HCAL is a sampling calorimeter, composed of alternating layers of absorbing large brass plates and plastic scintillation tiles. Because the precision of the energy measurement depends on the total amount of the hadronic shower detected, the material must be thick enough to absorb the majority of the event. The size restriction for the HCAL is limited to the distance between the end of the ECAL (r = 1.77 m) to the inner superconducting solenoid (r = 2.95 m). In order to efficiently measure the full shower, and therefore energy



Figure 2.11: Longitudinal view of one quarter of the detector in the $r - \eta$ - plane, showing the positions of the HCAL parts: hadron barrel (HB), hadron outer (HO), hadron endcap (HE) and hadron forward (HF) [74].

	HB/HO	HE $ \eta \le 2.5$	HE $ \eta > 2.5$	HF $ \eta \le 2.5$	HF $ \eta > 2.5$
$\Delta\eta\times\Delta\phi$	0.087 imes 0.087	0.087×0.087	0.175×0.175	$0.175 \times 0.175 s$	0.175×0.35

Table 2.2: Tower segmentation in azimuthal and polar angle for the hadronic barrel, endcap and forward calorimeter [83].

deposit, an outer section of the HCAL (HO) has been placed just after the solenoid and between the muon system which can then also be used as an extra layer of absorbing material with a thickness of 11.4 interaction lengths (λ_l). There are four segments of the HCAL in total: the HCAL barrel (HB), endcaps (HE), outer HCAL (HO), and forward calorimeter (HF). The barrel and endcaps combined cover an area with pseudorapidity up to $|\eta| < 3.0$, and the forward segment covers the region up to $|\eta| < 5.0$.

There are approximately 90,000 scintillators installed within the HB and HE combined. Light that is collected by the plastic scintillating tiles is read out by wavelength-shifting fibres (WSF) that are embedded within the units, which are then transported through transparent fibres to hybrid photo-detectors (HPD) encompassing 19 independent pixels. Each scintillator has a granularity of $\Delta \eta \times \Delta \phi = 0.087 \times 0.087$ for $|\eta| < 1.6$ and $\Delta \eta \times \Delta \phi = 0.17 \times 0.17$ for $|\eta| \ge 1.6$, whereas the forward segment changes with respect to pseudorapidity as $\Delta \eta \times \Delta \phi = 0.175 \times 0.175$ at $|\eta| = 3.0$ to $\Delta \eta \times \Delta \phi = 0.175 \times 0.35$ at $|\eta| = 5.0$ [83], as seen in Table 2.2. The forward section of the HCAL is placed 11.2 m from the IP in order to reconstruct particles boosted in the forward direction, and is expected to experience a much higher flux of particles at higher energy (760 GeV) than the rest of the HCAL (100 GeV) at $\sqrt{s} = 14$ TeV [84]. It is composed of 5 mm thick steel absorber plates, each with quartz fibres implemented as an active medium. The quartz fibres detect Čerenkov light produced from the electromagnetic component of particle showers.

2.6 Superconducting Solenoid

The CMS Superconducting Solenoid, shown in Figure 2.12, is the most powerful hadronic magnet in the world, 100,000 times stronger than the Earth's magnetic field and stores enough energy to melt 16 tonnes of gold, and the most essential feature of the detector. In order to achieve a good momentum resolution in such a detector, without making tight cuts on muon chamber resolution and alignment, a powerful magnetic field was chosen. A large bending power can be achieved by a modestly sized solenoid, as long as it is a high-field superconducting one, due to the bending beginning at the primary vertex. The requirement for the bending power of the solenoid is dictated by the narrow states decaying into muons, and by the unambiguous determination of the sign for muons with a momentum of around 1 TeV/c. In order to obtain a precision measurement, a momentum resolution of $\Delta p/p \approx 10\%$ at p = 1 TeV/c was required. A suitable length to radius ratio is required to obtain a good momentum resolution in the forward region.

Approaching 13 m in length, and 6 m in diameter, the solid mass weights approximately 250 t at an operating temperature of -268.5 °C – a degree warmer than outer space. Originally designed to run with a uniform magnetic field of 4 T within the 5.9 m bore, the eventual operating level was set to 3.8 T in order to increase the lifetime. Such a magnetic field requires a return yoke, which can be viewed in the CMS schematic in Figure 2.4, of which the return field is large enough to saturate 1.5 m of iron and weighs 12,500 t. This allows four muon stations to be integrated within the return yoke, ensuring robustness and

Superconducting	Solenoid Parameters
Parameter	Value
Field (T)	4
Length (m)	12.9
Weight (t)	250
Inner bore (m)	5.9
Current (kA)	19.5
Number of turns	2168

Stored energy (GJ)

Hoop stress (atm)

Table 2.3: Parameters of the LHC Superconducting Solenoid [85].

2.7

64

full geometric coverage. The magnet and return yoke use almost twice as much iron as the Eiffel Tower. The solenoid is composed of four layers of high-purity niobium-titanium cable coextruded with a aluminium-stabilised conductor as used in previous experiments, such as ALEPH and DELPHI at LEP, and H1 at HERA. However, the Superconducting Solenoid has a huge increase in certain parameters, such as magnetic field strength, ampere turns, and stored energy, which can be seen in the parameters listed in Table 2.3 [86].

2.7 Muon System

The final sub-detector, or rather set of sub-detectors, lying between each wheel of the iron return yoke, is the muon system (Figure 2.13). The muon system plays a huge role in detecting signatures of interest, such as processes with extremely large backgrounds, and which are expected to increase in Run II. Signatures such as a the so called "gold-plated" decay of a SM Higgs decaying to two Z bosons, both of which decay into two muons $(H \rightarrow ZZ \rightarrow \mu^+\mu^-\mu^+\mu^-)$, are ideal candidates because the best mass resolution can be achieved as muons are much less effected than electrons by radiative losses within the tracker material. Due to the relative ease of detecting muons, this decay channel (discovered in Run I) highlights the discovery potential for muon final state decay modes and the demand for such a wide angular coverage within the muon detection system.



Figure 2.12: General artistic view of the five modules composing the cold mass inside the cryostat, with details of the supporting system (vertical, radial and longitudinal tie rods) [74].



Figure 2.13: Layout of one quadrant of CMS. The figure shows the four DT stations in the barrel (MB1-MB4, yellow), the four CSC stations in the endcap (ME1-ME4, green), and the RPC stations (RB1-RB4 and RE1-RE3) [74].

Precise and efficient muon measurements were a central theme in the design of the CMS experiment, as can be seen from the name. There are three functions which the muon system serves: identification of muons, momentum measurements, and triggering. All of these functions are made possible when used in conjunction with the superconducting solenoid and its flux return yoke. The system was designed to measure the charge and momentum of muons over the full kinetic range of the LHC. The design of the muon system was based around the nature of the solenoid magnet, thus it is composed of a cylindrical barrel section surrounded by two planar endcaps to provide fully hermetic coverage. The design of the system corresponds to $25,000 \text{ m}^2$ of detection planes and thus the muon chambers must be robust, reliable, and also inexpensive. Therefore, three types of gaseous particle detectors were implemented: drift tubes (DT), cathode strip chambers (CSC), and resistive plate chambers (RPC).

Drift tubes with standard rectangular drift cells are implemented in the muon barrel

section where the neutron-induced background is small, the muon rate is low, and the 4 T magnetic field is uniform and mostly contained within the steel return yoke. Covering a pseudorapidity region of $|\eta| < 1.2$, the barrel drift tube chambers are arranged into four layers integrated within the return yoke. The first three layers contain eight chambers which measure the muon coordinates in the $r - \phi$ bending plane, and four that measure z along the beam-line. The fourth station is the same except that it does not measure z. The arrangement and number of chambers in each station were chosen to provide efficient rejection of background hits and linking muon hits from different stations into one single track.

In contrast to the barrel region, the background and muon rates are high and the magnetic field is non-uniform in the endcaps. For these regions, cathode strip chambers are used. The CSCs have an extremely fast response time, resistance to radiation, fine segmentation, and can identify muons within a pseudorapidity range of $0.9 < |\eta| < 2.4$. Again there are four layers of chambers interspersed between the return yoke plates, however they are perpendicular to the beam. The strips are positioned radially outward and provide precise measurements in the $r - \phi$ bending plane. Each CSC comprises six layers, providing robust pattern recognition and rejection of backgrounds, efficiently matching hits in the CSCs to those in the tracker.

The third sub-detector in the muon system is implemented to serve as a complimentary, dedicated trigger system composed of resistive plate chambers (RPC) in both the barrel and endcaps. The decision to include the RPCs was based on the uncertainty in the eventual background rates and ability to measure the correct beam-crossing time when the LHC reaches design luminosity. The RPCs are able to operate in high rate environments by using fast, highly-segmented, and independent trigger, but provide a more accurate position resolution than the DTs or CSCs. The p_T threshold is sharp over a large segment of the pseudorapidity range, $|\eta| < 1.6$.

2.7.1 Performance of the muon system in Run I

During the Run I data taking period, CMS muon reconstruction was performed using the silicon inner tracker in coincidence with up to four of the available gas-ionisation muon chambers: DTs, CSCs, and RPCs. Standard CMS muon tracks can be reconstructed

independently both in the inner tracker and in the muon system, where tracks are labelled tracker and standalone-muon tracks, respectively. When reconstructing a global muon, local reconstruction of objects within each individual muon chamber is relied on. Each muon chamber uses different techniques in reconstructing charged particles that cross the chambers, however every case relies on the ionisation of gas within the volume of the detector.

Basic objects that traverse the gas within the chambers are ionised, read out, and reconstructed as hits. Hits are defined as spatial points with assigned uncertainties and segments, which are obtained by fitting straight lines to the reconstructed hits [87]. For the reconstruction of standalone-muon tracks, a matching tracker track is pinpointed by comparing the parameters of each and propagating onto a common surface — which is known as the outside-in method. Global muons are fitted by combining hits from each of the tracker and standalone-muon tracks and using the Kalman-filter technique.

RPC muons are reconstructed in a similar fashion to tracker muons by requiring only two reconstructed hits in different layers of the RPC chambers. The matching criteria for each of these types of reconstructed hits is the distance and pull between their positions in a local x and y frame, where the pull is defined as the residual between the extrapolated positions over the combined uncertainty [88]. The pulls and residuals for track segment matching have been studied previously [87]. By reconstructed tracker muons in this manner the probability of reconstructing punch-through hadrons is drastically reduced. By combining different algorithms it is possible to increase the efficiency of correctly reconstructing a muon.

The efficiency of correctly reconstructing a muon track is studied by way of the tagand-probe method (see Section 6.1.2) using a sample of Z bosons decaying to muons. The analysis is conducted in a semi-Tight muon selection regime, whereby the candidate is required to be identified as a RPC muon with hits matched in at least three RPC layers, and two matched hits in two muon stations. The semi-Tight muon selection does not include particle flow (PF), see Section 3.6.4, identification and isolation cuts. The results yield an increase of around 3% in the efficiency compared to previous measurements [88], and can be seen in Figure 2.14. The efficiency lies above 99% in for most p_T and η regions.



Figure 2.14: RPC Muon efficiencies on top of the semi-Tight muon selection in p_T and $|\eta|$ [88].

2.8 Trigger and Data Acquisition

At the LHC design energy of $\sqrt{s} = 14$ TeV, the proton-proton collision frequency reaches up to 40 MHz when operating with 25 ns bunch spacing. Depending on the luminosity, a number of collisions will occur at each crossing of the protons, but since every event produces ~ 1 MB of raw data, this corresponds to a total of ~ 40 TB s⁻¹. Also, at the design luminosity of $\mathcal{L} = 10^{34}$ cm⁻² s⁻¹, around 20 inelastic events will be superimposed onto events of interest, known as pile-up (PU). The amount of resulting data is much too large to store and process, and thus a filtering system for interesting events is implemented to reduce the total number of events recorded. This is the trigger system, and begins the process of event selection in the CMS experiment. The rate reduction capability is designed to be at least a factor of 10⁶ for the combination of L1 Trigger and HLT.

The trigger is designed as a two-stage system: Level 1 (L1) Trigger, and High-Level Trigger (HLT), respectively. The L1 trigger is a hardware system consisting mostly of custom-designed, highly programmable electronics, located partly on the detector and partly in the underground control room approximately 90 m from the detector itself. The L1 trigger makes a decision based on information from only the muon system and calorimetry, and is shown in Figure 2.15. The tracker information is not used in making trigger



Figure 2.15: Architecture of the Level 1 trigger [74].

decisions due to the length of time needed to reconstruct tracks exceeding that of the L1 trigger. The data used is coarsely segmented, with the high resolution data being held in pipeline memories in the front-end electronics. Constructed with a design output rate limit of 100 kHz, this translates in practice to a maximal output rate of ~ 30 kHz when taking into account a safety factor of 3. The L1 trigger can be divided into different components: local, regional, and global components. The first components are the Local Triggers, also named Trigger Primitive Generators (TPG), and are collections of information from deposits in calorimeter trigger towers and track segments, or hit patterns in the muon chambers, respectively. Next are the Regional Triggers that combine the information obtained and use pattern logic in order to determine the rank and sort of trigger object, such as an electron or muon candidates. The rank can then be defined as a function of energy or momentum and quality of the deposit, reflecting the confidence level assigned to the L1 parameter measurements. The final components are the Global Calorimeter and Global Muon Triggers, assigning the highest rank calorimeter and muon objects throughout the detector. The candidates are then transferred to the Global Trigger, the highest component of the Level 1 hierarchy, which then makes a decision of whether to accept or reject the event for evaluation by the HLT.

The HLT is a software system residing in a CPU filter farm containing around 1000 commercial processors. The advantage of the HLT is that it has access to the full event

information from the entire detector simultaneously, including event information unavailable on the timescale of the L1. It can then perform complex calculations, similar to that performed in the analysis off-line software, by constantly evolving complex algorithms, resulting in a highly flexible trigger system. The event rate at the HLT level is reduced to ~ 300 Hz and a final data rate of 300 MBs⁻¹ recorded on a large storage disk (the Storage Manager) at the experimental site. The data is later transferred to the base tier (Tier 0) of The Grid computing network for further processing and then physics analysis.

2.8.1 Performance of the Trigger in Run 1

The majority of physics analyses in CMS that published findings using Run I data at a centre-of-mass of $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV used complicated triggers, where multiple categories of objects may be incorporated, such as jets and leptons. This category of trigger looks at the whole event topology and calculates such quantities as the total scalar energy, H_T, or missing transverse energy (MET).

At the new unprecedented energies recorded by the LHC, gluon fusion is the most dominant process in proton-proton collisions, and as a result the rate of production for top-quark pairs increases and the LHC essentially becomes a top factory. As a result, the production cross section for top pairs is one of the most fundamental measurements to compute. The measurement is computed using the semi-leptonic channel, such that one of the top quarks will decay to a b-jet and a lepton (electron or muon) and a neutrino, and the other will decay to a b-quark and two jets [89, 90].

In order to accommodate the high instantaneous luminosity and pile-up throughout Run I, various triggers were used: Lepton triggers with very tight identification and calorimeter isolation requirements, jets and PF jets were limited to the central region. Similar techniques were implemented at the L1 stage of reconstruction. Muons were defined within the central region ($|\eta| < 2.1$), charged hadron subtraction was introduced to deal with pile-up mitigation, and during the second half of the 2012 running period online jet energy calibrations were implemented which resulted in higher E_T thresholds in three-jet trigger paths.

The lepton plus jets efficiency is measured as the product of two independent efficiency measurements, $\epsilon_{Lep.} \times \epsilon_{Had.}$ using the tag-and-probe method with simulated Drell-Yan and



Figure 2.16: Top Triggers: Efficiency of the hadronic leg for the electron plus jets paths in 2012 versus the p_T of the 4th jet (left) and the dependence with respect to the number of vertices (right) [91].

 $t\bar{t}$ samples, as described in Section 6.1.2. To estimate the top acceptance simulated events were used and are corrected for the trigger efficiency measured in data.

Figure 2.16 shows the turn-on curve for the efficiency for selecting the hadronic leg $(p_T \text{ of the 4th jet})$ of the electron plus jets channel, and the dependency of the efficiency on the number of reconstructed primary vertices. The offline selection of the p_T for the jets was designed to assure a plateau behaviour of the scale factors, such that there is no variation with respect to MC sample or jet energy calibrations. From the variation of the scale factors, a systematic uncertainty of 2% (1.5%) for the electron (muon) scale factors cover the variation around their value of 0.995 (0.987) [91].

Chapter 3

Event Reconstruction & Simulation

Monte Carlo (MC) simulations are an essential part of current particle physics analyses and are used to mimic physical processes that correspond to those which are observed within the LHC, and other such experiments. Analysts compare findings in data to simulation in order to extract signal processes, and also to perform statistical analysis on results obtained. It is of the utmost importance that the simulated events must be as accurate as physically possible in order to mimic real life processes and perform a scientifically accurate analysis. This chapter will discuss methods for generating events, including the different MC generators and tunes used in the evaluation of theoretical uncertainties, and interpretation in terms of the CMS detector in the first section of this chapter.

Roughly speaking, the different steps of event reconstruction can be divided into three separate processes. The first of which records basic information, such as hits within the pixel detectors of the inner tracking system, and calorimeter energy clusters, for "low level" objects in each sub-detector. The information is then passed to the particle flow (PF) algorithm (Section 3.6.4) which uses information from all the sub-detectors in order to reconstruct events much more accurately. Finally, the events are refined by other complex statistical and mathematical techniques and used to reconstruct higher level objects, such as jets and MET. The second part of this chapter will focus on the PF process [92, 93] as mentioned above.



Figure 3.1: Graphic visualisation of a hadron collision process where two partons come in from the right and the left, represented by the directional arrows. Two gluons (blue) form the hard scattering interaction (red circle). This section of the process depicts the matrix element calculation. In the hard scattering interaction prompt decays and parton showers then take place as represented by the smaller red circles. Finally, the hadronisation process begins (green circles). Collinear gluon emissions are also observed as well as underlying event particles stemming from a softer collision with other partons in the hadrons. This is represented by the purple colouration and subsequent interactions [94].

3.1 Event Reconstruction and Computing

3.1.1 Event data model

Physically, an event is the result of the hard scattering process created when the LHC collides two bunches of protons together. The full properties of an interaction cannot be known without processing the data, and this is where the Event Data Model (EDM) is derived. The information about the event is measured as energy deposits, clusters, and tracks in each sub-detector of the CMS experiment that is read out by a series of processing electronics. When it comes to reconstructing the data and performing statistical analysis, an event is read in as a C++ object storing the raw data. These objects are presented to a user stored as ROOT files [95]. There are three different data formats that data are stored as, each of which contains a different level of precision for describing events. The three levels are as described below.

- **RAW** file formats contain very primal information about the data, including the L1 and HLT decisions. At this stage events have a size of roughly 1.5 MB.
- **RECO** is the next step in the formatting of data by reconstructing events obtained from the RAW format with pattern recognition and compression algorithms. This includes reconstructed detector hits, calorimeter clusters, and reconstructed physics objects such as electrons, jets etc. The typical event size at this level is around 250 kB.
- AOD (Analysis Oriented Data) is created by filtering (performing quality checks etc.) the RECO data from the reconstructed detector-level objects, where the higher level physics objects are calculated. The size of the events is reduced to ~ 50 kB.

Almost all physics analysis groups use the RECO and AOD data formats. All data used in the analysis presented in this thesis uses the AOD data format, where event sizes are reduced by filtering the RECO data, as can be seen in Table 3.1. The objects are delivered in the data files as C++ objects, which are then transformed into vectors of plain basic types. By selecting on the physics objects that are central to the analysis, the event size can be further reduced to ~3 kB, which is called the "skimming", thus reducing the run time of an analysis. The processing of RECO and AOD formats for analysis begins with taking the data and using a specifically designed framework to process a set of "nTuples" for each physics process, and categorising them into classes, such as objects. The benefit of constructing such "nTuples" lies in the reduction of processing time by allowing the analysis to be run locally, rather than re-processing the full dataset in AOD, RECO, or RAW from each time. The datasets used in this analysis can be seen in Table 3.2

3.1.2 Analysis software

Analysis is usually performed within a computing environment specific to an experiment. CMS provides an extensive software framework, CMSSW [96], that provides users with a large range of algorithms to create, handle, and analyse data. CMSSW is fundamental in regards to MC simulation, detector calibration and alignment, and then for the reconstruction of data and analysis thereof. The framework is a modular structure that combines a single configurable executable (cmsRun) with a number of plugin modules containing event processing algorithms. CMSSW is continuously being updated to keep up-to-date with new analysis techniques and processes. The versions of CMSSW used in this analysis are listed below:

- CMSSW_5_3_9 for the analysis of $t\bar{t} + \gamma$.
- CMSSW_5_2_10_nTuple for the nTuple processing for the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ analysis.

The framework used is of a modular design, similar to CMSSW. The code is split into different modules designed to model the data at various stages of processing. Four modules are designed to carry out the reading-in of the data, transferring it into a readable C++ format, selecting and implementing cuts on the events, and outputting the information in the form of a histogram in order to statistically analyse the data, as described below.

- Reader files that translate plain data types stored in ROOT files into C++ objects.
- Reconstruction objects process the output of the readers in the form of real objects, such as leptons and quarks.
- Selections are written for each decay channel in an analysis to select on objects that exist in the final state of an event.
- Analysers are used to create histograms of different variables at various stages of selection, implement scale factors, and add weights to samples.

Process	Dataset	σ (pb)	Number of events
$t ar{t} + \gamma (2 ightarrow 5)$	$\label{eq:constraint} \begin{tabular}{lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	1.8	1074860
$t\bar{t}+\gamma(2 ightarrow7)$	$/TTGamma_TumeZ2star_8TeV-madgraph-tauola/Summer12_DR53X-PU_RD1_START53_V7N-v1/AODSIM$	1.8	916500
$t \overline{t} (Leptonic)$	$/TTJets_FullLeptMGDecays_8TeV-madgraph/Summer12_DR53X-PU_S10_START53_V7A-v2/AODSIM$	245.8	12119013
$tar{t}(Hadronic)$	/TTJets_HadronicMGDecays_8TeV-madgraph/Summer12_DR53X-PU_S10_START53_V7A_ext-v1/AODSIM	245.8	31223821
$tar{t}(Semileptonic)$	$/TTJets_SemiLeptMGDecays_8TeV-madgraph/Summer12_DR53X-PU_S10_START53_V7A_ext-v1/AODSIMSTRT53_V7A_EXt-v1/AODSIMSTRT53_V7A_V7AODSIMSTRT53_V7A_EXt-v1/AODSIMSTATTA3AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA$	245.8	25424818
$t \bar{t} (Inclusive)$	$/TT Jets_MassiveBinDECAY_TuneZ2star_8TeV-madgraph-tauola/Summer12_DR53X-PU_S10_START53_V7C-v1/AODSIMPACTS1_S10_START53_V7C-v1/AODSIMPACTS1_V10SIMP$	245.8	6923652
Drell-Yann, $10 < m_ll < 50$	/DYJetsToLL_M-10To50_TuneZ2Star_8TeV-madgraph/Summer12_DR53X-PU_S10_START53_V7A-v1/AODSIM	11050.0	37835275
Drell-Yann, $m_ll > 50$	$eq:DYJetsToLL_M-50_TuneZ2Star_8TeV-madgraph-tarball/Summer12_DR53X-PU_S10_START53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTAPT53_V7A-v1/AODSIVATT53_V7AODSIVATT53_V7AODSIVATT53_V7AODSIVATT53_V7AODSIVATT53_V7AODSIVATT53_V7AODSIVATT53_V7AODSIVATT53_V7AODSIVATT53_V7AODSIVAT$	3350.0	30459503
$\lambda + \lambda$	/ZGToLLG_8TeV-madgraph/Summer12_DR53X-PU_RD1_START53_V7N-v1/AODSIM	159.12	6588161
Single Top tW	$/T_tW-channel-DR_TuneZ2star_8TeV-powheg-tauola/Summer12_DR53X-PU_S10_START53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART5$	11.1	497658
Single TopBar t W \bar{t}	$eq:thm:two-channel-DR_TuneZ2star_STeV-powheg-tauola/Summer12_DR53X-PU_S10_START53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART5$	11.1	493460
Single Top t	$/T_t-channel_TuneZ2star_8TeV-powheg-tauola/Summer12_DR53X-PU_S10_START53_V7A-v3/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v3/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v3/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v3/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v3/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v3/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v3/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v3/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v3/AODSIMSTART5$	56.4	99876
Single TopBar t	$\label{eq:tau} Tbar_t-channel_TuneZ2star_8TeV-powheg-tauola/Summer12_DR53X-PU_S10_START53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART5$	30.7	1935072
Single Top s	$/T_s-channel_TuneZ2star_8TeV-powheg-tauola/Summer12_DR53X-PU_S10_START53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v1/AODSIMSTART5$	3.79	259961
Single TopBar s	$\label{eq:transform} $$ TART53_V7A-v1AODSIM $$ Target and $$ Target an$	1.76	139974
W+Jets	$eq:wjetsToLNu_TuneZ2Star_STeV-madgraph-tarball/Summer12_DR53X-PU_S10_START53_V7A-v2/AODSIMT53_V7AODSIMTTART53_V7AODSIMSTART53_V7AODSIMTTART53_V7AODSIMTTART53_V7A-v2/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v2/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v2/AODSIMSTART53_V7A-v2/AODSIMTTART53_V7AODSIMTTART53_V7AODSIMTTART53_V7AODSIMTTART53_V7AODSIMTTART53_V7AODSIMTTART53_V7AODSIMTTART53_V7AODSIMTTART53_V7AODSIMTTART53_V7AODSIMTTART53_V7AODSIMTTART53_V7AODSIMTTART53_V7AODSIMTTART53_V7AODSIMTTART53_V7AODSIVAODSIMTTART53_V7AODSIVAODSIVAODSIVAODSIVAODSIVAODSIVAODSIVAODSIVAODSIVAODSIVAODSIVAODSIVAODSIVAODSIVAODSIVAOD$	36257.2	57709905
$W + \gamma$	/WGToLNuG_TuneZ2star_8TeV-madgraph-tauola/Summer12_DR53X-PU_S10_START53_V7A-v1/AODSIM	553.92	4802358
Diboson WW	/WW_TuneZ2star_8TeV_pythia6_tauola/Summer12_DR53X-PU_S10_START53_V7A-v1/AODSIM	56.0	10000431
Diboson WZ	/WZ_TuneZ2star_8TeV_pythia6_tauola/Summer12_DR53X-PU_S10_START53_V7A-v1/AODSIM	33.6	10000283
Diboson ZZ	$/\mathrm{ZZ}_{-}\mathrm{Tune}\mathrm{Z2star}_{-}\mathrm{STeV}_{-}\mathrm{pythia6_tauola/Summer12_DR53X-PU}_{-}\mathrm{S10}_{-}\mathrm{START53}_{-}\mathrm{V7A-v1/AODSIM}$	8.2	9799908

C samples.
М
background
and
signal
for
lormation
t II
Datase
.:-
က်
Table

Dataset	Integrated Luminosity (pb ⁻¹)
/DoubleMuParked/Run2012A-22Jan2013-v1/AOD	876
/DoubleMuParked/Run2012B-22Jan2013-v1/AOD	4412
/DoubleMuParked/Run2012C-22Jan2013-v1/AOD	7017
/DoubleMuParked/Run2012D-22Jan2013-v1/AOD	7369
Total	19.7
/Double Electron/Run 2012 A-22 Jan 2013-v1/AOD	875
/Double Electron/Run 2012 B-22 Jan 2013-v1/AOD	4412
/Double Electron/Run2012 C-22 Jan 2013-v1/AOD	7055
/Double Electron/Run2012D-22Jan2013-v1/AOD	7369
Total	19.7
/MuEG/Run2012A-22 $Jan2013$ -v $1/AOD$	876
$/\mathrm{MuEG}/\mathrm{Run2012B}$ -22 $\mathrm{Jan2013}$ -v I/AOD	4411
/MuEG/Run2012C-22 $Jan2013$ -v $1/AOD$	7055
$/\mathrm{MuEG}/\mathrm{Run2012D}\text{-}22\mathrm{Jan2013}\text{-}\mathrm{v1}/\mathrm{AOD}$	7360
Total	19.7



Figure 3.2: A radiography of a quarter of the simulated tracker geometry in the (a) fast and (b) full simulation [99]. The data points are from the vertices of converted photons, whereby there are a much larger number of simulated events in the FastSim.

3.2 Simulation of the CMS detector

The simulation of the CMS detector is an incredibly complex task and very time consuming to run such a simulation. In order to perform such a procedure GEANT4 [97] is used to simulate the geometry of the whole detector, divided into sub-detectors, and track the particles as they pass through the different materials. Implemented within the CMSSW framework are two packages that perform detector simulation, Full Simulation (FullSim) [98] and Fast Simulation (FastSim, previously named FAMOS) [99]. In the FastSim package physical processes are described in detail, such as the electromagnetic and hadronic interactions, energy deposits, and electronic detector responses. The FastSim package is designed with a much lower level of detail incorporated and reduces the computational time by 3 orders of magnitude. This allows analysts to carry out custom MC productions within a reasonable time. A comparison between the two packages is shown in Figure 3.2.

3.3 Monte Carlo Simulation

3.3.1 Monte Carlo event generators

MC generators are programs that simulate the properties of particles such that results can be compared to those obtained from data in order to perform a statistical analysis and verify findings. CMS uses many event generators in order to simulate specific physics processes that are of interest. Hard scattering processes are simulated via matrix element calculation and then parton showering is subsequently added. In order to convolute the two procedures a matching is implemented. Finally, hadronisation is then modelled as the showered partons form colourless bound states with other partons. MC event generators produce a list of all particles/partons that are created in an event along with their kinematic properties, such as p_T , and include production of underlying events (UE) and additional primary vertex interactions from pile-up (PU). UE are classified as any source of interaction produced that does not originate from the initial hard scattering process, such as initial and final state radiation (ISR and FSR), and remnants from the beam. PU is defined as any other interaction produced from the same bunch crossing as the hard scattering. Bunch crossings can contain up to 20 different interactions, that is to say 20 different primary vertices are observed. Figure 3.1 shows the hard scattering collision process as produced by MC event generators.

In the analysis presented in this thesis each physical process was simulated by different MC event generators, such as WHIZARD, MADGRAPH, PYTHIA, MC@NLO, and POWHEG. The MC event generators which are used in this analysis are described in more detail below. Generators are usually combined by interfacing with another generator in order to optimise for each simulation step described in Section 3.1. An example of this can be seen within the main background sample for this analysis, the $t\bar{t}$ sample, which is generated using both MADGRAPH and PYTHIA.

WHIZARD [100] is a leading order (LO) event generator designed to calculate multiparticle scattering cross sections efficiently and simulated event samples. Tree-level matrix elements are automatically generated for arbitrary partonic processes, in particular the Minimal Supersymmetric extension of the Standard Model (MSSM) is supported including an interface to the SUSY Les Houches Accord (LHA) input format. It is also possible to interface matrix elements from alternative processes, such as loop corrections. WHIZARD uses a multi-channel method for phase space integration, meaning that it involves simultaneous use of multiple phase space parametrisations corresponding to dominant Feynman diagrams, and is able to calculate numerically stable signal and background cross sections and also generate unweighted event samples with a reasonable efficiency for final state events containing up to 6 or more particles, meaning that it generates uniformly distributed events each contributing the same event weight to the sample. The polarisation of initial and final states is treated in the same manner, and quark and lepton flavours are automatically summed over where needed. For hadron collider physics studies, the standard LHAPDF library is incorporated. For fragmentation and hadronisation of the final states, PYTHIA and HERWIG interfaces are provided, both of which follow the Les Houches Accord.

- **MADGRAPH** [101] is a leading order multi-purpose matrix-element MC generator. Similar to the WHIZARD generator, MADGRAPH automatically generates matrix elements for scattering processes with up to 6 and above final state particles. The matching of matrix elements to parton showers is performed following the MLM prescription [102] only if a parton-jet pair satisfies a predefined ΔR requirement, and if none, or more than one jet, is found then the event is rejected. There is also a certain p_T threshold for partons that must be passed in order to be considered for matching.
- **PYTHIA** [103] is a widely used tool in the particle physics community. It is used for the generation of events within high-energy collisions, and it does so by utilising a complex set of physics models to process the evolution of a 2-body (or more) scattering to a complex multi-particle final state. The generator contains a library of hard processes, models for parton showers for initial and final states, matching among hard processes and parton showers, multi-parton interactions, beam remnants, string fragmentation and particle decays.
- MC@NLO [104] provides a method for matching next-to-leading order (NLO) calculations of QCD processes with a particle shower from simulation in MC. MC@NLO improves on many aspects with respect to a LO generator, such as PYTHIA. Aspects such as the total exclusive rates are accurate to NLO, hard emissions are treated as in NLO computations with soft/collinear emissions handled by MC, and matching between hard and soft emission regions is smooth. This provides an advantage for heavy flavour physics, such as top quark production. A small amount of events with

negative weights are generated, however the process of unweighting is possible with a reasonable efficiency.

POWHEG [105] (Positive Weight Hardest Emission Generator) is a NLO event generator similar to MC@NLO described above. The difference between the two arises in the basic idea behind POWHEG, whereby it generates the hardest radiation first before passing the event to any shower generator to perform subsequent, softer radiation. Thus, as it does not depend on any parton shower program in particular, the output of POWHEG can be easily interfaced with any shower generator capable of handling the given user process. Another feature of POWHEG is that events can be created with positive (constant) weight.

3.4 Simulated Samples for the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ Analysis

As previously mentioned, different MC samples are simulated using different event generators for various physical processes. Table 3.1 provides all the different MC sample datasets used in the $t\bar{t}+\gamma$ analysis along with their respective cross sections and number of processed events in each sample. This section will focus on background samples where generation of the signal $t\bar{t}+\gamma$ sample can be seen in Section 3.5. It can be seen that the main background to this analysis, TTJets $(t\bar{t})$, was generated using the MADGRAPH5 event generator and interfaced with the TAUOLA generator. TAUOLA is a MC event generator designed specifically for the modelling of tau lepton decays. The samples are then passed to PYTHIA6 for parton showering and hadronisation as described in Section 3.3.1. Each $t\bar{t}$ decay process, fully-leptonic, semi-leptonic, and fully hadronic is treated individually and generated as three independent samples. The advantages of treating the decay modes separately are that no scale factor has to be implemented in order to account for the different branching ratios of each decay channel and it is also more convenient to observe the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ content in each channel separately.

Similarly, both Drell-Yan samples, W + Jets, $W + \gamma$, $Z + \gamma$, and diboson background samples are also simulated in the same fashion as the TTJets samples. Single top events are simulated in a slightly different fashion, whereby they are generated by the POWHEG generator, also described in Section 3.3.1. Again, the events are then passed to PYTHIA6 to model parton showering and hadronisation. Single top samples are also split into different decay modes: tW, s-channel, t-channel. Top quarks and anti-top quark processes are treated separately and simulated in different samples.

3.5 Simulation of the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ Signal Sample

Three different techniques were used to define the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ signal process. The concepts are illustrated in Figure 3.3 which shows the final state of the process using each technique [52]. The parton distribution function CTEQ6L1 [106] is interfaced to WHIZARD via LHAPDF [107]. The process utilises variable renormalisation and factorisation scales. This is such that, event by event, the two are set to 172.5 GeV (m_t) plus the E_T of the generated photon. Upon varying the scale of each, a systematic uncertainty of $^{+7.0}_{-8.3}$ % is found, as shown in Chapter 6. Initial and final state radiation is taken into account, as well as hadronisation, and is simulated using PYTHIA6 [108], TAUOLA and PHOTOS [109] as preconfigured in CMSSW. The same configuration is used as for the top pair sample.

Restrictions on the final state particles have been set, named "generation" cuts, such that a proper integral is retained when calculating matrix elements. As a method to cope with infra-red divergences, soft gluon emissions, a minimum energy or momentum is required. Collinear divergences (collinear parton splitting) are treated by introducing a minimum distance in the $\eta - \phi$ plane. These cuts likely will not affect the measurement due to the cuts within selection being tighter than generator-level cuts. The different generation cuts are described in brief below:

- $2 \rightarrow 3$ At this level only quantum mechanical interferences from initial state radiation are considered. The CPU time required for tree level processes is moderate.
- $2 \rightarrow 5$ In this case, the decay of the top quark is included and thus photons that have radiated from a W boson or a b-quark, as well as interference effects between the two, must be taken into account. This is a significant process, as photons are expected to stem from a W or b to contribute significantly to the signal. Photons that are radiated from the W are considered negligible, because the W decay products are highly boosted in top-quark events giving rise to, mostly, collinear emissions.
- $2 \rightarrow 7$ In this scenario photon radiation and interference from all decay products is considered. CPU time is much more intensive in this case due to the many more Feynman



Figure 3.3: Process generation. The red, blue, and green boxes depict the matrix element calculation. Background processes with the same final state are included as well [52].

diagrams to be computed.

Originally, this analysis used the $2 \rightarrow 5$ technique with initial generator level cuts of $E_T > 20$ GeV and $\Delta R(\gamma, b/\bar{b}) > 0.1$ using WHIZARD [100], which is a leading order (LO) event generator. The variable factorisation and renormalisation scales were set to $m_{top} + E_T(\gamma)$, and a scale variation uncertainty of 8% has been applied to the WHIZARD $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ cross section result, which gives 1.8 ± 0.5 pb as the SM expectation for the signal process, where the scale variation uncertainty, and uncertainty on the k-factor (the ratio between the NLO and LO cross sections as a function of some observable) are added in quadrature.

3.5.1 Official $t\bar{t} + \gamma \ 2 \rightarrow 7$ sample production

The final version of the analysis uses the factorised $2 \rightarrow 7$ process for the simulation of the $t\bar{t}+\gamma$ signal sample. Instead of computing one single matrix element for the complete $t\bar{t}+\gamma$ process, the process is factorised into individual processes and calculate the matrix element for each sub-process. The major restriction on the calculation of the matrix element lies in

the computational time, such that using a factorised matrix element method vastly reduces the computation time to calculate the matrix element. The matrix element is divided in the following manner:

$$pp \to t\bar{t} + \gamma, \quad t \to bxx', \quad \bar{t} \to \bar{b}xx'$$
 (3.1)

$$pp \to t\bar{t}, \quad t \to bxx'\gamma, \quad \bar{t} \to \bar{b}xx'$$
 (3.2)

$$pp \to t\bar{t}, \quad t \to bxx', \quad \bar{t} \to \bar{b}xx'\gamma$$
 (3.3)

where $x = u, d, s, c, \bar{u}, \bar{d}, \bar{s}, \bar{c}, e^{\pm}, \mu^{\pm}, \tau^{\pm}, \nu_{e,\mu,\tau}, \bar{\nu}_{e,\mu,\tau}$

In order to verify the factorisation method, a sample was generated using WHIZARD with the full, un-factorised, $2 \rightarrow 7$ matrix element generation process, which is then compared to a sample simulated in WHIZARD using the factorised matrix element method. The results of this comparison can be seen in Figure 3.4, where a good agreement is seen in the shapes of observables. Small fluctuations are observed between bins within the full $2 \rightarrow 7$ sample, which can be attributed to the small number of events. Therefore, it can verified that the method can be used as a good approximation of the full $2 \rightarrow 7$ process.

Upon validation of the factorisation method for the full process, the method is observed to be a good compromise between accuracy and computational time. A comparison is then conducted between the MADGRAPH and WHIZARD event generators using the full $2 \rightarrow 7$ process. Within the WHIZARD framework, the three factorised processes are unable to be computed at the same time, and therefore the individual processes must be generated separately and later combine them, whereby scaling is taken into account.

For both generators, the original $pp \rightarrow t\bar{t} + \gamma$ process and the decay of the top quarks are distinct processes. The MADGRAPH framework handles both processes internally, however the two processes must be handled individually in the WHIZARD framework and an extra set of kinematic cuts must be implemented, as shown below.

- $p_T(\gamma) > 1$ GeV
- $\Delta R(\gamma, X) > 0.1$

These cuts are required to be softer than the final generator cuts, due to the dilution of kinematics by resolution effects at the value of the cuts. This is such that if the value of cuts used for decays is too close to the final generator cuts, resolution effects may be modelled incorrectly. When calculating the cross section, WHIZARD does not take the final generator cuts into consideration. They are simply used to select events which are then written to the output file. The cross section must be re-weighted when taking individual efficiencies into account, leading to the simulation taking more time than it would with the final generator cuts included, where a vast amount of generated events are rejected by the tighter cuts.

It must be noted that for simplicity, in the comparison only semi-leptonic events are selected in the muon channel. However, for the full sample all decay channels for the $2 \rightarrow 7$ process are incorporated in order to be inclusive as possible since the sample will be an official CMS sample.

The cross sections are calculated to be:

WHIZARD :
$$\sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma} = 1408 \text{ fb}, \text{ MADGRAPH} : \sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma} = 1227.1 \pm 0.4 \text{ fb}$$
 (3.4)

for each event generator, respectively. It is to be noted that there is no associated error with the WHIZARD cross section, this is due to the cross section calculated with this event generator not taking the final cuts on the decay products into account. The final cross section is calculated from the remaining number of events. Additionally, the branching ratios for the top decays are not included within the cross section calculation, as additional calculations are required by the user. This is more of a feature in channels where a photon is required.

The calculation steps, described previously, are estimated individually and the uncertainty on each usually contributes to the overall uncertainty by propagating them onto the final value. However, this is not calculated in this analysis, because the cross sections are used to compare the event generators. Thus, an exact calculation of the errors is not necessary, and a NLO cross section is used in the analysis which renders the differences inconsequential. The difference of 12.9% observed between the two generators is thus within the expected range of deviation.

A comparison between the two event generators for the factorised $2 \rightarrow 7$ process, for three key variables, can be seen in Figure 3.5. A good agreement is observed between the two event generators except for small discrepancies in the angle between the photon



Figure 3.4: Comparison between the full and the factorised $2 \rightarrow 7$ process using samples generated with WHIZARD. All distributions are normalised to unity [110].

and b quark at low values of $\Delta R(\gamma, b)$. The discrepancy is regarded as irrelevant to the analysis due to the manner in which jets and isolation is handled in a proton-proton collider experiment such as CMS. Another explanation could lie within the normalisation process of the WHIZARD sample, and could affect the shapes of the distributions.

The cuts used in the generation of the MADGRAPH MC sample are as shown below.

- $p_T(\gamma) > 13 \,\mathrm{GeV}$
- $|\eta(\gamma)| < 3.0$
- $\Delta R(\gamma, all) > 0.3$, where "all" refers to any other generator level particle
- $p_T(jet) > 15 \,\mathrm{GeV}$
- $p_T(b) > 20 \,\mathrm{GeV}$
- $|\eta(b)| < 5.0$
- $|\eta(jet)| < 5.0$
- $|\eta(lepton)| < 3.0$
- $\Delta R(jet, jet) > 0.5$
- $\Delta R(jet, lepton) > 0.5$

There is no cut on lepton transverse momentum, but there are cuts on the momenta of quarks (jets). This makes the ratio of hadronic and leptonic W decays generated with these cuts differ from the W branching ratio without any cuts.

3.6 Physics Object Reconstruction

The CMS experiment employs a complex algorithmic technique, Particle Flow (PF) [92], as part of a chain of reconstruction tools to reconstruct the full topology of events produced by collisions using information from each sub-detector. PF uses the information obtained from lower-level object reconstruction including tracking and clustering of energy deposits within each sub-detector. The primary goal of PF is to determine the object type, momentum, and energy for all objects within a singular event. Such objects include electrons,



Figure 3.5: Comparison between the MADGRAPH and WHIZARD generators for the factorized $2 \rightarrow 7$ process. All distributions are normalised to unity [110].

muons, charged hadrons, neutral hadrons, and photons. This information is then used to reconstruct higher-level objects, such as jets and MET.

3.6.1 Charged particle tracking

The tracking of charged particles begins with the reconstruction of tracks in the inner detector system. As the charged particles traverse the detector they deposit energy called hits, an iterative tracking algorithm then inputs the information from a number of hits in order to reconstruct tracks of individual particles [111]. By reconstructing the particle tracks, access to information about the particle is available, such as the momentum before any effects from the magnet, and the impact parameter, the distance of closest approach of the projectile to a the centre of a potential field, used in later reconstruction.

Around two thirds of the particles that constitute a jet are charged particles, therefore by accurately reconstructing the tracks of charged particles in the detector, the accuracy for correctly reconstructing a jet increases greatly. As all objects are reconstructed using the PF algorithm, which uses tracker information to fit tracks before reconstructing higherlevel objects (Section 3.7) it is found that information gleaned from tracker hits are vital for physics analysis. Several properties of tracks from the inner detector system contribute to its importance in reconstructing tracks, such as the p_T resolution which, for charged hadrons with a p_T of $\mathcal{O}(10^2)$ GeV, is significantly better than in the calorimeter systems.

One of the key parameters in object reconstruction is the track efficiency, the number of real tracks found over the number that incorrectly reconstructed or originate from a different source ("fake tracks"). Therefore, a high tracking efficiency is required in order to use the PF algorithm to its full potential, and thus an iterative algorithm for tracking was designed [111]. The tracking algorithm can be broken down into roughly 5 processes, which are described below:

- Local Reconstruction records signals in the silicon strips and pixels, converts them into "digis" and then groups them into clusters. Both the position and uncertainty associated with an individual digi is calculated during this stage of reconstruction.
- **Track Seeding** defines seeds, the basis of full particle reconstruction, by combining into "pairs" and "triplets" hits from the pixel detector of the inner tracker.
- Pattern Recognition combines hits from the tracker and combines them in order to reconstruct potential particle trajectories, by starting at the centre of the tracker system and working outwards through each layer. The tracks are then filtered using a Combined Kalman Filter [112], which is a combinatorial variation on a Global Kalman Filter. All hits are taken into account from a single layer of the tracker and used as input information for a "proto-track", which is then used to calculate an estimate of the position and the uncertainty of the position in the next layer of the tracker. It is important to also take into account the energy loss as the particle traverses each layer of the detector. If there are several hits found that are considered as signal, then multiple tracks are defined. The case where a particle is highly energetic must also be included, such that it only leaves deposits within some of the tracker layers and not all.
- Fitting with a Kalman filter then fits each of the reconstructed hits twice from the different layers defined in the pattern recognition process. The first fitting process is performed using hits from central layers outwards, whereas the second fitting uses hits from the outer layers inwards. The two fits are complimentary to one another and remove any bias obtained during the track clustering stage.
- Quality Checking removes tracks that are categorised as low quality, such that reconstructed hits have low hit multiplicity and a high χ^2 . Low quality tracks arise from aspects such as inconsistencies and mis-reconstructed hits in the track finding process; a single seed in the tracker layer can give rise to multiple tracks, as well as multiple seeds originating from the same track, which can be removed by performing the quality check of tracks.

The algorithm iterates over the process six times in order to filter out as many fakes/misreconstructed tracks as possible. For each iteration in the algorithm, cuts are loosened, such as the p_T , so that the tracking efficiency (ϵ) is increased while minimising the number of fakes. At the end of each iteration, after passing the track quality testing, high quality tracks are removed and the iterative process restarts. For the first four iterations only the seeds from the pixel detector are incorporated into the algorithm, where the last two use information of hits from the silicon strip detector. By performing track reconstruction in this manner tracks that decay outside the pixel volume are includes, such as long-lived particles, heavy flavour hadrons and τ leptons, and photon conversions. At the end of the process, it is possible to reconstruct tracks for particles with at least 3 hits in the tracking system with a p_T as low as 150 GeV, a primary vertex originating at least 50 cm from the beam axis, and all with a fake-rate of approximately 1% [111].

3.6.2 Primary vertex reconstruction

The ability to identify and reconstruct vertices of particles in events has a large impact on the reconstruction of whole event topologies and kinematics. In order to correctly assign tracks to collisions, the coordinates of the primary vertex must be efficiently reconstructed. The same can also be said for secondary vertex reconstruction, used for the identification of heavy-flavour hadrons and τ leptons, as well as photon conversions. The main challenges encountered in vertex reconstruction stem from multiple overlapping events from a high track density and particle interactions within the tracker volume.

Once all charged particle tracks have been reconstructed to a sufficient degree of efficiency, the information is used to reconstruct the primary vertices (PV) for interactions within an event. Similar to the reconstruction of particle tracks, tracks must pass a selection criteria in order to be defined as originating from a primary vertex. A primary vertex must be defined as having a small impact parameter with respect to the beam line, a minimum number of hits in each layer of the pixel and silicon strips, and a small χ^2 significance ($\chi^2/N_{d.o.f}$). For the tracks that meet the imposed requirements, they are then clustered along the z-axis at their point of closest approach to the beam. These are then defined as the primary vertex candidates and the fitting process is initiated.

An Adaptive Vertex Fitter (AVF) [113] is then implemented and uses a 3D fit, reconstructing the tracks using (x,y,z)-values such that the track is three-dimensional, to reconstruct the PV candidates, whereby each track is assigned a weight that is a function of its χ^2 contribution to the vertex. After each iteration of the fitting process, the given weights are translated to the new vertex position.

In order to discern the primary vertex from the hard-scattering form the event of interest, vertices are listed in descending order of p_T . As is expected events from pile-up to have a lower sum of p_T to the hard process, the primary vertex with the highest p_T is

taken and the rest are assumed to be from pile-up.

3.6.3 Calorimeter clustering algorithm

The granularity of the CMS HCAL is 25 times coarser than ECAL in order to separate spatially charged and neutral hadrons in jets with a transverse momentum above 100 GeV/c. Therefore, a different algorithm for the identification and reconstruction of tracks within the different calorimeter systems must be employed. The calorimeter clustering algorithm is implemented to perform this task [92]. The calorimeter clustering algorithm works independently of the PF algorithm, however energy deposits from charged hadrons are matched using the PF algorithm in order to provide a more accurate measurement of the energy. The two algorithms working in tandem are able to resolve high- p_T and collinear tracks and thus reconstruct energy deposits from neutral hadrons and photons. Clusters of energy are formed by taking information from energy deposits within each calorimeter system, excluding the forward HCAL where each cell is large enough that it is considered a cluster.

3.6.4 The Particle Flow event reconstruction algorithm

The particle flow (PF) algorithm [92] uses information from each sub-detector to reconstruct and identify all stable particles produced in proton-proton collisions at the LHC, such as electrons, muons, photons, charged hadrons, and neutral hadrons, and determine their direction, energy, and type. The information is then used in a similar manner to events from MC generators in order to reconstruct higher-order objects, such as jets (from which the directions and energies of the quarks and gluons are inferred), MET (giving a rough measurement of the direction and energy of invisible particles, such as neutrinos), and tau leptons, and to tag b-jets.

The design of the CMS detector is ideal for this type of reconstruction, due to it being completely hermetic around the interaction point with a 3.8 T magnetic field, thus the reconstruction of charged particle tracks (which make up around 2/3 of the total objects) is extremely efficient with a small fake-rate down to a low p_T of around 150 MeV/c and pseudorapidities as large as $|\eta| < 2.6$. Energy deposits are recorded as "blocks" in the detector, which are then interpreted as particles within a particular sub-detector. The PF algorithm feeds the information obtained by each sub-detector into the "link" step, where it then groups together combinations of blocks that are likely to originate from particles. The combinations are then categorised as individual objects and stored as a list of particles of each type.

Particles are composed of several PF elements from a number of CMS sub-detectors: one charged particle track, and/or various clusters in the calorimeters, and/or one muon track in the muon system. The link algorithm is then used to connect the tracks and energy clusters to reconstruct the particle, whilst removing possible double counting from any of the sub-detectors. Pairs of elements are found and "linked", such that the link is extrapolated to the end of a shower for a typical electron in the ECAL or the typical interaction length of a hadron shower in the HCAL, where a distance parameter defines the quality of a "link". Blocks of elements in each sub-detector are produced by the algorithm which are classed as directly or indirectly linked. The PF reconstruction process is made easier by its high granularity, such that each block contains a maximum of three elements, and thus the performance of the algorithm is independent of the event complexity. However, the size of a block may be increased by up to a cell to account for the non-uniformity of the calorimetry system.

Once blocks are processed by the link algorithm, they are then passed to the PF algorithm, where the objects are reconstructed and identified on an event-by-event basis. When an object is fully reconstructed, the tracks and clusters from the block are then removed from the collection and the next object is reconstructed. The first object type to be reconstructed is the muon, due to the efficiency of identifying muons. Muons are measured from their associated Global and Tracker tracks, such that if they are within 3 standard deviations from each other the object is called a PF muon. The tracks and clusters associated with the blocks are then removed from the collection.

Secondly, electrons are identified and reconstructed from the, now much smaller, collection of tracks. The Gaussian Sum Filter (GSF) method of associating clusters (described in Section 3.6.5) is used to differentiate between charged hadrons and electrons, and the electromagnetic shower must be narrow in η . Charged pions give rise to a source of fake electrons and are vetoed by other such parameters as the number of hits and χ^2 . Many other variables are then input into a multivariate analysis (MVA) tool which then provides a discriminant on whether or not the particle is an electron. If the particle passes the MVA (Table 3.3) it is then labelled as a particle flow electron.

By process of elimination, all that remains are charged hadron, neutral hadron, and photon candidates. By matching any charged tracks with an associated HCAL cluster, these particles are defined as PF charged hadrons. By implementing a distance parameter no double counting is ensured. Tracks associated with charged hadrons are then removed. Any remaining energy deposits in the HCAL are then known to originate from photons or neutral hadrons, differentiating between the two by the shower shape of the candidate. One can differentiate by using the energy profiles of electromagnetic showers, which are well predicted by Monte Carlo. Thus, PF neutral hadrons and PF photons are then defined. A graphical representation of this can be seen in Figure 3.6

3.6.5 Electron reconstruction

For the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ analysis it is imperative that the identification and energy-momentum requirements are measured extremely accurately as final state electrons, which are required in two of the three decay modes in the dilepton channel, can imitate a photon by passing the same selection, and therefore contaminating signal events. In order for electrons to be reconstructed with these strict requirements they are processed in a specific way.

The CMS ECAL and tracker systems are extremely accurate detectors, however reconstruction of energy deposits within the ECAL is still a complex task due to the density of material. As a charged particle traverses the detector volume, the energy lost due to interaction with the material is not negligible. Most charged particles are heavy enough such that the energy lost manifests in the form of multiple Coulomb scattering as the particle passes between material. However, in the case of electrons, the dominant process by which the energy is lost is due to bremsstrahlung, the process by which photons are emitted upon passing through the electric and magnetic fields of a nucleus, such as the material in the detectors.

Kalman fitters are a key tool used for the fitting of tracks in CMS due to their ability to incorporate noise amongst other inconsistencies, such as multiple scattering in track fitting, as Gaussian fluctuations. However, bremsstrahlung radiation is non-Gaussian, and as a result electron tracks are poorly reconstructed with the standard Kalman filter fitting. To account for this, CMS provides a dedicated tool for the reconstruction of electrons



Figure 3.6: An event display of a simple hadronic jet in the (x, y) view (top) and in the (η, ϕ) view, where η stands for pseudo-rapidity and ϕ for the azimuthal angle, on the ECAL surface (bottom left) and the HCAL surface (bottom right). (These two surfaces are represented as two circles centred around the interaction point in the first view.) The K_L^0 , the π^- and the two photons from the π^0 decay are detected as four well separated ECAL clusters (bottom left). The π^+ leaves no energy in the ECAL. The two charged pions are reconstructed as charged-particle tracks, appearing as vertical solid lines in the (η, ϕ) views and circular arcs in the (x, y) view. These tracks point towards two HCAL clusters (bottom right). In all three views, the cluster positions are represented by dots, the simulated particles by dashed lines, and the position of their impact on the calorimeter surfaces by various open markers [92].

using a Gaussian Sum filter (GSF) [114]. This method is implemented by calculating the trajectory of electrons using a "relaxed" Kalman filter, then re-fitted using a GSF. The GSF method differs from the standard Kalman fitting method by computing uncertainties as the sum of multiple Gaussians rather than individual Gaussians. The downside to this method lies in the additional CPU time needed to process the events.

The PF algorithm uses two different techniques of electron identification that are used as seeds when reconstructing an electron [115]. The first makes use of ECAL superclusters, extended clustering in ϕ due to bremsstrahlung and photon conversions in the ECAL, as seeds and projects back from the centre of the supercluster to the innermost layer of the pixel detector, and is thus known as "ECAL-seeding". It makes use of ECAL track properties, such as a narrow width in η and a wide spread in the azimuthal angle, ϕ . The energy deposits of the object and its associated bremsstrahlung form a single supercluster, where the performance of this method lies in the ability to correctly identify this. The method performs much more accurately in the high p_T region of the electrons, such that there are much fewer potential track seeds and energy clusters in the ECAL which are less likely to overlap with deposits from other objects, such as jets. This is especially true if the electron is part of a jet structure, and thus not isolated. Moreover, a high track multiplicity can complicate the backwards propagation from a supercluster and mimic the signal of another object.

The second, tracker-driven, method is much more suited for the efficient reconstruction of non-isolated and low p_T electrons as they will most likely emit negligible amounts of bremsstrahlung, and thus be fully reconstructed by extrapolating the tracks to superclusters. The cluster energy is then measured along with the track momentum, and if the ratio E/p is close enough to unity then the track is selected. However, Bremsstrahlung is not always negligible and other track properties are used in the calculation. For example, the number of hits recorded in the inner tracker and the χ^2_{KF} of the Kalman filter fit are taken into account before refitting using a GSF, before being characterised by a multivariate estimation tool [116].

After both procedures have been performed the two collections of electron candidates are merged into one where a GSF is run in order to determine the final properties of the object. It is important for the GSF to be run at this stage in the process such that more hits can be included in the reconstruction, thus providing a more accurate description of the electron's energy and momentum lost by interacting with the detector material. Upon completion of the process, the GSF electrons are passed to the PF algorithm.

3.6.6 Electron identification

Electrons are identified in the ECAL and can be recognised by their distinct shower shape deposited within the calorimeter crystals. However, other objects, such as charged hadrons, jets, and converted photons can have a very similar signature to an electron deposit and may be wrongly reconstructed as such. Therefore, in order to correctly reconstruct an electron candidate, further selection criteria must be implemented.

Individual physics analyses in CMS require different identification requirements tailored to personal needs, thus identification working points are initially required to be much looser than final cuts while still retaining a high efficiency of detecting electrons. When a further tight working point is implemented the efficiency for correctly selecting an electron increases. CMS uses various identification algorithms in order to correctly identify electrons: simple cut-based ID, cuts in categories ID, particle flow ID, and MVA ID. Each of which are used in the analysis described in this thesis, and are described below.

- Simple cut-based ID techniques, while not providing the greatest performance compared with other techniques, can be a useful tool in the understanding of the data and for making comparisons with MC. Fewer variables from Table 3.3 are used with this method, such as H/E, $\Delta \eta_{in}$ and $\Delta \phi_{in}$ between supercluster position and track direction at the vertex extrapolated to ECAL assuming no radiation, $\sigma_{i\eta i\eta}$ cluster and shape variables. [117]
- Cuts in categories ID is a more complex version of the simple cut-based identification techniques. It makes use of electrons originating from different sources, such as Z and W decays, while reducing the likelihood of wrongly selecting "fake" electrons originating from photon conversions or jet mis-identifications. However, the method has also been used to select electrons from alternative sources, such as the J/ψ . The problem of identifying electrons in CMS differs to that of other experiments due to the detector topology — the large amount of material from the tracker directly in front of the ECAL and the high magnetic field make it difficult to efficiently reconstruct electrons. It has been found that many of the problems faced in the identification of

electrons can be overcome by dividing the problem into categories. The most basic category sees the ECAL split into barrel and endcap regions due to the differences in topology in the two regions for both the inner tracker and ECAL. The second comes from the large amount of bremsstrahlung radiation in the tracker material, then using the measurement for E/p to account for the poor reconstruction of the track. The final category divides electrons into high- and low- E_T groups to correct for effects from the high magnetic field at high E_T .

The cuts in categories method uses the same variables as the simple cut-based method with the addition of track conversion rejection (number of missing hits near beginning of track), and track isolations with tracker isolation ($\Delta R = 0.3$), ECAL isolation ($\Delta R = 0.4$), HCAL isolation ($\Delta R = 0.4$). The cuts are applied such that the signal to background ratio is optimised, where there are several levels of cut severity: *VeryLoose, Loose, Medium, Tight, SuperTight, HyperTight (1-4)*. Each step of cut severity decreases the electron fake rate by roughly a factor of two for $E_T > 20$ GeV [118].

- **Particle Flow ID** is the loosest of all the electron identification techniques as it is a universal particle collection for all physics analyses. The method takes information from all subdetectors and combines it in order to create new observables to aid in the identification of electrons. These variables are shown in Table 3.3 and are input into a multivariate analysis tool which then results in a discriminating value. The MVA is trained with respect to signal and background MC samples [119].
- **MVA ID** is a multivariate analysis identification technique, and the most robust and common technique in physics analysis. It is used to identify electrons originating from W and Z bosons. The variables, show in Table 3.3, are used to produce a single discriminating value. The value is optimised by so called "training" of the MVA in different selection categories.

Variable	Description	
Track quality variables		
p_T	Transverse momentum of the GSF track.	
$\mid \eta$	Pseudorapidity of the GSF track.	

GSF σ_{p_T}/p_T	Transverse momentum resolution of the GSF track.	
$\# \mathrm{hits}_{KF}$	Number of reconstructed KF track hits.	
χ^2_{GSF} and χ^2_{KF}	GSF and KF goodness-of-fits.	
ECAL shower variables		
$\sigma_{i\eta i\eta}$	Cluster shape variable that gives a measure of the width of the	
	cluster in η , using the distribution of energy in a 5 block of crystals	
	around the seed crystal (the one with the highest energy) [120]:	
	$\sigma_{i\eta i\eta}^2 = \Sigma_{5\times 5 crystals} (\eta_i \eta_{seedcluster})^2 E_i / E_{seedcluster}$	
$\sigma^2_{i\phi i\phi}$	Cluster shape in ϕ .	
$\eta_{SC}(\phi_{SC})$	Width of the supercluster in $\eta(\phi)$.	
$1 - E_{1 \times 5} / E_{5 \times 5}$	$E_{1\times 5}$ is the energy in the central 1×5 strip of the 5×5 electron	
	cluster, and $E_{5\times 5}$ is its total energy.	
$E_{3\times3}/E_{SC,raw}$	Ratio of the energy in the preshower detector to the raw super-	
	cluster energy (only in the endcap region).	
Longitudinal shower shape variables		
H/E	Ratio of the hadronic energy associated with the electron candi-	
	date to the supercluster energy. The hadronic energy is found by	
	summing the HCAL towers in a cone of radius $\Delta R = 0.15$, centred	
	at the supercluster position.	
$H/(H+E_e)$	Hadron fraction of the shower, where H is the energy of the hadron	
	cluster linked to the GSF track.	
Track/supercluster matching variables		
$\Delta \eta_{in} \Delta \phi_{in}$	Distance in $\eta(\phi)$ between the supercluster position and the extrap-	
	olated track position.	
$\Delta \eta_{vtx} \Delta \phi_{vtx}$	Distance in $\eta(\phi)$ between the supercluster position and the position	
	of the GSF track at vertex.	
$(E_e + \sum E_{\gamma})/p_{in}$	Ratio of the supercluster energy to the inner track momentum.	
E_e/p_{out}	Ratio of the electron cluster energy to the outer track momentum.	
$1/E_{SC} - 1/p_T$	Difference between inverse supercluster energy and inverse track	
	momentum.	
Bremsstrahlung variables		

f_{brem}	Measured bremsstrahlung fraction, defined as: $f_{brem} = (p_{in} - p_{in})$
	$p_{out})/p_{in}$, where p_{in} is the initial track momentum at the vertex
	and p_{out} is the track momentum at the last hit.
$\sum E_{\gamma}/(p_{in-p_{out}})$	Ratio between the Bremsstrahlung photon energy as measured by
	ECAL and by the tracker.
EarlyBrem	Flag of $(E_e + \Sigma E_{\gamma}) > p_{in}$ inequality, corresponding to an elec-
	tron emitting an "early" Bremsstrahlung photon, i.e. before it has
	crossed at least three tracker layers.
LateBrem	Flag of $E_e > p_{out}$ inequality, corresponding to an electron emitting
	a "late" Bremsstrahlung electron, when the ECAL clustering is not
	able to disentangle the overlapping electron and photon showers.

Table 3.3: Variables used in electron identification algorithms [37].

3.6.7 Muon reconstruction

Reconstructing muons efficiently was one of the major focuses in the design of the CMS experiment, as can be seen from the name. A muon has a lifetime of around $\tau \sim 2.2 \,\mu$ s, thus allowing them to travel a relatively large distance through the detector. Higher transverse momentum muons, $p_T > 20 \,\text{GeV}$, are energetic enough to traverse the entire detector without feeling any effects from Coulomb scattering, while muons with a transverse momentum of $p_T < 5 \,\text{GeV}$ are generally stopped within the detector volume and decay to an electron and two neutrinos via the electroweak force. Muons are also reconstructed using the PF algorithm (Section 3.6.4), however, there are subtle differences between the standard usage of the PF algorithm and PF for muon identification, as will be described in this section. In relation to a top quark analysis, muons are produced from the W boson produced from the decay of the top. As a result, the muon will be produced at a close proximity to the primary vertex, and will also be well isolated.

In order to reconstruct muons, two types of tracks are used: tracks reconstructed from hits in the inner tracker (tracker hits), and in the muon system known as "standalonemuon" tracks. Reconstruction in the muon system begins with hits in either the DT or CSC which have been merged to create short track segments. The Kalman Filter technique is then used to combine the segments into full tracks, as described in Section 3.6.1. Muons are then defined in two ways [121]:

- **Tracker Muons** are reconstructed such that every track found in the inner tracker with $p_T > 0.5 \text{ GeV}$ and |p| > 2.5 GeV is regarded as a muon candidate. The standalonemuon candidate is then extrapolated to the muon system, while taking into account factors such as the magnetic field, energy losses from traversing the detector volume, and uncertainties from multiple scattering. If the muon candidate satisfies both conditions of being in the tracker and extrapolated to the muon system, the object is then defined as a muon. This method is also known as the 'inside-out' method.
- Global Muons use the "outside-in" method to reconstruct muons, conversely to tracker muons. This method works by taking a standalone-muon reconstructed in the muon system and matching it with a tracker muon by propagating onto a common surface. A global fit is then performed with the properties of both muon candidates, thus giving a global muon.

The two techniques for muon reconstruction are used in conjunction with one another due to the efficiency for tagging muons at different p_T thresholds. For the case of global muons, a muon with a higher transverse momentum ($p_T > 20 \text{ GeV}$) is more efficiently reconstructed due to the tracking depositing energy in each of the muon chambers. Conversely, muons with a lower p_T ($p_T < 5 \text{ GeV}$) are more efficiently reconstructed in the tracking system, requiring a single muon segment. For the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ analysis, the requirement of one or two reasonably high p_T muons means that it benefits from the use of both types of reconstruction method.

Once reconstructed, muons must undergo a series of quality checks in order to suppress punch through hadrons (hadrons that have a high enough energy to penetrate into the muon system from the HCAL). The following properties are used to select good muons for the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ analysis:

- The number of hits in the muon chamber in the global muon fit.
- The number of muon stations with muon segments.

- Normalised chi-squared $(\chi^2/N_{d.o.f})$ of the global muon fit.
- The number of pixel detector hits.
- The number of hits in the tracker layers.
- Transverse impact parameter d_{xy} (closest approach of the track to the primary vertex with respect to direction).
- Longitudinal distance d_z of the tracker track with respect to the primary vertex.

Muons can also be produced within jets. The PF algorithm reconstructs such particles and identifies them in order to reduce the fake rate of charged hadrons being misidentified. This technique is essential for the measurement of MET.

3.7 Higher-level Object Reconstruction

This section describes different techniques to reconstruct higher-level objects, such as jets and missing transverse energy, a process which happens post identification and reconstruction of objects. Higher-level objects must also be corrected for detector defects and other inconsistencies, and this process is also described.

3.7.1 Jet reconstruction

A jet is defined to be when a quark or gluon hadronises in an event, producing a narrow cone of collinear objects moving in the same direction. As described in Section 1, particles can not exist in an unbounded state as they carry a property known as colour and are confined within a hadron, and as a result they must fragment and form a hadron to be observed directly. Essentially, by reconstructing the sub-structures of jets, the quantum-mechanical process of fragmentation and hadronisation is being reverse-engineered. Therefore, in order to measure the initial energy and momentum, the combined properties of the reconstructed jet must be measured.

Jets play an integral part in the identification of top quark events where, at the very least, there are two jets in the final state due to the hadronisation of b quarks. In the dilepton channels the case is as described previously, however, in the semi-leptonic and fully hadronic top decay channels, at least four jets are present in the final state. The jets originate from the hadronisation of the b quark, and W boson decaying to quarks, which in turn hadronise to create jets.

In order to reconstruct jets, the PF algorithm is first implemented in order to reconstruct single objects (muons, electrons, charged hadrons, neutral hadrons, and photons) before using clustering techniques to combine collinear particles to form jets. Various algorithms have been developed to compute the clustering of objects to form jets, such as the k_t [122], Cambridge/Aachen [123], and SISCone [124] jet clustering algorithms. However, the most widely used jet clustering algorithm is the anti- k_t [125] algorithm, which is used by the majority of the CMS collaboration. There are two main requirements that reconstructed jets must comply with:

- Collinear safe: should not be affected by collinear parton splitting.
- Infra-red safe: should not be affected by soft gluon emissions.

A low sensitivity to pile-up and underlying events is also preferred in a jet clustering algorithm.

The anti- k_t algorithm is particularly insensitive to pile-up and underlying events. Starting by defining a distance parameter, $d_{i,j}$, between entities (particles, pseudojets), and distance parameter d_{iB} between entity i and the beam, B. The clustering method then begins by identifying the smallest of the distances, and if the smallest is $d_{i,j}$ then it recombines objects i and j, otherwise if the smallest distance is d_{iB} then i is defined as a jet and is removed from the list of objects. The procedure is then repeated in an iterative fashion until there are no more objects to run over. The distances $d_{i,j}$ and d_{iB} are defined as:

$$d_{ij} = \min\left(\frac{1}{k_{t,i}^2}, \frac{1}{k_{t,j}^2}\right) \cdot \frac{\Delta_{i,j}^2}{R^2}$$
(3.5)

$$d_{iB} = \frac{1}{k_{t,i}^2}$$
(3.6)

where $\Delta_{i,j}^2 = (y_i - y_j)^2 + (\phi_i - \phi_j)^2$, $k_{t,i/j}$, $y_{i/j}$, and $\phi_{i/j}$ are the transverse momentum, rapidity, and azimuthal angle of each particle *i* and *j*, respectively. *R* is defined as the cone radius parameter. The anti- k_t algorithm outputs conical jets such that their boundaries are less susceptible to soft radiation.

3.7.2 Jet identification

PF jet identification is used in order to reduce the amount of noise and the rate of electrons mis-reconstructed as jets. In order to correctly reconstruct jets, a number of observables are used as listed below:

- Number of particles in jet.
- Neutral hadron energy fraction (NHF).
- Neutral electromagnetic energy fraction (NEF).
- Charged EM energy fraction (CEF).
- Charged hadron energy fraction (CHF).
- Charged hadron multiplicity (NCH).

3.7.3 Jet energy corrections

Upon reconstruction of jets, it is found that the jet energy is not the same when comparing MC generator and detector-level jets, even when reconstructed using the same algorithm. This is found to be due to the non-linear and non-uniformity of the CMS calorimetry, and a mis-modelling between MC simulation and performance of the detector including areas where a large amount of electronic noise and pile-up is observed. In order to correct for such discrepancies, corrections must be applied to the reconstructed jet energy - Jet Energy Corrections (JEC). The overall goal is to achieve a detector response that is linear and uniform in η , where the detector response is defined as the average amount of signal per unit energy deposited.

CMS has developed a factorised three tier system in order to apply jet energy corrections [126], such that each level corrects for a different effect. The corrections are then applied to the four-momentum of the jet. The three levels are described below:

- L1 Pile-up corrects for any energy that does not originate from the hard-scattering event, including detector noise from electronics, and pile-up events.
- L2 Relative Jet Correction derives an η -dependent scale factor in order to flatten the detector response in order to account for the non-uniformity of the detector. MC

and data-driven methods are used to calculate the relative correction scale factors using the dijet balance method. The corrections are measured using only the barrel region ($|\eta| < 1.3$) and in bins of p_T , such that they are completely uncorrelated with the L3 absolute correction described below.

• L3 Absolute Jet Correction is a p_T -dependent correction used to correct back to particle level by applying absolute p_T correction. This is derived using MC truth information, or data-driven dileptonic decays from $Z/\gamma^* + Jets$ samples, with the aim of flattening the jet response in p_T .

There is also an extra component in the correction factor calculation that arises from discrepancies between MC modelling and data. This step is defined as **L2L3 Residual** and is only applied to data [127]. Higher order jet corrections, due to flavour-dependency, are also computed, however these are not included in this analysis. Uncertainties from each of the stages of correction are then convoluted into a single Jet Energy Correction (JEC) systematic uncertainty included in the final result.

3.7.4 B-tagged jets

B-tagged jets are defined to be jets that manifest from the hadronisation of a b-quark. The process of identification of b-jets, b-tagging, is an extremely important and vital part of physics analysis, and top quark physics in particular. As the top quark decays to a W boson and a b quark almost 100% of the time, efficiently identifying b-jets significantly decreases the background contamination of the top quark signal process, and thus there is a strong need for b-tagging. Similar to non b-tagged jets, there are various algorithms that have been developed by CMS that measure b-tagged jets [128], with the most successful being the Combined Secondary Vertex (CSV) algorithm [129]. This method is derived from the prolonged life-time of the b-quark $(10^{-12}s)$, and the fact that they decay to up and charm quarks, transitions which are Cabibbo suppressed by the Standard Model and can be seen in the CKM matrix. A highly-relativistic b-quark will travel through the detector around 450 μ m, as a product of its long life-time, which is an observable length that can be measured by the pixel detector. This allows for a displaced secondary vertex to be used as a tool for the identification of b-jets, as seen in Figure 3.7.



Figure 3.7: Schematic showing a displaced secondary vertex due to a b-quark decay from the primary vertex forming a b-jet. The impact parameter, d_0 , measures the displacement with respect to the primary vertex along the z-axis, and L_{xy} measures the displacement from the primary vertex in the transverse plane.

B-tagged jets are particularly prominent due to their large mass, $4.18 \text{ GeV}/c^2$, and thus a large multiplicity of charged particles are produced during hadronisation carrying the majority of the jet energy. The most commonly used b-tagging algorithm is the CSV [129] algorithm, which takes the following input parameters:

- Track multiplicity in jet.
- Track multiplicity at secondary vertex.
- Secondary vertex category.
- The invariant mass of charged particles from the secondary vertex must not exceed $6.6 \text{ GeV}/c^2$ which would surpass the mass of the bottom quark when convoluted with its uncertainties.
- The ratio of the sum of the track energy at the secondary vertex to the sum of track energy of all tracks in jet.
- η of the secondary vertex tracks with respect to the jet axis.
- The distance, L_{xy} , in the transverse plane between the primary and secondary vertex must be greater than 100 μ m and be less than 2.5 cm.
- Impact parameter significance $(L_{xy}/\sigma_{L_{xy}})$ of the highest p_T track, increasing the invariant mass above the threshold for charm production of 1.5 GeV.

The algorithm begins by looking for a secondary vertex with the properties listed above. Using all particles in the jet, the algorithm uses a similar Kalman Filter [130] as for the reconstruction of primary vertices in order to reconstruct secondary vertices. If a secondary vertex is not found with this information, then a "pseudo-secondary vertex" is computed using information from the tracks that are were found to not be compatible with a primary vertex. The algorithm combines all of the information from the observables and calculates a discriminating value which is used to designate whether a jet is a "light jet" (a jet that manifests from a u, d, or s quark), a charmed jet (from a c quark), or a b-tagged jet. The CSV discriminator output can be seen in Figure 3.8, showing the efficiency of correctly identifying a b-jet.



Figure 3.8: Logarithmic distribution of the partons as a function of the CSV b-tagging discriminant [131].

3.7.5 Reconstruction of Missing Transverse Energy

The conservation of momentum dictates that in an event, the sum of the p_T of all final state particles (partons) must be equal to 0, as would be the case in a perfect detector. However, this is not the case within the CMS detector as particles, such as underlying events and proton remnants, are able to traverse the detector without being reconstructed. This introduces an imbalance in the measured transverse energy deposited in the detector, the MET. The MET in an event is defined to be:

$$E_T^{miss} = -\sum_i (p_x^2 + p_y^2)^{1/2}$$
(3.7)

where p_x and p_y are the transverse momenta of reconstructed particles (partons) in the x and y axes.

The reconstruction of MET is of particular importance when dealing with a measurement where the presence of weakly-interacting Standard Model particles are measured in the final state, such as neutrinos. With respect to the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ analysis, a large amount of MET is expected due to the presence of two neutrinos in the final state for each decay mode (excluding the $e\mu$ channel) of the dilepton channel, as the W from the top quark will decay to a lepton-neutrino pair 1/9th of the time. These channels, and other similar analyses, rely on the efficient reconstruction of MET in order to accurately measure certain processes, and any misidentification or poorly reconstructed particles add to the MET sum further reducing the accuracy of a measurement.

Various methods for the reconstruction of MET in events have been conducted and are available [132]. The current most accurate method for the measurement of the MET is by using the PF algorithm, and is used throughout this analysis. The PF algorithm calculates the value of the MET from the list of PF particles, thus producing a "raw" MET output which is systematically different from the final MET calculation. The "raw" MET value is calculated without taking into account the non-linearity of the calorimeters, noise from electronics, PU, along with any other effects. Therefore, a set of corrections is implemented as described below:

Type-0 corrects for the effects of pile-up on the MET.

Type-1 propagates the jet energy corrections into the MET (see Section 3.7.3).

xy-shift corrects for ϕ modulation in the MET.

The source of the ϕ modulation arises from misalignment of the detector relative to the beam, beam-spot displacement, an anisotropic detector response, and also broken or inactive cells within the calorimetry system. The correction for the shift in x-y is implemented in order to restore the spherical symmetry of events, and flatten the distribution in ϕ , thus correcting the measured distribution to the true distribution. This analysis makes use of all correction types using PF calculated MET.

Chapter 4

Event Selection

A point has now been reached where all the physics objects have been identified and reconstructed in the data, as described in Chapter 3, a set of kinematic and topological selection requirements are imposed on each of the objects in order to provide a subset of the data enriched in signal events. The signal sample still contains background contamination that must be corrected for. Simulated MC samples are produced and used to optimise the number of signal events within this sample, thus rejecting as much background as possible. The selection process, including kinematic, topological, and fiducial selection requirements on the final state objects is described in detail in the first part of this chapter.

Even though the data is modelled using simulated MC samples, which are an essential tool for modelling distributions in particle physics, this is not always enough to provide a robust and accurate estimate of the yield associated with any given process. In this case, additional methods for the estimation of background processes are used to purify the signal sample by removing events that are not, in fact, the final state signal event. These methods can be MC-driven and data-driven, and are described in the second part of this chapter.

4.1 Event Selection

For the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ analysis the selection of physics objects is computed in three stages: A **skim** is implemented when processing signal and background MC samples in order to reduce the number of events at analysis level to become much more manageable, a **pre-selection** of

 $t\bar{t}$ events is then computed for each final state, respectively, following the recommended top event selection group reference [133], and finally the full **selection**, which includes an isolated photon radiated from a top quark or its decay products. The full analysis work-flow can be seen in Figure 4.1

It is important to reconstruct the number of $t\bar{t}$ events before including a radiated photon such that the sample is much cleaner. The pre-selection events have been constructed by following the CMS recommendation for cut-based selection of top-quark pair events with the requirement of the presence of at least two jets, of which at least one is a b-tagged jet. Individual objects are reconstructed based on specific criteria, such as electrons, muons, jets, and photons. Then an additional set of selection requirements is applied based on the relative positions of the objects (ΔR selection requirements). After that, the final decision is made as to whether the event is to be retained for further analysis.

4.2 Pre-selection: Selection of $t\bar{t}$ Events

The pre-selection steps define a sample of $t\bar{t}$ events before requiring the presence of a radiated photon. The selection follows the recommended selection from the TOP Reference Selections and Recommendations (Run 1) [133] designed to select dilepton final states with two isolated oppositely charged leptons, at least two jets where at least one is a b-tagged jet, and MET to account for the two neutrinos produced in W boson decay alongside the leptons. All objects in the selection are reconstructed using the PF algorithm as described in Section 3.6.4.

The steps for selecting di-muon and di-electron events are as follows:

- Skim
- Event cleaning and trigger
- dilepton selection
- Z-mass veto
- ≥ 1 jet
- ≥ 2 jets



Figure 4.1: Flow chart showing each stage of the analysis. The box numbers represent the outlined analysis steps.

- Missing transverse energy selection
- $\geq 1 \text{ CSV b-jet}$

For the mixed channel, events are selected with two oppositely signed leptons, where one is an electron and the other a muon. Due to the final state containing different flavour leptons, the number of events stemming from the Drell-Yan process is significantly reduced, and therefore there is no need for a Z-mass veto such that is used for the same flavour lepton channels. For the same reason, there is no requirement for a cut on the MET. The event selection for mixed final state event topologies are as shown below:

- Skim
- Event cleaning and trigger
- dilepton selection
- ≥ 1 jet
- ≥ 2 jets
- $\geq 1 \text{ CSV b-jet}$

Each step will be discussed in greater detail within the following sections.

4.3 Skim

As mentioned above, a "skim" is introduced in order to reduce the number of events, and thus size of nTuples, for offline analysis. Implementing a skim reduces computing time considerably. For the skim, the following set of nominal selection cuts are required:

- The requirement of at least two leptons, excluding τ leptons.
- Electrons are defined as loose electrons and are required to have a transverse momentum of $p_T(e) > 20$ GeV and lie in the pseudorapidity range $|\eta(e)| < 2.5$.
- Muons are defined as loose muons and are required to have a transverse momentum of $p_T(\mu) > 20$ GeV and lie in the pseudorapidity range $|\eta(\mu)| < 2.4$.
- Jets are required to have a transverse momentum of $p_T(jet) > 30$ GeV and lie within a pseudorapitiy range of $|\eta(jet)| < 2.6$.

Final State	High Level Trigger Path
$\mu^+\mu^-$	HLT_Mu17_Mu8_v*
e^+e^-	HLT_Ele17_CaloIdT_CaloIsoVL_TrkIdVL_TrkIsoVL
	$_Ele8_CaloIdT_CaloIsoVL_TrkIdVL_TrkIsoVL_v^*$
$e\mu$	HLT_Mu17_Ele8_CaloIdT_CaloIsoVL_TrkIdVL_TrkIsoVL_v*,
	HLT_Mu8_Ele17_CaloIdT_CaloIsoVL_TrkIdVL_TrkIsoVL_v*

Table 4.1: Triggers for each dilepton channel.

4.4 Trigger and Event Cleaning

4.4.1 Trigger selection

As the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ analysis is studied as a dilepton final state, the requirement of at least two oppositely charged leptons (electrons or muons only) is essential. These datasets are identified by the trigger system (as described in Section 2.8) to contain two leptons. Triggers are generally divided into two categories: single object triggers that fire on one or more objects of the same flavour passing certain pre-selection requirements, such as p_T and η , and cross-triggers that select two objects of different flavour as predetermined by the user. For this analysis, both types of triggers are implemented in order to select the three final states in question. The list of trigger paths can be seen in Table 4.1.

Each trigger path name explains the selection requirements on the objects that it triggers on. The first term in the trigger path, in this case HLT, refers to the Higher Level Trigger which is described in Section 2.8. The term Mu refers to a reconstructed muon and Ele refers to a reconstructed electron, where the succeeding number represents an associated energy threshold for the particle. For example, the di-muon channel uses a single flavour object trigger to select two muons and is used with the requirements that one of the muons has a p_T greater than 8 GeV and the second greater than 17 GeV. The version of the trigger is denoted in the trigger path as v^{*}, as the trigger path changes with the trigger table used. It should be noted that a different trigger version does not in fact require a change in trigger path. At this level the number of energy deposits within the calorimetry is still too large for the trigger rate to be usable, and thus extra selection requirements on top of those required by the trigger system must be imposed.

One way to reduce the trigger rate is to impose a selection requirement on the transverse momentum threshold of the particles in question greater than that required by the trigger; however, this holds drawbacks for analyses that then wish to implement more stringent selection requirements within offline analysis. Another method, and one that is used primarily in electron trigger studies, is to reduce trigger rates to a more feasible level by introducing isolation and identification requirements; these are indicated by the "Iso" and "Id" terms that can be seen in the di-electron and $e\mu$ trigger path names. The objects must then also pass simple isolation and identification criteria, thus reducing the trigger rate. The information for each is obtained from both the calorimeter (e.g. CaloIso) and tracker (e.g. TrkId) by placing requirements on such parameters as the shape of the energy cluster in the ECAL, the total number of energy depositions in the ECAL, and the angular separation between the ECAL and tracker-energy deposits. Three categories of selection are implemented for each inematic selection requirement, and are listed as Tight (T), Loose (L), and Very Loose (VL) as can be seen in the trigger paths. These signify the harshness of the cuts when applied. This can be visualised, for example, in the dielectron channel where the HLT calls for two electrons, where one must pass a transverse momentum threshold of 8 GeV with a tight requirement on calorimeter identification, and very loose requirements on calorimeter isolation and tracker identification and isolation. The other electron must pass a transverse momentum threshold of 17 GeV with the same calorimeter and tracker isolation and identification requirements.

HLT paths are used for the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ analysis such that if the event does not pass the requirement of the trigger, then it is not included in the result. Single object triggers are used for both the di-muon and di-electron channels, and two cross-triggers were used for the $e\mu$ channel as the final state selection requires two oppositely charged leptons (electrons or muons) where one is an electron and the other a muon. The triggers were processed specifically for the $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV data-taking period that corresponds to an integrated luminosity of 19.6 fb⁻¹.

4.4.2 Filtering

Known anomalies derived from detector and accelerator effects have to be accounted for in the processing of data. To counter these effects, several 'cleaning' filters are incorporated after trigger selection, but before any further selection cuts are applied. The first of these replicates **beam scraping** by including a **tight CSC Beam Halo Filter**. It is found that, even with the accuracy and precision that the LHC provides on accelerating bunches of protons, protons have a tendency to diverge radially from the bunch and form what is known as the beam halo that circulates the accelerator with each bunch. In early analyses it was found that the beam halo particles can be picked up in the detectors and be reconstructed as part of an event. Due to sensitivity to beam halo particles in the muon detectors, a filter is introduced based on muon tracking kinematics that allows these events to be vetoed. Beam halo particles can also be removed from the beam within the LHC by introducing collimating blocks around the beam line at various points around the accelerator. This, however, presents another problem in the form of showering as the particles interact with the collimator blocks, and are then detected by the experiments. This is known as beam scraping. These events are accounted for and removed from analyses by introducing the requirement that at least 25% of reconstructed tracks within the inner detector pass the high purity threshold (see Section 3.6.1).

Similarly, a **HCAL noise filter** is employed in order to remove events with anomalous noise within the HCAL. CMS expects a certain degree of noise, stemming from the electronics of the detector, to be present when recording data, however, the majority of anomalous noise in the HCAL is found to originate in the Hybrid Photo-Triodes (HPT) and their corresponding read-out boxes. At the current energy scale this is not a problem as the noise appears as large, isolated energy deposits. Anomalous events have easilyidentifiable signatures such as the isolation of the noise within HCAL, and the multiplicity in the individual read-out boxes. So, if a signal demonstrates very little change in pulse shape over time, and the read-out boxes display a high multiplicity, then an event is rejected. The next filter comes in the form of the **HCAL laser filter**, such that the laser is used to excite the scintillators in order to synchronise channels. The need for the laser filter first manifested during the 2011 data taking period when a much greater number of hits per event was observed than was expected: approximately 5000 per event. The HCAL laser filter was then designed and introduced for the 2012 data taking period.

4.5 Dilepton Selection and Vetoes

For the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ analysis, leptons form a key part of the signature in the final state. The leptons are taken from the list of PF-reconstructed objects and then required to pass additional selection requirements to refine the events further after the trigger selection described in Section 4.4 has been applied. Along with the signal leptons, a set of "looser" PF objects are selected as veto objects, such that the signal leptons are a subset of these objects. If an event has multiple loose selection leptons then the event is removed from the list of possible signal candidates.

The number of selected leptons differs for each decay mode, and thus three separate sets of selection criteria must be created for the di-muon, di-electron, and mixed channels, respectively. Selection requirements on the leptons vary depending on the channel, but are taken from the recommended values produced by the central "Top Event Selection" group [133].

4.5.1 Electrons

PF electron candidates are selected for the di-electron and $e\mu$ channel if they have been identified using the GSF method, as described in Section 3.6.6, and pass the HLT for each channel, respectively. The purity of top pair events is then improved by imposing a further set of selection requirements taken from the recommended top reference selection [134]. The selection requirements for a "tight" electron are as follows:

- Electrons must satisfy a p_T threshold of > 20 GeV.
- Electrons must lie within the pseudorapidity region $|\eta| < 2.5$, excluding the EB-EE transition region $1.4442 < |\eta| < 1.5660$.
- The transverse IP of the electron (GSF) track with respect to the first offline primary vertex must be less than 0.04 cm.
- The combined relative Particle Flow (PF) ρ-corrected isolation in a cone of radius 0.3 must be less than 0.15.
- The trigger version of the electron multivariate discriminator Trigger MVAID must be greater than 0.5.

- Conversion rejection: there should be no extra tracks pointing in the same direction.
- The ratio of energy deposited in the HCAL over the energy deposited in the ECAL to be less than 0.05.

For electrons, an additional identification process is included, which uses a multivariate analysis to combine the information from several variables to produce a discriminator value between -1 and 1, such that the greater the number the more likely the object is to be an electron (as described in Section 3.6.6). Depending on whether the HLT requires an electron or not, a different version of the discriminant is used.

One of the main criteria for lepton selection is the requirement of isolation. Generally, the isolation is defined to be the sum of the p_T of the reconstructed objects within a cone by which the radius is defined, and then dividing by the p_T of the object. If it is found that this produced a small number, then it is said that the object is isolated. It is necessary to include the effect of event PU into the calculation of isolation, and thus introduce a correction factor. It is then possible to remove charged hadron tracks from the isolation sum if they do not originate from the event's primary vertex. For the case of neutral hadrons and photons that originate from PU, an effective area is defined for the electron and then an average energy is subtracted over this area. For electrons, the isolation is defined as follows:

$$I_{\rho} = \frac{I_{ChargedHadron} + max \left(I_{NeutralHadron} + I_{\gamma} - \rho \cdot Eff.Area_{electron}, 0 \right)}{p_{T}}$$
(4.1)

such that $I_{ChargedHadron}$, $I_{NeutralHadron}$, and I_{γ} are the isolation cones with a fixed radius of $\Delta R = 0.3$ containing the energy deposits for each category of particle: charged hadron, neutral hadron, and photon. The ρ and $Eff.Area_{electron}$ parameters are the energy density of the event and the effective area for the electron which is calculated by taking the supercluster pseudorapidity η_{SC} and electron p_T .

When a photon produced in collisions interacts with the detector material of the inner tracker it can pair-produce two electrons, thus mimicking the signature of an electron: this is known as a conversion. This has been found to represent a large source of fake electrons. The CMS EGamma working group have developed two methods in order to mitigate this effect: measuring missing hits within the tracker system and measuring associated secondary tracks. The first technique measures the number of hits in the layers of the tracker and looks for any missing hits in the electron's associated track. If there are any missing hits, then the electron is considered to be a conversion, and is discarded. The second method requires a secondary electron/positron track such that it reconstructs the pair under a certain criteria: if that second track is not found to be within 0.02 cm in the $r - \phi$ plane and the $\cot \theta$ between the two tracks differs by less than 0.02 then the electron is considered a conversion.

A set of loose electron candidates is defined by applying the recommended cuts as for signal electrons but with less stringent requirements, such that the signal electrons are a subset of the loose electrons. **Loose electrons** are defined to have the following cuts:

- Transverse momentum p_T greater than 10 GeV.
- Absolute value of pseudorapidity less than 2.5.
- Combined relative Particle Flow (PF) ρ corrected isolation in cone 0.3 less than 0.15.
- Trigger version of electron multivariate discriminator: Non-Trigger MVAID greater than 0.

4.5.2 Muons

For the **signal muons**, once they have passed the PF selection described in Section 3.6.7, additional requirements taken from the recommended Muon Physics Object Group (POG) [135] are imposed as follows:

- Transverse momentum p_T greater than 20 GeV.
- Muons must lie within the pseudorapidity region $|\eta| < 2.4$, excluding the EB-EE transition region $1.4442 < |\eta| < 1.5660$.
- The combined relative Particle Flow (PF) ρ-corrected isolation in a cone of radius 0.4 must be less than 0.2.
- Identified as a particle flow muon.
- Identified as both a tracker and global muon.

The relative isolation for the signal muon candidates is PU correction, which is much less complicated to compute than electron relative isolation. The technique for computing muon relative isolation by way of PU correction is known as $\Delta\beta$ correction and removes the neutral hadron and photon isolation from the isolation sum within a fixed cone of radius $\Delta R = 0.4$. The relative isolation for muons can be computed as follows:

$$I_{\Delta\beta} = \frac{I_{ChargedHadron} + max \left(I_{NeutralHadron} + I_{\gamma} - 0.5 \cdot I_{Pileup}, 0 \right)}{p_T}$$
(4.2)

where the I_{Pileup} parameter is the neutral hadron energy within the cone, and the factor of 0.5 is a rough estimate of the ratio of neutral hadron to charged hadron in pile-up events. Muons are categorised as being isolated if it satisfies $I_{\Delta\beta} < 0.2$ within an isolation cone of $\Delta R = 0.4$.

The production of muons from in-flight decays is found to be much more prominent in data than in simulation. This results in a number of fake muons being recorded. In order to account for the number of fakes, the implementation of further selection requirements is needed, such that at least one hit is required in each of the pixel detector and muon detector, and that at least six hits are recorded in the inner tracking system, with two corresponding hits in the outer muon system (the drift tubes).

Loose Muons are selected from PF muons failing the muon selection that have, and are selected to have, less severe requirements as listed below:

- Transverse momentum p_T greater than 10 GeV.
- Absolute value of pseudorapidity less than 2.5.
- Combined relative Particle Flow (PF) ρ corrected isolation in a cone of radius 0.4 less than 0.2.
- Identified as a particle flow muon.
- Identified as both a tracker and global muon.

The lead and second lepton transverse momentum distributions, along with the invariant mass of the two selected leptons, are shown in Figure 4.2. All other dilepton kinematic and mass distributions can be seen in Figure A.3.1, and a good agreement is seen between the data and simulation.



Figure 4.2: Lead lepton p_T (top left), second lepton p_T (top right), and dilepton mass (bottom) for the $\mu^+\mu^-$ channel only after $t\bar{t}$ selection. The upper plots show the distribution of the variable, where the black markers represent the data and the solid colours represent the signal and background MC samples. The lower plots show the ratio of data to MC. The hashed markings represent the error on the MC.

4.6 Jet Selection and b-tag Requirements

Jets are reconstructed with the AK5 PF algorithm, which is the anti- k_T algorithm with jet size parameter (R) of 5 in the jet reconstruction model. Before applying any selection the following corrections are made to account for imperfect jet energy measurement: Jet Energy Scale correction and Jet Energy Resolution smearing, as described in Section 3.7.1. After jets are identified and reconstructed, the following set of selection requirements are applied:

- Transverse momentum greater than 30 GeV.
- Absolute value of pseudorapidity less than 2.4.
- Number of constituents greater than 1.
- Charge multiplicity greater than 0.
- Neutral hadron fraction of energy less than 0.99.
- Neutral electromagnetic energy fraction less than 0.99.
- Charged EM energy fraction less than 0.99.
- Charged hadron energy fraction greater than 0.

These selection requirements help to avoid picking up detector noise and ECAL spikes as jets. A selection criterion is also imposed such that if a lepton lies within a cone of $\Delta R = 0.3$ then the lepton is included within the jet calculation. CMS improves the quality of reconstructed jets by the requirement that the energy deposits from a jet are recorded in both the ECAL and HCAL, where jets that manifest from anomalous deposits of energy in just one of the sub-detectors are able to be removed from the sample [136]. The jet transverse momentum, pseudorapidity, and number of jets in the di-muon channel can be seen in Figure 4.3. All other variables for each decay channel can be seen in Section A.3.2

B-tagged jets are identified with the Combined Secondary Vertex b-tagging algorithm using the loose working point (CSVL). Event re-weighting is applied to correct for the difference in b-tagging efficiency between data and simulation as explained in Section 4.11. The loose working point refers to a b-tagging misidentification probability of 24.4%. In each decay channel is the requirement of at least 2 good jets, where a good jet passes all the aforementioned selection requirements, where at least one of the jets is a b-tagged jet. By applying these requirements the contribution from the most prominent backgrounds, $t\bar{t}$ and events with additional loose jets, are removed.

4.7 Missing Transverse Energy

The missing transverse energy (MET) selection requirement is implemented only within the di-muon and di-electron channels as the mixed channel is better defined such that different flavour quarks in the final state reduce the contribution from Drell-Yann process considerably, and therefore less likely to be misreconstructed in the detector. Due to the small cross section for the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ process, and the much smaller branching ratio of the dilepton channel relative to the semileptonic channel, the requirement of > 20 GeV, compared to the nominal 40 GeV, is imposed in order to increase statistics. Figure 4.4 shows the MET, the azimuthal angle ϕ of the MET, and the MET significance, where the MET significance assesses on an event-by-event basis the likelihood that an observed MET is consistent with a fluctuation from zero due to detector-related limitations, such as finite measurement resolution. The distributions for the other variables can be seen in Figure A.3.3.

4.8 Comparison of Data and Simulation for $t\bar{t}$ Selection

After implementing all of the aforementioned selection requirements for $t\bar{t}$ events, a comparison of the events from data and from simulation can be conducted in order to test the agreement between the two. Figure 4.5 shows the photon transverse energy and absolute pseudorapidity for each of the decay channels, and it can be seen that, after all selection requirements have been introduced in both data and simulation, there is good agreement between data and simulation.

4.9 Selection of $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ Events

From the set of $t\bar{t}$ preselected events in Section 4.2, only events with a photon candidate present are selected. Fiducial requirements are implemented in both $|\eta|$ and E_T . CMS



Figure 4.3: Comparison of the sum of the transverse momentum and η in all reconstructed jets (top), and number of jets (bottom) per event for the $\mu^+\mu^-$ channel only after $t\bar{t}$ selection.



Figure 4.4: The missing transverse energy distributions in terms of missing energy, azimuthal angle ϕ , and MET significance for the $\mu^+\mu^-$ channel only after $t\bar{t}$ selection.


Figure 4.5: Comparison of the photon E_T and $|\eta|$ distributions in data and simulation in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels after $t\bar{t}$ selection.

recommended selection requirements are implemented along with photon selection (loose cut-based photon ID 2012 with particle flow-based isolation, [137]). In order to suppress Final State Radiation (FSR), a ΔR requirement for photons between jets and leptons is applied.

The fiducial cuts on the photon are given as follows:

- **Transverse energy** A transverse energy cut of $E_T > 25$ GeV is implemented in order to suppress the numerous low energy fake photons and photons from vertices other than the primary vertex. The transverse energy distribution for each decay channel can be seen in Figure 4.6, where a good agreement is observed between data and MC.
- **Pseudorapidity** An acceptance cut on the fiducial region of just the CMS ECAL barrel (EB), $|\eta| < 1.4442$, is applied to ensure that the electromagnetic shower of the photon will be fully reconstructed. The ECAL Endcap (EE) is not included in this analysis due to the difficulty in identifying a photon in this region.

The fiducial variable distributions are shown in Figure 4.6.

4.9.1 Cut based photon identification

The cut-based photon isolation requirements are taken from the recommended values [137], with the inclusion of supercluster footprint-removed isolation (see Section 4.9.3). They are described below:

- **Electron Conversion Veto** A boolean to help distinguish an electron from a photon. A track seed should not be seen in the pixel detector when identifying a photon.
- Tower Based H/E The ratio of energy deposited in the HCAL divided by the fraction of energy deposited in the ECAL. The ratio is required to be less than 5%.

Shower Width $\sigma_{i\eta i\eta}$ The shower shape weighted by energy, is defined as:

$$\sigma_{i\eta i\eta} = \left(\frac{\sum(\eta_i - \bar{\eta})\omega_i}{\sum\omega_i}\right)^{1/2}; \quad \bar{\eta} = \frac{\sum\eta_i\omega}{\sum\omega_i}; \quad \omega_i = \max\left(0, 4.7 + \log\frac{E_i}{E_{5\times 5}}\right) \quad (4.3)$$

This is a key variable in this analysis and will be discussed in greater detail in Section 5.2.2.



Figure 4.6: Comparison of photon E_T and $|\eta|$ distributions in data and simulation in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels after photon selection.

- **Charged Hadron Isolation** The isolation of charged hadrons with energy density correction, ρ , applied. The requirement is given as $I_{Char.had} < 1.5 + 0.04 \times E_T(\gamma)$ GeV.
- Neutral Hadron Isolation The isolation of neutral hadrons with energy density correction, ρ , applied. The requirement is given as $I_{Neut.had} < 1.0 + 0.005 \times E_T(\gamma)$ GeV.
- **Photon Isolation** The isolation of the photon, I_{γ} , with energy density correction applied. The requirement is given as $I_{\gamma} < 1.0 + 0.005 \times E_T(\gamma)$ GeV.
- Supercluster footprint-removed Charged Hadron Isolation The supercluster footprintremoved isolation of charged hadrons with energy density correction, ρ , applied. Cut given as $I_{char.had} < 5$ GeV.
- Supercluster footprint-removed Neutral Hadron Isolation The supercluster footprintremoved isolation of neutral hadrons with energy density correction, ρ , applied. Cut given as $I_{neut,had} < 1.0 + 0.005 \times E_T(\gamma)$ GeV.
- Supercluster footprint-removed Photon Isolation The supercluster footprint-removed isolation of the photon I_{γ} , with energy density correction applied. Cut given as $I_{\gamma} < 1.0 + 0.005 \times E_T(\gamma)$ GeV.

It must be noted that only supercluster footprint-removed charged hadron isolation is used in this analysis, whereas PF isolation is used for neutral hadron and photon isolation as described above. This is because it is used in the modelling of background events.

4.9.2 Final state radiation suppression

It is crucial that initial and final state radiation (ISR/FSR) is modelled correctly for this analysis as photons from initial and final state radiation are not considered as signal and therefore ΔR constraints are applied to remove these events. The definition of isolation has been modified from the recommended values in order to make the data-driven estimate of the selection purity more robust. The requirements are as follows:

 $\Delta R(\gamma, leptons)$ In order to reduce FSR in final state leptons, e.g. photons radiated off

high p_T muons, a minimum distance criterion in the $\eta - \phi$ plane is implemented. The requirement is given as $\Delta R(\gamma, leptons) > 0.3$.

- $\Delta R(\gamma, jets)$ In order to reduce FSR from final state partons. A requirement of $\Delta R(\gamma, jets) > 0.3$ is applied, where $\Delta R(\gamma, jets)$ is the angular separation between the photon and the nearest jet.
- $\Delta R(leptons, jets)$ In order to reduce FSR from final state partons. A requirement of $\Delta R(leptons, jets) > 0.3$ is applied, where $\Delta R(leptons, jets)$ is the angular separation between the leptons and the nearest jet.

A significance test was performed in an attempt to optimise the ΔR cut between final state leptons and jets, however this proved inconclusive due to an initial cut of $\Delta R > 0.1$ at generator level. Figure 4.7 shows the ΔR distributions after photon selection.

The distributions for the other photon variables can be seen in Figure A.3.5.

4.9.3 Supercluster footprint-removal for photon isolation

The $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ analysis uses a method of removing the photon energy deposit, or "footprint", from the isolation cone in order to remove the energy deposits of the selected photon from the isolation sum, and thus minimise correlation the between shower shape and isolation components in the signal process — supercluster footprint removal (SCFR). With this method the footprint is, effectively, cleaned so that the isolation sum is not biased from the presence of the photon at the centre of the cone. Shower-shape variables, defined within the supercluster, are then decoupled from the isolation computation, defined outside of the supercluster. When the footprint of the photon has finally been removed, the isolation sum for prompt photons is due only to PU and underlying events. The process calculates each isolation component individually, however only the charged hadron component of the isolation sum is considered using this technique, which is then used to model the background and signal processes. This method was first used in the measurement of the diphoton cross section with 7 TeV data [138]. Usage of this results in an improvement in the agreement between data and MC for ECAL detector-based isolation, better discriminating power against the misidentification of photons, and it allows the use of a fully data-driven method for constructing the template fit.



Figure 4.7: Comparison of the $\Delta R(\gamma, jets)$ distributions in data and simulation in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels after photon selection.

The photon isolation is defined as the sum of the transverse momenta of all particles falling within the isolation cone surrounding the photon candidate. The isolation cone is defined to be within a $\Delta R < 0.3$. The momentum of the prompt photon should not contribute to the isolation sum, and thus particles found close to the photon footprint are not included within the sum.

SCFR is a purely geometrical procedure that is computed as follows:

- **Step 1** : Propagate the PF candidate trajectory from the primary vertex to the surface of the ECAL, taking into account the magnetic field when considering charged hadron candidates. The impact parameter, d_z , is calculated in the z-axis direction with respect to the primary vertex, neglecting the transverse distance, d_{xy} .
- Step 2 : If the propagated PF candidate is found to hit the surface of a crystal lying within the supercluster, then the candidate is removed from the isolation sum, as shown in Figure 4.8. The PF candidate is allowed to fall within a volume of 25% of the crystal size around the crystal, in order to account for the fact that the PF candidate's energy deposit has a finite extension in the ECAL, and thus has a reasonably large effect at the edges of the supercluster.

This ensures that such that the supercluster shape defines the region that is excluded from the isolation cone in each event.

In the standard particle flow algorithm, isolation is calculated on an individual basis for PF candidates can be divided into three groups: Charged hadrons, neutral hadrons, and photons. This procedure carries potential pit-falls, as described below:

- When computing the isolation sum, any energy deposit that is not associated with a reconstructed particle is not included within the sum.
- When reconstructing a photon, its energy may be dispersed over a large radius within the detector, and thus reconstructed as several particles. This will greatly affect the isolation of the photon.

This does not have too much of an impact when using the standard cut-based particle identification methods, such as those used in this analysis. However, as only the isolation profile shape is of interest, some improvements must be made.



Figure 4.8: Graphical representation of the PF candidate footprint (red) from the primary interaction vertex, within the isolation cone (green) [139].

Supercluster footprint-removed isolation is applied to PF candidates, whereas PF isolation is applied to identified particles. This reduces the probability for the first of these issues to occur. The second pit-fall is a result of the leakage of energy from the photon into the isolation cone around the supercluster. Therefore, a different method for defining the isolation cone must be implemented to overcome this problem: Summing the transverse momentum of particle flow candidates that fall within the isolation cone, but which are not close to the supercluster in the ECAL. The η and ϕ coordinates of the supercluster are calculated by checking the position of hits recorded in the tracker, and if a PF candidate that has been propagated to the surface of the calorimeter lies within the supercluster, enlarged by 25%, then the photon is not considered isolated and thus the candidate is not added to the isolation sum. The standard CMS implementation for energy density correction, ρ , is applied to the isolation to account for pile-up.

4.10 Phase Space Overlap Removal

Events of the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ process lie within a small region of $t\bar{t}$ phase space (see Figure 4.9), and thus the signal sample events are expected to overlap with TTJets events in the case where a hard photon is radiated by initial state quarks, top quarks, b quarks, W and its decay products: electrons, muons, and their corresponding neutrino. In order to prevent the double counting of events, an overlap removal procedure is applied to remove such events from the TTJets samples. In order for an event to be considered as overlapping with TTGamma, an event has to have at least one generator-level photon with the following properties:

- $p_T(\gamma) > 13 \text{ GeV}$
- $|\eta| < 3.0$
- Only gluons, bosons, or leptons are in the parents list. This ensures that photons from π^0 decays are not considered as signal.
- $\Delta R(\gamma, other) > 0.2$ where other particles include leptons, b quarks and final state particles (hadrons, charged leptons, photons) with transverse momenta above 5 GeV.

The last cut is implemented in order to suppress photons from showers. In such cases the information from the parent particle will show that a photon is radiated by an electron, however, the photon may be collinear with it, in particular, in TTJets dilepton events, where a considerable fraction of the reconstructed photons originate from electrons radiating photons.

Similarly, an overlap between Z+Jets and $Z+\gamma$ processes is also observed, and between W+Jets and WGamma samples, for the same reasons as described above. The phase space overlap removal procedure is applied on Z + Jets and W+Jets samples to remove events containing generator-level photons. Events containing generated photons are removed in the case in which they are from initial state radiation (emitted from the colliding partons) or final state radiation (emitted from W or Z bosons or their decay products), since these are already included in the WGamma and ZGamma simulations. The overlap removal procedure removes approximately one percent of the events in the W+Jets sample, and approximately three to four percent of the events from the TTJets and Z+Jets samples.

4.11 Corrections to Simulated Events

Although simulation is relied upon heavily to model the processes of interest, there are various processes that arise as a product of hadron-hadron collisions which the model



Figure 4.9: Graphic representation of the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ phase space relative to the $t\bar{t}$ phase space.

does not always perfectly describe. In order to model a process accurately, a model is required to lie as close to the observed data as possible without introducing any form of bias. Therefore, a Scale Factor (SF) is calculated to account for the mismatch of data against simulation for each process. A weighting for individual MC samples must also be calculated in order to reweight the total number of generated events as follows:

$$SF_{MC} = \frac{\mathcal{L} \times \sigma}{N_{events}} \tag{4.4}$$

where \mathcal{L} is the integrated luminosity of the data, σ the theoretical cross section of the simulated process, and N_{events} the number of processed events for a particular process. The scale factors are calculated on an event-by-event basis and are defined as the product of individual scale factors for each correction type, as shown below:

$$SF = SF_{MC} \times SF_{Trig} \times SF_{Lep} \times SF_{PU} \times SF_{Btag} \tag{4.5}$$

A reweighting of the p_T distribution of top pairs is also incorporated and described in Section 6. The different event correction types are described below:

- **Pile-up Reweighting** The number of pile-up interactions per event varies depending on many factors, such as the luminosity of collisions. Generated events are produced with a nominal number of pile-up interactions and this must be corrected in order to match with that observed in data. To correct the number of pile-up interactions per event, knowledge of the number of pile-up interactions in simulation, the luminosity of the dataset to be corrected, and the total inelastic cross section of proton-proton collisions, must be obtained such that $N_{PU} = \mathcal{L} \times \sigma_{pp}$.
- **B-tagging Reweighting** It is observed that the efficiency of correctly tagging a b-jet varies in simulation compared to that observed in data. The efficiency is calculated as the number of b-tagged jets over the total number of jets, given as:

$$\epsilon_f = \frac{N_f^{b-tagged}}{N_f^{Total}} \tag{4.6}$$

where f is the flavour of jet. A p_T-dependent scale factor is applied to simulated events to account for this discrepancy [140] following the B-taging and Vertexing (BTV) group prescription. To calculate the weight for each event containing one or more b-tags, the probability of having exactly zero b-tags ($\Pi_i = (1 - SF_i)$) must be calculated, and iterating over the events found to contain one b-jet in simulation. The probability of an additional b-jet si then calculated to be $1 - \Pi_i (1 - SF_i)$.

Lepton Efficiencies Lepton efficiencies manifest in three forms: lepton trigger, isolation, and identification scale factors. Lepton triggers are used in simulation to replicate the triggers used in data, however this strategy does not always mirror the process accurately enough, and thus a trigger scale factor must be implemented to account for this difference. The trigger scale factor is computed using the tag-and-probe method [141] described in Section 6.1.2. The efficiency is calculated as a function of p_T and η , and is given by the ratio:

$$SF_{Trig.} = \frac{\epsilon_{data}}{\epsilon_{MC}}$$

$$(4.7)$$

The trigger scale factors used in this analysis were centrally produced by the CMS EGamma and Muon Physics Object Groups for the 2012 data set and are defined in A1. The same technique can be applied when computing scale factors for lepton isolation and identification.

4.12 Event Selection Cut Flow

After all selection and identification requirements are applied, it is useful to see which selection requirements have the most impact. This is called the cut flow. Figure 4.10 shows the number of events after each step of the selection process for each decay channel, along with the ratio of number of events in data to that in the MC. It is quite clear that QCD is the dominant process before any selection requirements. After the implementation of $t\bar{t}$ selection requirements the most dominant process becomes $t\bar{t}$, which then becomes the signal $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ upon the inclusion of photon-specific selection requirements.

An excellent agreement is observed between the data and simulation, disregarding the first bin of Figure 4.10. This discrepancy between the data and MC can be attributed to the trigger not being applied to MC until the "Cleaning & HLT" step of the selection process, whereas it is initially applied to the data. A large reduction of QCD can be seen upon selecting two oppositely signed isolated leptons as multi-jet events seldom produce isolated leptons. The largest remaining backgrounds, other than $t\bar{t}$, are vector boson events (W + jets, Z + jets) and vector bosons with a radiated photon $(W + \gamma, Z + \gamma)$. This is largely reduced in the $e\mu$ decay channel due to the selection of two oppositely-signed and different flavour leptons. The event yields after each selection step, and for each MC sample, are shown in Tables 4.2, 4.3, and 4.4, for each decay channel, respectively.



Figure 4.10: Cutflow plots showing the number of events remaining after individual cuts are introduced, comparing distributions in data and simulation in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels.

					Cut	Flow table for	r the $\mu^+\mu^-$ sel	ection					
	$t\bar{t} + \gamma$	$t\bar{t}0l$	$t\bar{t}1l$	$t\bar{t}2l$	W+jets	z+jets	$\lambda + M$	$\gamma + \gamma$	diboson	single-t	gcd	all MC	data
Skim	3418 ± 12	16912 ± 37	132676 ± 113	137147 ± 81	205984 ± 1731	57938 ± 620	10326 ± 166	73574 ± 208	15422 ± 31	32198 ± 365	19808418 ± 149875	20494012 ± 149887	2307516 ± 1519
Cleaning and HLT	952 ± 6	2925 ± 15	33828 ± 57	43049 ± 45	9884 ± 378	24374 ± 402	321 ± 30	34586 ± 142	5471 ± 16	7752 ± 176	1598818 ± 20883	1761958 ± 20892	1805235 ± 1344
Di-lepton Sel	274 ± 3	0 ± 0	139 ± 4	20006 ± 30	47 ± 25	9547 ± 248	2 ± 2	21270 ± 110	3982 ± 13	1122 ± 24	2248 ± 589	58636 ± 650	439646 ± 663
m(Z) veto	245 ± 3	0 ± 0	117 ± 3	17856 ± 29	47 ± 25	9547 ± 248	2 ± 2	11378 ± 81	957 ± 8	1005 ± 22	1872 ± 544	43026 ± 605	109108 ± 330
≥ 1 jet	225 ± 3	0 ± 0	97 ± 3	17305 ± 28	32 ± 20	8580 ± 235	2 ± 2	8374 ± 70	835 ± 7	947 ± 22	368 ± 261	36765 ± 361	84797 ± 291
≥ 2 jets	197 ± 3	0 ± 0	60 ± 2	16382 ± 27	32 ± 20	6296 ± 202	0 ± 0	6138 ± 60	704 ± 7	831 ± 20	368 ± 261	31008 ± 338	68655 ± 262
$/E_T$ cut	183 ± 3	0 ± 0	55 ± 2	15343 ± 26	32 ± 20	2971 ± 138	0 ± 0	2553 ± 38	440 ± 6	781 ± 20	0 ± 0	22359 ± 148	40671 ± 202
\geq 1 CSV b-tag	167 ± 3	0 ± 0	44 ± 2	14090 ± 25	32 ± 20	1215 ± 92	0 ± 0	829 ± 23	187 ± 4	683 ± 18	0 ± 0	17247 ± 101	25343 ± 159
\geq 1 Photon Presel	162 ± 2	0 ± 0	35 ± 2	10336 ± 21	23 ± 17	891 ± 83	0 ± 0	774 ± 23	136 ± 3	472 ± 15	0 ± 0	12828 ± 91	18272 ± 135
\geq 1 Good Photon Postsel	17 ± 1	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	11 ± 1	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	27 ± 5	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	55 ± 5	41 ± 6
1 Good Photon Postsel	16 ± 1	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	11 ± 1	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	30 ± 6	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	58 ± 6	41 ± 6
					Cut	Flow table fo	r the e^+e^- sele	ection				-	
	$t\bar{t}+\gamma$	$t\bar{t}0l$	$t\bar{t}1l$	$t\bar{t}2l$	W+jets	Z+jets	$W + \gamma$	$Z + \gamma$	diboson	single-t	qcd	all MC	data
Skim	3401 ± 12	16912 ± 37	132668 ± 113	136401 ± 80	205950 ± 1731	57289 ± 614	10318 ± 166	72151 ± 204	15205 ± 31	32145 ± 365	19808477 ± 149875	20490917 ± 149887	1096890 ± 1047
Cleaning and HLT	500 ± 4	133 ± 3	4022 ± 20	23478 ± 32	10232 ± 385	16800 ± 326	994 ± 51	24409 ± 116	4241 ± 14	1977 ± 66	201743 ± 19546	288528 ± 19553	788536 ± 888
Di-lepton Sel	257 ± 3	0 ± 0	102 ± 3	16702 ± 27	299 ± 59	7354 ± 208	56 ± 11	16968 ± 94	3106 ± 11	921 ± 22	257 ± 182	46021 ± 301	370791 ± 609
m(Z) veto	232 ± 3	0 ± 0	87 ± 3	14912 ± 25	248 ± 54	7354 ± 208	54 ± 11	9457 ± 70	7 ± 977	828 ± 21	257 ± 182	34208 ± 292	102437 ± 320
≥ 1 jet	206 ± 3	0 ± 0	80 ± 3	14241 ± 25	166 ± 44	6524 ± 196	45 ± 10	6702 ± 60	692 ± 6	794 ± 20	257 ± 182	29708 ± 280	80742 ± 284
≥ 2 jets	176 ± 3	0 ± 0	68 ± 2	13504 ± 24	97 ± 34	4728 ± 169	29 ± 8	4698 ± 50	599 ± 6	715 ± 18	137 ± 137	24752 ± 228	65355 ± 256
$/E_T$ cut	164 ± 2	0 ± 0	61 ± 2	12663 ± 23	81 ± 31	2097 ± 111	26 ± 8	1953 ± 32	371 ± 5	665 ± 18	137 ± 137	18218 ± 184	38596 ± 196
\geq 1 CSV b-tag	151 ± 2	0 ± 0	52 ± 2	11627 ± 22	29 ± 21	861 ± 75	10 ± 5	666 ± 20	155 ± 3	571 ± 16	134 ± 134	14256 ± 158	23610 ± 154
\geq 1 Photon Presel	148 ± 2	0 ± 0	51 ± 2	11373 ± 22	34 ± 24	942 ± 83	11 ± 6	731 ± 22	166 ± 4	556 ± 16	131 ± 131	14142 ± 161	23610 ± 154
\geq 1 Good Photon Postsel	14 ± 1	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	8 ± 1	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	19 ± 4	0 ± 0	1 ± 1	0 ± 0	43 ± 4	34 ± 6
1 Good Photon Postsel	14 ± 1	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	8 ± 1	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	22 ± 5	1 ± 0	1 ± 0	0 ± 0	45 ± 5	34 ± 6

Table 4.3: The number of expected events in MC and events observed in data for the e^+e^- channel, before the fitting process, including

statistical uncertainties.

					Cut	t Flow table f	for the $e\mu$ selec	tion					
	$t\bar{t} + \gamma$	$t\bar{t}0l$	$t\bar{t}1l$	$t\bar{t}2l$	W+jets	$\mathbf{Z+jets}$	$W + \gamma$	$Z + \gamma$	diboson	single-t	qcd	all MC	data
Skim	3381 ± 12	16912 ± 37	132656 ± 113	134872 ± 80	205955 ± 1731	58287 ± 624	10318 ± 166	74347 ± 210	15497 ± 31	32059 ± 364	19808376 ± 149875	20492662 ± 149887	2047577 ± 1431
Cleaning and HLT	1318 ± 7	1078 ± 9	32289 ± 56	59290 ± 52	21477 ± 559	1391 ± 98	1422 ± 62	2542 ± 39	1836 ± 13	8306 ± 166	1311422 ± 34004	1442371 ± 34009	842966 ± 918
Di-lepton Sel	526 ± 4	0 ± 0	244 ± 5	36230 ± 40	313 ± 62	37 ± 16	70 ± 13	148 ± 9	773 ± 9	2010 ± 35	1170 ± 384	41520 ± 393	48695 ± 221
≥ 1 jet	477 ± 4	0 ± 0	211 ± 4	34848 ± 39	230 ± 53	31 ± 15	58 ± 12	124 ± 8	646 ± 8	1908 ± 34	145 ± 131	38678 ± 152	45447 ± 213
≥ 2 jets	414 ± 4	0 ± 0	160 ± 4	33015 ± 38	157 ± 43	28 ± 14	40 ± 11	96 ± 7	518 ± 7	1676 ± 28	0 ± 0	36104 ± 67	41521 ± 204
\geq 1 CSV b-tag	379 ± 4	0 ± 0	132 ± 3	30336 ± 36	90 ± 34	5 ± 5	20 ± 8	35 ± 5	200 ± 5	1450 ± 26	0 ± 0	32647 ± 57	37257 ± 193
\geq 1 Photon Presel	371 ± 4	0 ± 0	129 ± 3	29671 ± 35	98 ± 37	6 ± 6	22 ± 9	39 ± 5	219 ± 5	1412 ± 25	0 ± 0	31967 ± 59	37257 ± 193
\geq 1 Good Photon Postsel	38 ± 1	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	21 ± 1	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	1 ± 1	0 ± 0	60 ± 2	39 ± 6
1 Good Photon Postsel	37 ± 1	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	21 ± 1	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	1 ± 1	0 ± 0	59 ± 2	38 ± 6

Table 4.4:	t: The number of expected events in MC and events observed in data for the $e\mu$ channel, before the fitting process, including	
statistical	J uncertainties.	

Chapter 5

Measurement of the Inclusive $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ Cross Section

After the reconstruction of physics objects and associated kinematic variables, the signal and background processes have been defined. It is then possible to use the variables constructed in Chapter 4 to calculate the cross section and ratio of cross sections for the signal process.

5.1 Measurement of the Cross Section Ratio $R = \sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}/\sigma_{t\bar{t}}$

A common form of cross section calculation for a "counting" analysis can be written as:

$$\sigma = \frac{N_{signal}}{\mathcal{L}\epsilon A} \tag{5.1}$$

where N_{signal} is the number of signal events found in data passing the full event selection requirements, \mathcal{L} is the integrated luminosity of the data, A is the signal acceptance, defined as the fraction of signal events that fall into the region of phase-space that is chosen for event selection, and ϵ is the efficiency of correctly selecting a signal event (the fraction of signal events passing event selection after acceptance cuts are implemented). The number of signal events, N_{signal} , must be modified to account for the presence of background events in the data, and thus becomes the number of observed events minus the number of background events, $N_{observed} - N_{background}$, where the number of background events is estimated in a different manner. Due to the nature of the analysis, event selection is performed in two separate steps (see Section 4); dileptonic top pair selection and photon selection. This feature changes the way in which the cross section is computed in Equation 5.1. The changed cross section is written as:

$$\sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma} = \frac{N_{signal}}{\mathcal{L}\epsilon_{top}A_{top}\epsilon_{\gamma}A_{\gamma}} \tag{5.2}$$

where ϵ_{top} and A_{top} are the efficiency and acceptance of top selection for signal top pair events. Thus, ϵ_{γ} and A_{γ} are the efficiency and acceptance of the photon selection, introduced after the top quark pair event selection. Here the signal is considered as a top quark pair, decaying to leptons and b-jets, plus a prompt radiatied photon. The number of observed, N_{signal} , is taken as the number of events counted from data after top pair and photon selections have been applied.

Within this analysis, the fiducial cross section is measured by calculating the cross section of all events that fall within the chosen kinematic selection requirements introduced by the top and photon selection parameters. In reality, the fiducial cross section, $t\bar{t} + \gamma$, is calculated by diving by the acceptance as such:

$$\sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}^{fid.} = \frac{N_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}}{\epsilon \cdot \mathcal{L}}, \quad \sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma} = \frac{N_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}}{A \cdot \epsilon \cdot \mathcal{L}} = \frac{\sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}^{fid.}}{A}$$
(5.3)

In order to simplify the calculation, it is possible to take the ratio of the fiducial $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ cross section to the inclusive $t\bar{t}$ cross section, as previously measured by the CMS experiment [142]. In doing this, the treatment of systematic uncertainties is simplified and shared terms from each measurement are canceled out, such as luminosity. The new ratio is calculated using the following equation:

$$R = \frac{\sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}^{fid.}}{\sigma_{t\bar{t}}^{incl.}} = \frac{\sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}^{fid.}}{1} \cdot \frac{1}{\sigma_{t\bar{t}}^{incl.}} = \frac{N_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}^{signal}}{\epsilon_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}} \cdot \frac{(\epsilon \cdot A)_{t\bar{t}}^{top}}{N_{t\bar{t}}}$$
(5.4)

A second term is now introduced into the cross section calculation which includes three new variables that stem from the $t\bar{t}$ inclusive cross section: where $\epsilon_{t\bar{t}}^{top}$ and $A_{t\bar{t}}^{top}$ are the efficiency and acceptance of the $t\bar{t}$ process, $N_{t\bar{t}}$ is the number of top pair events passing the full top selection prior to the photon selection, and $\epsilon_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}$ the efficiency of finding $t\bar{t}+\gamma$ events after top and photon selection. The efficiency for $t\bar{t}+\gamma$ with top pair and photon selection is defined as:

$$\epsilon_{t\bar{t}+\gamma} = \frac{N_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}^{pho.}}{N_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}^{gen.fid.}}$$
(5.5)

where $N_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}^{pho.}$ is the number of $t\bar{t}+\gamma$ events passing photon selection, including migration into the fiducial region, and $N_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}^{gen.fid.}$ is the number of $t\bar{t}+\gamma$ events at generator level passing fiducial cuts, where fiducial cuts include both top and photon selection requirements. The efficiencies for both top pair selection and top pair with a photon selection is very similar due to the ordering of the event selection – the selection of leptons, jets, b-jets, and MET are the same in each scenario. As the acceptance calculation depends on individual samples generator cuts and even selection, this variable must be calculated separately for each stage of the selection process. By taking the ratio of each cross section the luminosity parameter is canceled out.

The prominent feature of this analysis is the addition of a radiated photon from one of the decay products of a dileptonic $t\bar{t}$ decay. In order to correctly measure the number of signal $t\bar{t}+\gamma$ events, it must be checked that the signal events have been correctly identified. Even though an object may pass the full photon ID selection requirements, it may not be a signal photon. Electrons and jets are likely to pass photon ID selection and be recorded as real signal photons, thus these "fakes" must be removed from the signal events.

For jets that pass the photon ID requirements, and are thus misidentified, it is noted that they do not contain a genuine photon. Electrons that have been misidentified as photons are more difficult to remove as they hold the same properties as a photon, including isolated electromagnetic shower etc. Electrons differ from signal photons because of the addition of a charged track pointing in the direction of the energy deposit. As a result, each source of "fakes" are treated in a different manner, described in Section 5.2.

5.2 Photon Purity Estimation

The photon purity, π , is defined as the number of photons that are prompt and pass the photon ID selection over the total number of photon candidates. Prompt photons are created in the hard-scattering process and are emitted from the high- p_T hard-scattering particles. The main sources of non-prompt photons come from charged particles interacting



Figure 5.1: Graphic representation of the signal and background definitions [143].

with the detector material and from quark hadronisation, and are generally not isolated and have a low p_T . A source of photons is also obtained from π^0 decays, whereby two very collinear photons are produced. A graphical representation of the definitions of signal and background for the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ process can be seen in Figure 5.1.

One method to find the photon purity is through simulation, whereby access to information of all the particles simulated by the MC event generator is available. Reconstructed photons are matched to generator photons by using information of their mother particles in order to determine the origin of the photons. The events are then divided into three categories based on the event generator matching to a reconstructed photon:

- Signal: reconstructed photon is matched to a generated photon.
- Misidentified electron: reconstructed photon is matched to a generated electron.
- Misidentified jet: photon is not matched to either a generated photon or electron.

In order to find if a photon is prompt (signal), the matching process is used to find a generator-level photon that matches its properties. The transverse momentum is used along with the η and ϕ coordinates of the reconstructed and generator-level photon to implement a p_T and ΔR requirement on the matching process. Events are iterated over in the order in which they were created by the generator, and if the ΔR between the reconstructed photon and generated photon is found to be **less than 0.2** and $|p_T^{reco} - p_T^{gen}|/p_T^{gen}$ is **less than 1.0** then it is considered to be a match and stop the iteration process. The parentage of the matched photon is then inspected to verify its origin, such that if it descends from a quark, gluon, charged lepton, or boson then it is determined to be prompt. It is important that the photon is verified to be isolated. A photon maybe produced in the hard-scattering process, however hadronisation and showering may be observed close by, such that a signal photon will not be isolated. In order to ensure that these photons are not lost to the nearby non-signal activity, additional selection cuts are introduced to differentiate between prompt signal photons and non-isolated photons:

- $\left(p_T^{reco} p_T^{gen}\right) / p_T^{gen} < 0.1$
- $\Delta R(\gamma^{gen}, other) > 0.2$ where other particles include leptons, photons and final state particles (hadrons, leptons, photons) with transverse momenta above 5 GeV.
- $|\Delta \eta(\gamma^{reco}, \gamma^{gen})| < 0.005$
- $\Delta R(\gamma^{reco}, \gamma^{gen}) < 0.01$

The listed additional cuts help to select photons that are well isolated and do not have any undesired activity nearby.

As described above, electrons leave a very similar trace to photons as they shower within the electromagnetic calorimeter, except for an additional charged track pointing towards the energy deposit. Specific selection criteria are implemented in order to minimise the fake-rate of electrons misidentified as photons within the event selection. However, it is observed that a large number of electrons still pass photon selection requirements and are recorded as signal. Thus, criteria to find well isolated generator-level electrons is incorporated in the same manner as for photons, however in this scenario electrons from W and Z decays are considered only. The cuts are shown below:

- $\left(p_T^{reco} p_T^{gen}\right)/p_T^{gen} < 0.1$
- $\Delta R(e, other) > 0.2$ where other particles include leptons, photons and final state particles (hadrons, leptons, photons) with transverse momenta above 5 GeV.

- $\Delta \eta(\gamma^{reco}, e) | < 0.005$
- $\Delta R(\gamma^{reco}, e) < 0.04$

The cuts have been cross-checked with the dileptonic $t\bar{t}$ sample as it contains a significant number of electrons identified as photons.

Any reconstructed photon that passes the cuts described previously, and is matched with a generator-level photon, is then defined as a real photon. If a photon is instead matched to a generator-level electron it is then defined as a misidentified electron. Any other event that is not matched to a generator-level electron or photon is then classified as a misidentified jet.

As the photon purity directly affects the cross section ratio measurement, it is not optimal to rely explicitly on simulation, and therefore it would be preferable to compute the photon purity via a data-driven method. Use is made of the fact that signal photons, whether signal photons or misidentified electrons, are isolated objects, while misidentified jets are non-prompt photons close to or within a jet. The supercluster footprint-removed charged hadron isolation, described above, is used as the discriminating variable in the fit. The template shapes for the signal process of a prompt isolated photon is computed (including those originating from a misidentified electron), and non-isolated hadronic photons as the background template. The template fit provides an estimate for the yields of photons originating from real photons or misidentified electrons.

5.2.1 Signal template construction using the random cone method

The prompt signal photon template is constructing using the "random cone" method, similar to that found in [138]. The events that pass the full photon event selection are used as the method relies on the assumption that a prompt photon is isolated, such that the activity recorded within the detector around the prompt photon, not regarding the area affected by the energy deposit from the photon, arises only from PU, underlying events, and electronic noise in the ECAL.

Contributions from these effects, generally, do not vary for an isolation sum which is calculated in a region which is separate from the photon candidate, but using the same pseudorapidity range, ϕ . A suitable orientation of the isolation cone is chosen by using the proceeding steps:

- A direction is defined, which is obtained from the photon candidate direction and then rotating by a random angle, φ_{Rand.Cone} between 0.8 and 2π-0.8 radians, around the z-axis of the detector system (or rotating in φ with a fixed η) as shown in Figure 5.2. This is designed such that an isolation cone with ΔR = 0.4 centred on the random cone axis would not overlap with an isolation cone which is centred on the photon candidate, or an object that is produced back-to-back with respect to it.
- A check for objects lying within the region is then performed, such that there is no energy originating from anything other than pile-up, underlying events, or electrical noise in the ECAL. Such that there are no AK5¹ PF jets with a p_T of at least 20 GeV at $\Delta R < 0.8$, photons with p_T less than 10 GeV at $\Delta R < 0.8$, or muons at $\Delta R < 0.4$ with respect to the random cone axis. If such an object is found to fulfill the requirements, then the same search is performed again to generate another random angle, $\phi_{Rand.Cone}$, until a suitable direction is found. In practice, the procedure is not repeated more than twice in order to find a suitable direction.

The isolation sum within a cone centred on the chosen direction is then computed. The difference when performing footprint removal now is that there is no supercluster lying along the cone axis, and therefore it must be performed in a different way: the area corresponding to that in which the photon supercluster lies, which is rotated in $\phi_{Rand.Cone}$ in order to align with the random cone axis, is not included within the calculation process. In this manner, both the area considered for the isolation sum, and the area throughout the centre of the cone replacing the photon candidate footprint, have exactly the same shape and extension in the photon and random cone directions.

Figure 5.3 shows the comparison of templates from the random cone isolation method and the isolation in MC events which encompass genuine prompt photons and misidentified electrons for each decay channel. A good agreement between data-driven and expected MC templates is observed.

5.2.2 Background estimation using the $\sigma_{i\eta i\eta}$ side-band method

Background events in the template fit are identified as non-prompt photons. A template to model the background is defined by selecting photon candidates that fail one selection

¹Anti- k_T jet clustering algorithm with cone size of $\Delta R = 0.5$ (see Section 3.7.1).



Figure 5.2: Illustration of the random cone technique. Under the assumption that the footprint of the photon (red) is completely removed from the isolation sum, the energy deposited in the random-cone area (green in right image) predicts the energy deposited in the isolation cone (green area in left image). Left shows the composition of the random cone before rotation, and right shows after [139].



Figure 5.3: Comparison of the shape from random cone isolation and isolated photons identified from generator particle matching in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels.

requirement, which are called the "side-band" region. The logic behind this method is such that by inverting a particular cut on the photon selection, a sample remains that is rich in "photon-like" jets (whereby the hadronisation process resolves to a neutral boosted meson with very little activity around it). In order to model the background correctly, the requirements on the side-band region must be selected such that they do not differ too greatly from the full selection, and thus a genuine jet is not rejected incorrectly.

For the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ analysis, a side-band region is created by inverting the photon showershape $(\sigma_{i\eta i\eta})$ selection cut, thus giving a cut of $0.12 < \sigma_{i\eta i\eta} < 0.20$ where all other photon ID selection requirements still remain the same. When considering a side-band variable, a variable must be chosen with little to no correlation with the template variable in order to optimise the performance of the method. The shape of the side-band template will then closely resemble the isolation distribution for photons that are not prompt but pass the photon ID requirements.

The shower shape of the photon is calculated by measuring energy deposits from within a 5×5 matrix of crystals, centred around the crystal with the largest energy in the supercluster. As the supercluster footprint-removal technique removes the supercluster from the isolation sum, then there is no shared input between the two variables (shower shape and isolation) effectively removing any correlation between the two. However, no two variables are ever truly uncorrelated, and any residual correlation can be attributed to the properties of hadronisation of jets. As the main source of fake photons arises in the form of jets misidentified as photons, the supercluster footprint-removed charged hadron isolation is used (as described in Section 4.9.3) as the background template variable to discriminate against fake photons.

In Figure 5.4 a comparison of the photon shower shape side-band distributions from the data-driven and MC templates is shown. A good agreement between the distributions is observed.

5.2.3 Fit to charged hadron isolation

The fit is performed in the SCFR charged hadron isolation less than 20 GeV in order to ensure a good description of background. Loose photon candidates are used for the fit to increase statistics as the dilepton channels are statistically limited. After the fit is



Figure 5.4: Comparison of the isolation profiles from the side band region and isolation of hadronic photons identified from generator particle matching in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels.



Figure 5.5: Fit to charged hadron isolation templates with pseudo-data in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels.

computed, the result is corrected by applying the nominal isolation cut on the templates, then computing the true number of genuine photons, misidentified electrons, and jets identified as photons.

It is important to cross-check the fitting method, and this is done by applying it to the collection of simulated samples weighted by their theoretical cross section and integrated luminosity of the data used in the analysis, whereby creating a pseudo-set of data. By performing the fit on a pseudo-set of data, it is possible to cross-reference the results of the fit, photon purity calculation, and cross-reference if the photon purity measurement is in agreement with generator information. The fit templates and fit can be seen in Figures 5.5 and 5.6, respectively.

In an attempt to verify that the fit works well across a range of potential photon purity values, and thus not having a bias towards predicted values, the fit is performed



Figure 5.6: Fit to charged hadron isolation with pseudo-data in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels.



Figure 5.7: Fit to charged hadron isolation templates in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels.

while varying the photon purity value. Due to the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ simulated sample comprising predominantly prompt photon events, by scaling the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ contribution the photon purity value is varied. The template fit to the charged hadron isolation for the full data set can be seen in Figure 5.7 for each decay channel, respectively.

5.3 Number of Signal Events in Data

Tables 5.1, 5.2, and 5.3 show the number of photons after full selection broken down into categories of origin for individual MC samples, shown for each $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ decay channel. This method is used in order to extract the true number of signal $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ events to be used as a variable in the cross section calculation.

The resultant photons are then divided into three categories: genuine prompt and isolated photons, isolated misidentified electrons, and jets reconstructed as photons. In-



Figure 5.8: Fit to charged hadron isolation in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels.

Sample	Genuine Photon	MisID Electron	Hadronic	Total
$t\bar{t}+\gamma$	11.56 ± 0.68	0 ± 0	6.41 ± 0.51	17.97 ± 0.85
$t\bar{t}+jets$	1.84 ± 0.3	0 ± 0	4.04 ± 0.45	5.88 ± 0.54
$W+\gamma$	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0
W+jets	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0
$Z+\gamma$	4.98 ± 1.90	0 ± 0	0.64 ± 0.64	5.62 ± 2.00
Z + jets	3.97 ± 3.06	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	3.97 ± 3.06
Single Top	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0
Diboson	0.30 ± 0.11	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0.30 ± 0.11
Total	22.95 ± 3.68	0 ± 0	11.09 ± 0.94	34.04 ± 3.80
Data				36 ± 6

Table 5.1: Simulated samples categorised by origin of reconstructed origin after nominal selection in the $\mu^+\mu^-$ channel. Events are normalised by process theoretical cross sections. Data-driven QCD sample is not expected to have signal photons or electrons. All errors are statistical.

dividual simulated samples contribute to each category differently, therefore scale factors are introduced to correct for mismodelling of the three categories.

The behaviour of the TTJets, WJets, ZJets, and DiBoson samples is well understood and has been cross-checked, and corrected, by different template fits to data. Thus leaving the contribution from the TTGamma and VGamma (the combination of WGamma and ZGamma) samples that are not as well understood, both being the largest contributors to the signal process. The VGamma sample is normalised to its NLO theoretical cross section, and known to potentially be mismodelled to the order of 20% [144]. The VGamma sample has the second largest contribution to signal events out of all MC samples, and therefore it is critical that the normalisation is cross-checked before including it. Single top events are also well modelled, however they do not contribute significantly to the signal process.

Thus, there remains three unknowns:

- TTGamma scale factor (or normalisation, the main unknown).
- VGamma scale factor.

Sample	Genuine Photon	MisID Electron	Hadronic	Total
$t\bar{t} + \gamma$	11.56 ± 0.68	0 ± 0	6.41 ± 0.51	17.97 ± 0.85
$t\bar{t}+jets$	1.84 ± 0.30	0 ± 0	4.04 ± 0.45	5.88 ± 0.54
$W+\gamma$	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0
W+jets	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0
$Z + \gamma$	4.98 ± 1.90	0 ± 0	0.64 ± 0.64	5.62 ± 2.00
Z + jets	3.97 ± 3.06	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	3.97 ± 3.06
Single Top	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0
Diboson	0.30 ± 0.11	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0.30 ± 0.11
Total	18.26 ± 1.90	0.06 ± 0.06	13.43 ± 2.98	31.75 ± 3.53
Data			—	26 ± 5.10

Table 5.2: Simulated samples categorised by origin of reconstructed origin after nominal selection in the e^+e^- channel. Events are normalised by process theoretical cross sections. Data-driven QCD sample is not expected to have signal photons or electrons. All errors are statistical.

Sample	Genuine Photon	MisID Electron	Hadronic	Total
$t\bar{t} + \gamma$	29.35 ± 1.10	0 ± 0	13.35 ± 0.73	42.70 ± 1.32
$t\bar{t}+jets$	3.23 ± 0.40	0.064 ± 0.064	8.44 ± 0.63	11.74 ± 0.75
$W+\gamma$	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0
W+jets	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0
$Z + \gamma$	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0
Z + jets	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0
Single Top	0.27 ± 0.27	0 ± 0	0.71 ± 0.71	0.98 ± 0.76
Diboson	0.18 ± 0.18	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0.18 ± 0.18
Total	33.20 ± 1.23	0.06 ± 0.06	22.50 ± 1.20	55.76 ± 1.72
Data			—	28 ± 5.29

Table 5.3: Simulated samples categorised by origin of reconstructed origin after nominal selection in the $e\mu$ channel. Events are normalised by process theoretical cross sections. Data-driven QCD sample is not expected to have signal photons or electrons. All errors are statistical.

• Jet to photon misidentification scale factor.

From events derived from data the photon purity, $\pi_{e\gamma}$, can be defined from the charged hadron isolation data-driven template fit, which also includes electrons misidentified as photons. The $t\bar{t}$ purity, $\pi_{t\bar{t}}$, can also be computed, and the total number of selected events in data. For every measured quantity an associated uncertainty is attached and propagate through to the unknown quantities described above. By relating the known quantities to the unknowns it is possible to construct a likelihood function $\mathcal{L}(SF_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}, SF_{V+\gamma}, SF_{jet\to\gamma}) = e^{-\chi^2/2}$, where χ^2 is the sum of the three chi-squared terms for each scale factor, given as:

$$\chi^{2}(SF_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}, SF_{V+\gamma}, SF_{jet\to\gamma}) = \frac{\left(\pi_{e\gamma}^{data} - \pi_{e\gamma}^{MC}\right)^{2}}{\sigma_{\pi_{e\gamma}}^{2}} + \frac{\left(\pi_{t\bar{t}}^{data} - \pi_{t\bar{t}}^{MC}\right)^{2}}{\sigma_{\pi_{t\bar{t}}}^{2}} + \frac{\left(N_{events}^{data} - N_{events}^{MC}\right)^{2}}{\sigma_{N_{events}}^{2}}$$
(5.6)

The three unknown quantities are used in order to correct event counts from relevant contributions in simulation. These quantities are: $\pi_{e\gamma}^{MC}$, the ratio of events with a reconstructed photon matched to an isolated electron or photon and all events in simulation, $\pi_{t\bar{t}}^{MC}$ the ratio of top pair events and all events from simulation, and π_{events}^{MC} the total number of selected events in MC. The values of these parameters for both data and MC can be seen in Table 5.4

As the aim is to find the combination of parameters with the best likelihood, a scan over possible values of the parameters is performed. The negative log-likelihood ratio is then computed by maximising the likelihood where one parameter is fixed to a specific value, and then taking the ratio of the maximum likelihood value at this point to the global maximum likelihood. The 68% confidence interval is taken to be the range of values for which the negative log-likelihood ratio is less than 0.5.

The values of the parameters giving the best agreement, with errors from the width of the likelihood, are shown in Table 5.5. Therefore, an excellent agreement between the photon purity, fraction of top events, and number of events in simulation and in data is observed.

	μ^+	<i>u</i> -	e+e	e-	eį	u
	Data	MC	Data	MC	Data	MC
Photon purity	0.68 ± 0.054	0.66 ± 0.10	0.62 ± 0.031	0.56 ± 0.21	0.57 ± 0.034	0.51 ± 0.06
Top purity	0.72 ± 0.08	0.68 ± 0.05	0.73 ± 0.02	0.73 ± 0.09	0.66 ± 0.03	0.77 ± 0.10
N_{events} data	41.0 ± 6.4	23.6 ± 4.3	34.0 ± 5.8	19.7 ± 3.2	38.0 ± 6.2	28.5 ± 1.1

Table 5.4: Measured quantities used in the likelihood fit for the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels.

Scale factor	$\mu^+\mu^-$	e^+e^-	$e\mu$
$SF_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}$	1.16 ± 0.26	0.89 ± 0.21	1.14 ± 0.32
$SF_{V+\gamma}$	0.95 ± 0.85	1.13 ± 0.45	1.02 ± 0.54
$SF_{jet \to \gamma}$	1.17 ± 0.19	1.22 ± 0.20	1.15 ± 0.22

Table 5.5: Scale factors found to maximise the likelihood function in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and the $e\mu$ channels, respectively. The uncertainties are statistical.

5.4 Signal Acceptance Calculation

The acceptance calculation for this analysis differs from usual inclusive cross section measurements because a ratio of cross sections is measured. Both the efficiency and acceptance are calculated from simulation, where the acceptance is determined at generator level by requiring events to lie within the kinematic phase space chosen for the analysis. Signal events are defined to contain exactly two oppositely-signed leptons (excluding τ leptons) in the visible phase space. For muons, a transverse momentum greater than 20 GeV and to lie within a pseudorapidity region of $|\eta| < 2.4$ is required, excluding the region of $1.4442 < \eta < 1.5660$ between the barrel and endcaps. Similarly, the visible phase space for electrons lies in the requirement of a transverse momentum greater than 20 GeV and $|\eta| < 2.4$. Siganl events are required to contain at least 2 jets with a $p_T > 30$ GeV and lie within the pseudorapidity range $|\eta| < 2.4$. The MET is required to be greater than 20 GeV. Finally, a generated photon with transverse energy greater than 25 GeV and lying in the pseudorapidity region $|\eta| < 1.4442$ (the barrel region) is required.

The event selection is chosen to make use of this fact: two steps (top selection and pho-

ton selection) are done sequentially. For the inclusive $t\bar{t}$ process, the number of generated events (within some fiducial phase space) are counted before top event selection, and then compared with the number events that are left after top event selection. The acceptance times efficiency is defined for the $t\bar{t}$ top selection as:

$$(\epsilon \cdot A)_{t\bar{t}}^{top} = \frac{N_{t\bar{t}.preselection}}{N_{t\bar{t}.generated}}$$
(5.7)

It is to be noted that the branching fraction for the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ signal is different to normal $t\bar{t}$ production, and is due to the way in which the signal is defined. There are tighter requirements on jets than leptons at generator level, resulting in the relative contribution from the semileptonic and dileptonic final states being increased within the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ MC sample, compared to the contribution from the all hadronic final states. The branching fraction of $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ production from simulation is calculated as the total number of events generated with exactly two oppositely-signed leptons (excluding τ leptons) divided by the total number of generated events, for each final state, respectively:

$$\mathcal{BR}_{t\bar{t}+\gamma} = \frac{N_{2.lep.}^{t\bar{t}+\gamma}}{N_{Tot.gen.}^{t\bar{t}+\gamma}}$$
(5.8)

The kinematic acceptance is defined to be the number of events passing the phase space requirements, as described above, divided by the number of events generated in the dilepton final state:

$$A_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}^{kin.} = \frac{N_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}^{gen.fid.}}{N_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}^{gen2l}}$$
(5.9)

The efficiency for selecting $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ events is defined as the fraction of reconstructed events passing the event selection, and which fall into the acceptance window at generator level. It is calculated as the fraction of events that pass the generator level acceptance cuts and also the full top and photon event selections. The efficiency can be divided into two parts: top selection efficiency, and photon selection efficiency. The top selection efficiency is calculated as the fraction of simulated events within the acceptance cuts that pass top quark selection, divided by the total number of generated events passing the acceptance cuts at generator level. The photon efficiency is calculated in a similar manner to the kinematic acceptance, and is defined as the number of events that fall into the
	$\mu^+\mu^-$	e^+e^-	$e\mu$
Branching Ratio	0.01048 ± 0.00008	0.010817 ± 0.00008	$0.01807\ {\pm}0.00004$
Kinematic Acceptance	0.3102 ± 0.0018	$0.2810\ {\pm}0.0014$	$0.2661\ {\pm}0.0014$
Efficiency $\epsilon_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}$	0.354 ± 0.004	0.320 ± 0.003	0.355 ± 0.005

Table 5.6: Efficiency and acceptance of the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ selection in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ final states. Uncertainties are statistical.

acceptance region and pass the top and photon selection divided by the total number of generated events passing the acceptance cuts at generator level. The calculated values for the acceptance and efficiency of the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ selection, along with the branching ratio, for each dilepton final state are shown in Table 5.6.

Chapter 6

Systematic Uncertainties

Upon studying such a decay, large statistical uncertainties, comparable to the systematic uncertainties on the measurement, arise due to the small cross section of the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ process and small branching fraction of the decay channel. In order to perform a scientifically solid measurement, all systematic uncertainties associated with the analysis must be taken into account and fully understood. To begin with, errors can be categorised into two broad categories:

- Flat Rate Uncertainties These uncertainties manifest in the form of detector performance factors, event reconstruction algorithms, and other such aspects as theoretical cross sections which affect the overall rate of a particular process. Each uncertainty is almost universal in that it affects nearly all analyses within the collaboration, and are thus studied within their own dedicated performance group. A more detailed description can be found in Section 6.1
- Shape Uncertainties In analyses there are often scale factors applied to scale Monte Carlo to data in order to correct for inconsistencies between the two. These can arise due to such aspects as the theoretical input parameters of the MC generators, which are used to model signal and background processes, not taking the true shape of the data. These types of scale factors affect all distribution shapes in an analysis and therefore must be accounted, and thus an uncertainty on the scale factor is applied by varying the value up and down by one standard deviation, $\pm \sigma$, and measuring the impact that this variation has on the final result. An in-depth description of each of

these types of systematic uncertainties is given in Section 6.2.

Once computed, the systematic uncertainties are introduced as nuisance parameters within the fitting process. The final uncertainty to be considered in the fit is the statistical uncertainty that dominates this particular decay mode. This is discussed in greater detail in Chapter 7.

6.1 Flat Rate Uncertainties

6.1.1 Luminosity

The CMS collaboration measures instantaneous and integrated luminosity in two ways; one way is by means of a coincidence trigger in the forward hadron calorimeter sub-detector, and also by counting the number of clusters measured by the pixel detectors. The former method was used at the beginning of runs in the LHC, but then ran into difficulties when the number of PU events increased and caused shifts in calibration. This lead to the development and implementation of the pixel-based calculation in 2011 – the *Pixel Cluster Counting* (PCC) method [145].

The PCC method evaluates the number of pixel clusters that occur on average for a zero-bias event (an event triggered by the requirement of only two bunches crossing at the CMS IP). It assumes that there is a small probability that each pixel within the silicon inner detector is part of more than one track per bunch crossing, and thus it is assumed that the number of pixel clusters scales linearly with the number of interactions in any given bunch crossing. This gives an excellent measure of the luminosity within the detector. Measured rates are calibrated by the method of a Van de Meer scan [146]. The total calculated integrated luminosity for the entire 2012 dataset was measured to be 23.27 fb⁻¹.

Although the total integrated luminosity is measured to be the value described above, the true value that was measured is less due to a number of technical reasons. Quite often a sub-detector may encounter problems at the start of the run and may require rebooting or re-calibration, thus a period of "dead time" is induced such that data is unable to be used for physics analysis, and therefore given the title of "bad" data. The remaining measured luminosity entitled "good" is provided to analysts by the Run Coordination team, and is measured to be 19.7 fb⁻¹ for the CMS experiment with the full 2012 dataset, where a flat rate associated uncertainty of 2.6% is assigned [147]. Each simulated sample used in analysis is scaled to the luminosity of the dataset used, and thus the associated uncertainty affects the normalisation of every physics process.

6.1.2 Lepton efficiencies

Lepton efficiencies and associated uncertainties are calculated in order to correct for the number of leptons observed in data and those in simulation. In order to calculate lepton efficiencies, the tag-and-probe method is used [141]. The method analyses events from a Drell-Yan $Z \rightarrow l^+l^-$ sample as it contains a large number of unbiased lepton-pair events with a high purity. Using this sample, the tag-and-probe technique selects lepton-pair events such that one of the leptons is defined as the "tag" lepton, which is selected with under much tighter requirements, and the second "probe" lepton is selected under much looser constraints relative to the "tag". The "tag" lepton candidate satisfies the trigger criteria, tight identification, and isolation requirements. The "probe" lepton candidate is required to pass specific criteria depending on the efficiency under study. Thus, two subsets of the data are created, such that one contains events that pass the probe selection, and one collection that contains events that failed probe selection. The efficiency of the selection is then taken to be the fraction of events that pass the probe selection criteria, defined as:

$$\epsilon_{all} = \epsilon_{reco.} \epsilon_{tight} \epsilon_{trig.} \tag{6.1}$$

The tag-and-probe method is applied to electrons and muons separately, where it is applied to electrons in the barrel and endcap regions individually. The purity of the dilepton sample for the tag-and-probe is held by requiring the invariant mass of the lepton pair to fall within the mass window of the Z boson, $70 < M_{ll} < 130 \text{ GeV}/c^2$. The total lepton efficiency is then divided into three sub-divisions: the trigger efficiency of identifying a lepton candidate, the efficiency for the reconstruction algorithms to reconstruct leptons, and the efficiency for the identification and isolation selection requirements to correctly select leptons.

In order to measure the trigger efficiencies for both electrons and muons, selected probes are required to pass normal kinematic cuts such that it must pass the HLT to be considered. It is found that the trigger efficiency for muons is greater than 99% and for electrons is greater than 95%, with an associated uncertainty of the order of 4% and varies depending on the used trigger. The reconstruction efficiency, $\epsilon_{reco.}$, is defined as the efficiency that an ECAL supercluster seeds an ECAL-driven electron candidate that passes the probe selection requirement, and is relative to ECAL clusters within the ECAL acceptance. The probe is defined to have a reconstructed energy greater than 10 GeV, such that the supercluster lies within range of the tracker system. At this energy, the reconstruction efficiency is found to be greater than 85%, and more than 99% with an energy threshold of 20 GeV [148].

For the case of muons, an initial "preselection" of Z events for the tag-and-probe method is obtained by selecting two oppositely charged tracks measured in the central tracker that each have a $p_T > 25$ GeV, $|\eta| < 2.1$, and that when combined lie within the mass window of $60 < m_{\mu^+\mu^-} < 120$ GeV. A "tag" muon is required to be matched to a preselected track, is a global and tracker muon, passes the selection described in Section 4, and corresponds to a HLT muon. All other preselected tracks are considered as probes and are used in order to measure the efficiency. An efficiency of approximately 95-99% is observed in data for all muon systems [149].

The tag-and-probe method is applied to both data and simulated samples, and thus the efficiency is computed for MC simulation ($\epsilon_{sim.}$) and data (ϵ_{data}). The ratio of efficiencies is then calculated along with the associated statistical and systematic uncertainties, given as:

$$\rho = \frac{\epsilon_{data}}{\epsilon_{sim.}} \tag{6.2}$$

where the efficiencies and the ratios of the efficiencies are estimated in bins of E_T and η of the electron. The efficiencies and associated statistical and systematic uncertainties are derived by the EGamma and Muon Physics Object Groups (POGs) for electrons and muons, respectively.

6.2 Shape Uncertainties

6.2.1 Parton distribution function

Parton Distribution Functions (PDFs), denoted as $f_i(x, Q^2)$, give the probability of finding a parton of flavour *i* (quark or gluon) carrying momentum fraction *x* of the proton momentum where *Q* is the resolution scale of the hard interaction. cross sections are calculated by convoluting parton level cross sections with PDFs. Due to the non-perturbative nature of partons, and thus not being observed as free particles, it is not possible to fully obtain PDFs by perturbative QCD alone. The shapes of PDFs are determined from global fits to data from experimental observables in various processes, such as deep inelastic scattering (DIS), Drell-Yan, and jet data using the DGLAP evolution equation [150].

Event generators assign momentum fraction and energy to a parton based on PDFs which are calculated by taking data from various experiments, where each experiment has an associated uncertainty. The uncertainties must be propagated throughout the PDFs, therefore it is important to further propagate into the final physics analysis. PDFs are updated by the collaborations who perform the fits, such as CTEQ [151], each time new data or theoretical predictions become available. The set of PDFs used in this analysis are taken from the CT10 [152] set. CT10 provides the nominal PDF weight along with 25 free parameters to describe the parton distributions, and thus 25 eigenvalues, providing 50 alternative weights per event. In order to access the weights, the Les Houches Accord Parton Distribution Function (LHAPDF) library is used [107].

The difference between each of the weights and the nominal is taken and added in quadrature, where the final result is then used to calculate the systematic uncertainty associated with the PDFs.

6.2.2 Pile-up reweighting

Another example of a process that is not described well in simulation compared to data is PU. Additional pile-up interactions are included within the simulated samples, however the true number of primary vertices in simulation does not match the number observed in data correctly. This discrepancy between simulation and data gives rise to an incorrect estimation of signal and/or background events in an analysis. In order to correct for this effect, additional corrections must be applied to all simulated samples. The PU re-weighting comes into fruition when dealing with the ever changing instantaneous luminosity of the beams, and thus the change in number of primary vertices in a single data-taking period. In order to implement the PU re-weighting, the number of primary vertices is re-weighted to match the current running conditions in the LHC, for example the number of primary vertices changes with the energy and luminosity of the beams. The obtained uncertainty is then included in the systematic uncertainty on the final results of the analysis.

The number of primary vertices is taken directly from the minimum bias data obtained over the running period in question. The minimum bias cross section is varied by $\pm 5\%$, which then recalculates the primary vertex distributions, which is then use to measure the total impact of the pile-up on the analysis when more, or less, pile-up is observed within the data.

6.2.3 Jet energy correc'tions

As described in Section 3.7.3, it is necessary to apply corrections to reconstructed jet energies in order to counteract the discrepancies between generator level and detector level jets. These jet energy corrections are a set of tools included to account for non-linearities in the calorimeter, and to give a flat jet response in η and E_T as it is not trivial to translate the measured jet energy to the true particle or parton energy. The resulting jet energy corrections and associated uncertainties are measured by the JEC group who then provide the results to the collaboration to be used in analysis [127, 153].

When the jet energy scale (JES) is changed in analysis, the kinematics of each jet within an event are also modified. As a result, the number of jets that pass, or fail, the event selection requirements is likely to change, whereby altering the final topology of an event. This will have a significant impact on the final result. In order to measure the JES significance, the correction factors are varied up and down by one standard deviation, σ , and the effects are propagated through to the MET.

The jet energy resolution (JER) is measured as the standard deviation of a Gaussian that is fitted to the jet response of the detector. The JER in data has been found to be worse than the JER in simulation, ~ 10% broader, and has an associated uncertainty of a similar size [154]. This effect is corrected for by smearing the 4-momentum of jets in MC as a function of the true and reconstructed p_T and η . To obtain the up and down systematic samples for the jet energy resolution, which are then included within the analysis as nuisance parameters, the smearing is applied twice for up and not at all for down.

6.2.4 Missing transverse energy

Events that contain neutrinos in the final state are affected mostly by uncertainties from modelling of MET from simulation. The way that the MET is calculated is by taking the sum of the p_T of all PF-reconstructed objects, including 'unclustered' energy deposits, and thus uncertainties from these propagate into the calculation of the MET. Unclustered energy is defined as recorded energy deposits that have a low p_T and/or not included in a calorimeter energy deposit cluster due to isolation requirements. PF-reconstructed objects are already corrected for during the reconstruction process (ρ -correction, etc.), however, this is not the case for unclustered energy deposits. As the unclustered energy is not corrected for during reconstruction, this is where the largest, most prominent source of uncertainty arises. In order to measure the uncertainty on the MET, the p_T of all PFreconstructed objects are removed from the MET calculation, and the residual energy is scaled up and down by 10%. Other uncertainties that affect the MET, such as JES and JER, are propagated on calculation and are thus included in their respective uncertainties.

6.2.5 B-tagging efficiency

Studies of b-tagging efficiencies and misidentification rates are conducted by the b-tag and vertexing group (BTV) and scale factors are produced to correct for discrepancies between data and MC simulation. For the Run I data-taking period at 8 TeV, the BTV group performed studies using $t\bar{t}$ and multi-jet samples [155]. The given samples were chosen such that studies could be performed using events with at least two jets, and a choice of the number of leptons.

6.3 Modelling Uncertainties

As well as uncertainties that affect the shape and normalisation of simulated distributions, an uncertainty on the generator production of simulated samples is included. This arises due to the, possibly, limited understanding of fundamental physical principles of particle interactions in the Standard Model. It is possible that a relatively small shift in parameter value upon generation could produce significantly different events, both kinematically and topologically. This uncertanty is accounted for by producing alternative datasets where the values of certain parameters are increased and decreased, then by applying the standard event selection it is possible to measure the shift in distribution shape from the nominal values.

6.3.1 Renormalisation and factorisation scales

Upon generation of simulated events, Parton Distribution Functions (PDFs) are used as functions of the factorisation and normalisation scales. In simulated events they are parameterised as as one variable, known as Q^2 . For a hard-scattering event involving a top quark, Q^2 is defined to be $Q^2 = m_{top}^2 + \sum p_T^2$. In order to calculate the uncertainty due to the renormalisation and factorisation scale, dedicated samples are produced where the Q^2 is "scaled up" and "scaled down" by a factor of 0.5 and 2.0, respectively. It is to be noted that, as the scaled samples are produced centrally, they also include variations in ISR and FSR which is central to the result in this analysis.

6.3.2 Parton-level matching thresholds

As previously mentioned, simulated events are produced using a hard-scattering generated by using the MADGRAPH matrix-element (ME) generator. However, the parton showering (PS) and hadronisation of decay products within a generated hard-scattering event is produced using the PYTHIA event generator. In order to ensure a smooth transition between the two event generators, the parton showering must be matched to the matrix element. The matching process relies on the so called k-factor MLM parton matching scale, whereby the threshold is usually set to 20 GeV [156]. In order to calculate the uncertainty of the matching, dedicated samples are produced where the threshold is set to 10 and 40 GeV, respectively, which are then used to calculate the impact varying the threshold has on the final result.

It is to be noted that this systematic only applies to samples that use matrix element to parton shower matching, and therefore does not apply to all samples used in this analysis. The samples that this applies to in this analysis are: $t\bar{t}$.

6.4 Impact of Uncertainties

When a systematic uncertainty is applied, the photon purity, top quark purity, and likelihood fit are recalculated and the new value of the cross section ratio is measured against the nominal value. Tables 6.1, 6.2, and 6.3 list the calculated systematic uncertainties in decreasing order of their impact on the measured cross section ratio for each decay channel, respectively.

The statistical uncertainty for the number of signal events, found by maximising the likelihood fit, is the most dominant uncertainty on the cross section calculation of the $t\bar{t}+\gamma$ process, as is expected. The measurement includes the uncertainties on the measurement of the photon purity, top purity after photon selection, and the statistical uncertainty from the number of events in the data. The contribution from each process is measured individually, where the likelihood is calculated such that the uncertainty from each parameter is set to zero each time. In essence, this fixes the value to the measured value, and therefore the change in $SF_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}$ uncertainty (around 14% in the standard likelihood fit) can be attributed to the fixed value. The uncertainty is dominated by the uncertainties obtained from the photon and top purity, contributing 10% and 9%, respectively. Therefore, the statistical uncertainty calculated from the number of events in the data is approximately 4.8%. Table 6.4 shows the simulated $t\bar{t}$ samples used to calculate the systematic uncertainties.

Source	Ratio Change (%)
Statistical likelihood fit	+30.4 $/$ -30.4
Top Quark Mass	$+10.0 \ / \ \text{-}12.0$
Fact. and Renorm. Scale	$+4.2 \ / \ extsf{-5.7}$
ME/PS Threshold	$+3.0 \ / \ -2.7$
Jet Energy Scale (JES)	+2.4 $/$ -1.4
Photon Energy Scale	+1.8 $/$ -1.7
Jet Energy Resolution (JER)	$+1.2 \ / \ extsf{1.7}$
Top P_T Reweighting	$+1.0 \ / \ 1.0$
B-tagging Scale Factor	$+1.4 \;/\;$ -0.9
Pile-up	$+1.0 \;/\;$ -0.5
Muon Energy Scale	$+1.0 \;/$ -0.2
Total	$+32.7 \ / \ -33.4$

Table 6.1: Systematic uncertainties listed in descending order of their contribution to the cross section ratio in the $\mu^+\mu^-$ channel.

Source	Ratio Change (%)
Statistical likelihood fit	+37.2 $/$ -37.2
${\rm ME/PS}$ Threshold	$+14.6 \ / \ \textbf{-6.4}$
Jet Energy Scale (JES)	7.4 $/$ -4.4
Fact. and Renorm. Scale	$+6.7 \ / \ -4.3$
Jet Energy Resolution (JER)	$+6.2 \ / \ extsf{-4.4}$
Top Quark Mass	$+4.7 \ / \ \textbf{-5.0}$
B-tagging Scale Factor	$+1.2 \ / \ extsf{-0.8}$
Photon Energy Scale	$+1.2 \ / \ extsf{-2.0}$
Electron Energy Scale Factor	$+1.2 \ / \ extsf{-0.4}$
Pile-up	$+1.0 \ / \ extsf{-0.7}$
Top P_T Reweighting	$+0.2 \ / \ ext{-}0.2$
Total	$+42.0 \ / \ -38.9$

Table 6.2: Systematic uncertainties listed in descending order of their contribution to the cross section ratio in the e^+e^- channel.

Source	Ratio Change (%)
Statistical likelihood fit	+36.4 / -36.4
ME/PS Threshold	+10.2 / -5.0
Top Quark Mass	+7.7 $/$ -7.9
Fact. and Renorm. Scale	$+6.0 \ / \ -5.5$
Jet Energy Scale (JES)	$+5.5 \ / \ extsf{-6.0}$
Jet Energy Resolution (JER)	$+4.2 \ / \ \textbf{-5.0}$
Photon Energy Scale	$+1.5 \ / \ \textbf{-2.0}$
B-tagging Scale Factor	+1.4 / -1.0
Electron Energy Scale Factor	$+1.2 \ / \ extsf{-0.5}$
Pile-up	$+1.0 \ / \ -0.7$
Top \mathbf{P}_{T} Reweighting	$+1.0 \ / \ -0.4$
Muon Energy Scale Factor	$+1.0 \ / \ extsf{-0.3}$
Total	$+39.8 \ / \ -38.9$

Table 6.3: Systematic uncertainties listed in descending order of their contribution to the cross section ratio in the $e\mu$ channel.

Systematic	Dataset
Q^2 Scale Up	$/TTJets_MSDecays_scaleup_TuneZ2star_8TeV-madgraph-tauola$
Q^2 Scale Down	$/TTJets_MSDecays_scaledown_TuneZ2star_8TeV-madgraph-tauola$
ME/PS Matching Up	$/TTJets_MSDecays_matchingup_TuneZ2star_8TeV-madgraph-tauola$
ME/PS Matching Down	$/TTJets_MSDecays_matchingdown_TuneZ2star_8TeV-madgraph-tauola$
Top Mass Up	$/TT Jets_MSDecays_mass173_5_TuneZ2 star_8 TeV-madgraph-tauola$
Top Mass Down	$/TT Jets_MSDecays_mass171_5_TuneZ2 star_8 TeV-madgraph-tauola$

•	uncertainties.
	systematic
-	r tt
ر ۲	samples fc
	Simulated
, ,	0.4:
F	Lable

Chapter 7

Results

7.1 Cross Section Calculation for Individual Channels

Now that the interesting observables have been computed successfully, it is possible to calculate the cross section and ratio of $t\bar{t}+\gamma$ and inclusive $t\bar{t}$ cross sections, $R = \sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}/\sigma_{t\bar{t}}^{incl.}$, including systematic uncertainties. The values of the variables used in calculating the cross section ratio can be found in Table 7.1.

Value	$\mu^+\mu^-$	e^+e^-	$e\mu$
Number of signal events, N_{signal}	33.0 ± 6.2	30.0 ± 6.9	32.0 ± 6.7
$t\bar{t}+\gamma$ Photon Selection Efficiency $\epsilon^{t\bar{t}+\gamma}$	0.354 ± 0.0043	0.320 ± 0.0034	$0.355\ {\pm}0.0045$
Number of $t\bar{t}$ events $N^{t\bar{t}}$	18272.0 ± 135.174	23610.0 ± 153.655	37257.0 ± 193.021
$t\bar{t}$ Top Selection $\epsilon_{top}^{t\bar{t}}\cdot A_{top}^{t\bar{t}}$	0.322 ± 0.0038	0.330 ± 0.0045	0.302 ± 0.0040

Table 7.1: Values used in calculating the cross section ratios in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels.

The variables to calculate the cross section ratios for each of the dilepton channels are thus defined as:

$$R_{\mu^+\mu^-} = \frac{\sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}}{\sigma_{t\bar{t}}} = \frac{N_{signal}}{\epsilon_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}} \cdot \frac{\epsilon_{top}^{t\bar{t}} A_{top}^{t\bar{t}}}{N_{t\bar{t}}} = 0.0016 \pm 0.00021(stat. + syst.)$$
(7.1)

$$R_{e^+e^-} = \frac{\sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}}{\sigma_{t\bar{t}}} = \frac{N_{signal}}{\epsilon_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}} \cdot \frac{\epsilon_{top}^{t\bar{t}} A_{top}^{t\bar{t}}}{N_{t\bar{t}}} = 0.0013 \pm 0.00032(stat. + syst.)$$
(7.2)

$$R_{e\mu} = \frac{\sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}}{\sigma_{t\bar{t}}} = \frac{N_{signal}}{\epsilon_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}} \cdot \frac{\epsilon_{top}^{t\bar{t}} A_{top}^{t\bar{t}}}{N_{t\bar{t}}} = 0.00047 \pm 0.00028(stat. + syst.)$$
(7.3)

The fiducial cross sections for individual decay channels can now be calculated. This is done by extrapolating from the cross section ratio and multiplying the computed ratio value by the inclusive $t\bar{t}$ cross section of $245.6 \pm 1.3(stat.) \pm ^{+6.6}_{-5.5}(syst.) \pm 6.5(lumi.)$ pb [40]. The results of multiplying the ratio by the inclusive $t\bar{t}$ cross section for individual decay channels are given as:

$$\sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}^{\mu^+\mu^-} = 393 \pm 52(stat. + syst.)$$
fb (7.4)

$$\sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}^{e^+e^-} = 319 \pm 59(stat. + syst.)$$
fb (7.5)

$$\sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}^{e\mu} = 115 \pm 28(stat. + syst.) \text{fb}$$
(7.6)

The cross section multiplied by the dilepton branching fraction, $\mathcal{B}_{t\bar{t}\to 2l}$, is then computed by dividing through by the kinematic acceptance. The kinematic acceptances are given in Section 5.4 as 0.3102 ± 0.0018 , 0.2810 ± 0.0014 , and 0.2661 ± 0.0014 in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ final states, respectively. The cross section multiplied by branching fraction is defined as follows:

$$\sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}^{\mu^+\mu^-} \times \mathcal{B}_{t\bar{t}\to2l} = 1.267 \pm 168(stat. + syst.) \text{pb}$$
(7.7)

$$\sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}^{e^+e^-} \times \mathcal{B}_{t\bar{t}\to2l} = 1.135 \pm 210(stat. + syst.) \text{pb}$$
(7.8)

$$\sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}^{e\mu} \times \mathcal{B}_{t\bar{t}\to2l} = 0.432 \pm 105(stat. + syst.) \text{pb}$$
(7.9)

7.2 Combination of Channels

In order to improve the measurement, a combination of each decay channel to produce a single result for the cross section ratio is performed. This is done by using a single likelihood fit, similar to that seen previously in Section 5.3. The fit incorporates nine input parameters: the top purity, photon purity, and number of data events for each dilepton decay channel while fitting to the same three scale factors. A modified chi-squared calculation is defined to be the sum of the nine terms, given as:

$$\chi^{2} = \frac{\left(\pi_{e\gamma}^{data,\mu^{+}\mu^{-}} - \pi_{e\gamma}^{MC,\mu^{+}\mu^{-}}\right)^{2}}{\sigma_{\pi_{e\gamma},\mu^{+}\mu^{-}}^{2}} + \frac{\left(\pi_{t\bar{t}}^{data,\mu^{+}\mu^{-}} - \pi_{t\bar{t}}^{MC,\mu^{+}\mu^{-}}\right)^{2}}{\sigma_{\pi_{t\bar{t}},\mu^{+}\mu^{-}}^{2}} + \frac{\left(N_{events}^{data,\mu^{+}\mu^{-}} - N_{events}^{MC,\mu^{+}\mu^{-}}\right)^{2}}{\sigma_{N_{events,\mu^{+}\mu^{-}}}^{2}} + \frac{\left(\pi_{e\gamma}^{data,e^{+}e^{-}} - \pi_{e\gamma}^{MC,e^{+}e^{-}}\right)^{2}}{\sigma_{\pi_{t\bar{t}},e^{+}e^{-}}^{2}} + \frac{\left(\pi_{e\gamma}^{data,e^{+}e^{-}} - \pi_{e\gamma}^{MC,e^{+}e^{-}}\right)^{2}}{\sigma_{N_{events,e^{+}e^{-}}}^{2}} + \frac{\left(\pi_{e\gamma}^{data,e^{+}e^{-}} - \pi_{e\gamma}^{MC,e^{+}e^{-}}\right)^{2}}{\sigma_{N_{events,e^{+}e^{-}}}^{2}} + \frac{\left(\pi_{e\gamma}^{data,e^{\mu}} - \pi_{e\gamma}^{MC,e^{\mu}}\right)^{2}}{\sigma_{\pi_{e\gamma},e^{\mu}}^{2}} + \frac{\left(\pi_{t\bar{t}}^{data,e^{\mu}} - \pi_{t\bar{t}}^{MC,e^{\mu}}\right)^{2}}{\sigma_{\pi_{t\bar{t}},e^{\mu}}^{2}} + \frac{\left(N_{events}^{data,e^{\mu}} - N_{events}^{MC,e^{\mu}}\right)^{2}}{\sigma_{N_{events,e^{\mu}}}^{2}}$$

$$(7.10)$$

The values of the top purity, photon purity, and number of events in the data are the same as used previously from individual channels. The values are listed in Table 5.4.

The likelihood fit is scanned over three scale factor parameters, such that the maximum likelihood returns values of $SF_{t\bar{t}+\gamma} = 1.05 \pm 0.18$, $SF_{V+\gamma} = 0.98 \pm 0.44$, and $SF_{jet\to\gamma} = 1.18 \pm 0.32$ for the three scale factors, respectively.

After the fit has been performed, the combined number of $t\bar{t}+\gamma$ signal events is 114 ± 12 . The values of the combined efficiencies for selection, and number of $t\bar{t}$ events is measured to to be:

- $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ Top and Photon Selection Efficiency = 0.2321 ± 0.0042 .
- Top selection efficiency = 0.122 ± 0.000034 .
- Number of $t\bar{t}$ events = 64398 ± 233 .

Using these values, the cross section ratio for the combination of channels is calculated to be:

$$R_{comb.} = \frac{\sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}}{\sigma_{t\bar{t}}} = \frac{N_{signal}}{\epsilon_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}} \cdot \frac{\epsilon_{top}^{t\bar{t}} A_{top}^{t\bar{t}}}{N_{t\bar{t}}} = 0.00115 \pm 0.00023(stat.)$$
(7.11)

In the same manner as before, the computed ratio is multiplied by the $t\bar{t}$ inclusive cross section to find the fiducial cross section to get:

$$\sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}^{comb.} = 282 \pm 46(stat.) \text{fb} \tag{7.12}$$

then the cross section multiplied by the branching fraction, with a kinematic acceptance of 0.2981 ± 0.0014 , for the dilepton channel is:

$$\sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}^{comb.} \times \mathcal{B}_{t\bar{t}\to2l} = 944 \pm 154(stat.) \text{fb}$$
(7.13)

Conclusions

In this thesis the observation and cross section measurement of top quark pairs in association with a radiated photon decaying to a dilepton final state is presented. The measurement was made using data from proton-proton collisions recorded by the CMS detector at the Large Hadron Collider, running with a centre-of-mass energy of $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV over the 2012 data-taking period.

A cut-based analysis measuring the production cross section of top quark pair events in association of a radiated photon, as well as the ratio of the production cross section to the inclusive top quark pair cross section, was carried out using the full 2012 dataset corresponding to an integrated luminosity of 19.7 fb^{-1} . The ratio of cross sections is calculated in order to cancel out global variables, such as luminosity. The estimation of the photon identification efficiency is calculated by studying the photon isolation profile using the supercluster footprint removal technique and random cone isolation. This method allows for the extraction of signal and background templates directly from data. The technique is cross-checked with simulated events for completeness.

The main sources of uncertainty for the measurement manifest in the form of the purity of top pair events passing selection, and the number of photon events passing full selection. The precision of the cross section calculation is limited due to the very small number of events passing selection. A cross section of $\sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma} = 944 \pm 154$ fb and ratio $R = \sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}/\sigma_{t\bar{t}} = 0.00115 \pm 0.00023$ was measured in comparison to the theoretical prediction of $\sigma_{t\bar{t}+\gamma}^{theoretical} = 861 \pm 71(\text{scale}) \pm 30(\text{PDF})$ fb, using the latest measurement of the inclusive $t\bar{t}$ cross section. Therefore, a good agreement is observed with the Standard Model and do not observe any evidence for physics beyond that of the Standard Model. This is the most accurate measurement of the $t\bar{t}+\gamma$ process to date and the only measurement in the dilepton final state ever performed.

Future Outlook

Overall, the outlook for a measurement of the $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ process at higher energies is an exciting prospect. It will be possible to measure the cross section of the process to a much higher degree of accuracy due to the increase in the production of top quark pairs compared to a much lower production rate of background processes. For an LHC running at centreof-mass energy of $\sqrt{s} = 14$ TeV, the cross section for top quark pairs is expected to have increased by ~ 3.5 times the cross section at $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV at 920 pb [42], compared to an increase of ~ 1.5 times that at $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV for background processes. This can be seen in Figure 1.9. This increase in top quark pair production would remove the main inhibitor of the measurement – it is statistically limited.

Ultimately, a measurement of the electromagnetic vertex of the top quark and radiated photon is desired, however, it could also be used in conjunction with other measurements. For example, a future $t\bar{t}+\gamma$ measurement could also be used in a way that is complementary to the search for top quark pair plus a radiated Higgs boson, whereby the Higgs decays to two photons in the final state. Understanding this process will be of huge importance as it will be a background to the $t\bar{t}+\gamma$ process, and a combination of semileptonic and dileptonic channels would be more beneficial at higher energies due to increased statistics. Similarly, understanding the $t\bar{t}+\gamma$ process is greatly important as it is a background to many SUSY processes. At higher energies it will be possible to glean a greater understanding of the process by measuring the differential cross section with respect to global variables. Appendices

A.1 Operator Contributions to $\gamma t\bar{t}$

Below are the contributions to the effective $\gamma t\bar{t}$ vertices of the operators in Equation 1.2.5. The shorthand $\alpha_x = C_x/\Lambda^2$ is used, where the indices are dropped from the α constants.

$$\alpha O_{uW}^{33} + \alpha^* (O_{uW}^{33})^\dagger \supset \frac{v}{\sqrt{2}} s_W [\operatorname{Re}\alpha \bar{t} \lambda^a g^{\mu\nu} t + i \operatorname{Im}\alpha \bar{t} \lambda^a g^{\mu\nu} \gamma^5 t] G_\nu^a Z_\mu$$
(14)

$$\alpha O_{uB\phi}^{33} + \alpha^* (O_{uB\phi}^{33})^{\dagger} \supset \frac{v}{\sqrt{2}} c_W [\operatorname{Re}\alpha \bar{t} \lambda^a g^{\mu\nu} t + i \operatorname{Im}\alpha \bar{t} \lambda^a g^{\mu\nu} \gamma^5 t] G_{\nu}^a Z_{\mu}$$
(15)

$$\alpha O_{qW}^{33} + \alpha^* (O_{qW}^{33})^{\dagger} \supset s_W [\operatorname{Re}\alpha \partial^{\nu} (\bar{t}_L \gamma^{\mu} t_L) + i \operatorname{Im} \alpha \bar{t}_L \gamma^{\mu} \partial^{\nu} t_L] A_{\mu\nu}$$
(16)

$$\alpha O_{qB}^{33} + \alpha^* (O_{qB}^{33})^{\dagger} \supset c_W [\operatorname{Re}\alpha \partial^{\nu} (\bar{t}_L \gamma^{\mu} t_L) + i \operatorname{Im} \alpha \bar{t}_L \gamma^{\mu} \partial^{\nu} t_L] A_{\mu\nu}$$
(17)

$$\alpha O_{uB}^{33} + \alpha^* (O_{uB}^{33})^{\dagger} \supset c_W [\operatorname{Re}\alpha \partial^{\nu} (\bar{t}_L \gamma^{\mu} t_L) + i \operatorname{Im}\alpha \bar{t}_R \gamma^{\mu} \partial^{\nu} t_R] A_{\mu\nu}$$
(18)

A.2 Electron and Muon Efficiencies

A.2.1 Dilepton trigger scale factors

Trigger	\mathbf{SF}
$\mu^+\mu^-$	0.9984 ± 0.0002
e^+e^-	0.9990 ± 0.0002
$e\mu$	0.9986 ± 0.0001

Table A1: Dilepton trigger scale factors [157].

A.2.2 Electron ID and isolation efficiencies

All ID and Isolation $(MVA > 0.5)$	$20 < p_T < 30$	$30 < p_T < 40$	$40 < p_T < 50$	$50 < p_T$
$ \eta < 0.8$	0.969 ± 0.007	0.926 ± 0.003	0.969 ± 0.002	0.975 ± 0.000
$0.8 < \eta < 1.4442$	0.935 ± 0.017	0.945 ± 0.004	0.964 ± 0.002	0.974 ± 0.002
$1.4442 < \eta < 1.5660$	1.032 ± 0.039	0.907 ± 0.015	0.957 ± 0.022	0.877 ± 0.020
$1.5660 < \eta < 2.5$	0.919 ± 0.014	0.926 ± 0.005	0.952 ± 0.003	0.950 ± 0.005

Table A2: Electron ID and isolation efficiencies [158].

A.2.3 Muon ID and efficiencies

All ID and Isolation	$p_T > 20~{ m GeV/c}$
$0 < \eta < 0.9$	0.9984 ± 0.0002
$0.9 < \eta < 1.2$	0.9990 ± 0.0002
$1.2 < \eta < 2.1$	0.9986 ± 0.0001
$2.1 < \eta < 2.5$	1.0000 ± 0.0003

Table A3: Muon ID and isolation efficiencies [157].

A.3 Variable Distributions



A.3.1 Lepton variables

Figure A.3.1a: Lead lepton p_T , second lepton p_T , and dilepton mass distributions for the e^+e^- and $e\mu$ channels after $t\bar{t}$ selection.



Figure A.3.1b: Lead lepton η and second lepton η distributions for the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels after $t\bar{t}$ selection.



Figure A.3.1c: Lead lepton ϕ and second lepton ϕ distributions for the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels after $t\bar{t}$ selection.



A.3.2 Jet variables

Figure A.3.2a: Comparison of the sum of the transverse momentum and η in all reconstructed jets, and number of jets per event for the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels after $t\bar{t}$ selection.



Figure A.3.2b: Comparison of the transverse momentum (left) and η (right) in leading jet of reconstructed jets for the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels after $t\bar{t}$ selection.



Figure A.3.2c: Comparison of the ϕ distributions in all jets (left) and leading jet (right) reconstructed jets for the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels after $t\bar{t}$ selection.



A.3.3 MET variables

Figure A.3.3: The missing transverse energy distributions in terms of missing energy, the azimuthal angle ϕ , and MET significance for the e^+e^- and $e\mu$ channels only after $t\bar{t}$ selection.



A.3.4 $t\bar{t}$ photon variables

Figure A.3.4a: Comparison of the η and H/E distributions in data and simulation in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels after $t\bar{t}$ selection.



Figure A.3.4b: Comparison of the ρ -corrected neutral hadron isolation and photon isolation distributions in data and simulation in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels after $t\bar{t}$ selection.



Figure A.3.4c: Comparison of the shower shape $(\sigma_{i\eta i\eta})$ and $\Delta R(\gamma, jets)$ distributions in data and simulation in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels after $t\bar{t}$ selection.



Figure A.3.4d: Comparison of the $\Delta R(\gamma, \mu)$ and $\Delta R(\gamma, e)$ distributions in data and simulation in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels after $t\bar{t}$ selection.



A.3.5 $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ photon variables

Figure A.3.5a: Comparison of the η and H/E distributions in data and simulation in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels after photon selection.



Figure A.3.5b: Comparison of the η and H/E distributions in data and simulation in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels after photon selection.


Figure A.3.5c: Comparison of the ρ -corrected neutral hadron isolation and photon isolation distributions in data and simulation in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels after photon selection.



Figure A.3.5d: Comparison of the shower shape $(\sigma_{i\eta i\eta})$ distributions in data and simulation in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels after photon selection.



Figure A.3.5e: Comparison of the $\Delta R(\gamma, \mu)$ and $\Delta R(\gamma, e)$ distributions in data and simulation in the $\mu^+\mu^-$, e^+e^- , and $e\mu$ channels after photon selection.

A.4 List of Acronyms

LHC Large Hadron Collider $\mathbf{D}\mathbf{M}$ dark matter **ISR** initial state radiation **PSB** Proton Synchrotron Booster \mathbf{PS} Proton Synchrotron ${\bf SPS}$ Super Proton Synchrotron PU pile-up \mathbf{SM} standard model \mathbf{SCFR} super cluster footprint removal ${\bf BSM}$ beyond the SM **QFT** quantum field theory ECAL electromagnetic calorimeter HCAL hadron calorimeter **EB** ECAL barrel **EE** ECAL endcaps **HB** hadron barrel **HE** hadron endcaps HF hadron forward HO hadron outer L1 Level-1 **HLT** high-level trigger **CSC** cathode strip chamber **DT** drift tube ${\bf RPC}$ resistive plate chamber **PV** Primary vertex **PF** Particle flow **POG** physics object group **GSF** Gaussian sum filter **BDT** boosted decision tree MC Monte Carlo **MET** missing transverse energy

Appendices

HPS hadron plus strips
JES jet energy scale
EM electromagnetic
CJV central jet veto
MVA multi-variate analysis
JER jet energy resolution
UES unclustered energy scale
CSV combined secondary vertex
NLO next-to-leading order
NNLO next-to-next-to-leading order
PDF parton distribution function
QCD Quantum Chromodynamics
QED Quantum Electrodynamics

Bibliography

- The CMS Collaboration. Observation of a new boson at a mass of 125 gev with the cms experiment at the lhc. *Physics Letters B - Nuclear Physics and Particle Physics*, 716(1):30–61, 9 2012. ISSN 0370-2693. doi: 10.1016/j.physletb.2012.08.021.
- G. Aad et al. Observation of a new particle in the search for the Standard Model Higgs boson with the ATLAS detector at the LHC. *Phys. Lett.*, B716:1–29, 2012. doi: 10.1016/j.physletb.2012.08.020.
- [3] Wikipedia. The standard model of elementary particles (more schematic depiction), with the three generations of matter, gauge bosons in the fourth column, and the higgs boson in the fifth. 27/06/2006. URL https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/ Standard_Model#/media/File:Standard_Model_of_Elementary_Particles.svg.
- [4] S. L. Glashow. Partial Symmetries of Weak Interactions. Nucl. Phys., 22:579–588, 1961. doi: 10.1016/0029-5582(61)90469-2.
- [5] S. Weinberg. A model of leptons. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 19:1264-1266, Nov 1967.
 doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.19.1264. URL http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/
 PhysRevLett.19.1264.
- [6] A. Salam and J. C. Ward. Weak and electromagnetic interactions. Nuovo Cim., 11: 568–577, 1959. doi: 10.1007/BF02726525.
- M. Gell-Mann. A Schematic Model of Baryons and Mesons. *Phys. Lett.*, 8:214–215, 1964. doi: 10.1016/S0031-9163(64)92001-3.
- [8] D. J. Gross and F. Wilczek. Asymptotically free gauge theories. i. Phys. Rev. D, 8: 3633-3652, Nov 1973. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevD.8.3633. URL http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.8.3633.

- [9] H. David Politzer. Reliable perturbative results for strong interactions? Phys. Rev. Lett., 30:1346-1349, Jun 1973. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.30.1346. URL http: //link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.30.1346.
- [10] Y. et al. Fukuda. Evidence for oscillation of atmospheric neutrinos. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 81:1562–1567, Aug 1998. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.81.1562. URL http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.81.1562.
- B. Pontecorvo. Neutrino Experiments and the Problem of Conservation of Leptonic Charge. Sov. Phys. JETP, 26:984–988, 1968. [Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz.53,1717(1967)].
- P. W. Higgs. Broken symmetries and the masses of gauge bosons. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 13:508-509, Oct 1964. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.13.508. URL http://link.aps. org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.13.508.
- F. Englert and R. Brout. Broken symmetry and the mass of gauge vector mesons. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 13:321-323, Aug 1964. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.13.321. URL http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.13.321.
- [14] G. S. Guralnik, C. R. Hagen, and T. W. B. Kibble. Global conservation laws and massless particles. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 13:585–587, Nov 1964. doi: 10.1103/ PhysRevLett.13.585. URL http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.13. 585.
- [15] C. N. Yang and R. L. Mills. Conservation of isotopic spin and isotopic gauge invariance. *Phys. Rev.*, 96:191–195, Oct 1954. doi: 10.1103/PhysRev.96.191. URL http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.96.191.
- [16] C. S. Wu, E. Ambler, R. W. Hayward, D. D. Hoppes, and R. P. Hudson. Experimental test of parity conservation in beta decay. *Phys. Rev.*, 105:1413-1415, Feb 1957. doi: 10.1103/PhysRev.105.1413. URL http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.105.1413.
- [17] C. Caso et al. (Particle Data Group). Review of particle physics. Eur.Phys.J, C3, 1998.

- [18] S. Bethke. Determination of the QCD coupling α_s . J. Phys., G26:R27, 2000. doi: 10.1088/0954-3899/26/7/201.
- [19] Y. Chen. URL http://yichen.me/sandbox/HZZIntroduction/#/ goldenchannel-higgs.
- [20] S. Chatrchyan et al. Observation of a new boson with mass near 125 GeV in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 7$ and 8 TeV. *JHEP*, 06:081, 2013. doi: 10.1007/JHEP06(2013)081.
- [21] G. Aad et al. Measurements of Higgs boson production and couplings in diboson final states with the ATLAS detector at the LHC. *Phys. Lett.*, B726:88–119, 2013. doi: 10.1016/j.physletb.2014.05.011,10.1016/j.physletb.2013.08.010. [Erratum: Phys. Lett.B734,406(2014)].
- [22] N. Cabibbo. Unitary symmetry and leptonic decays. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 10:531-533, Jun 1963. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.10.531. URL http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.10.531.
- [23] M. Kobayashi and T. Maskawa. CP Violation in the Renormalizable Theory of Weak Interaction. Prog. Theor. Phys., 49:652–657, 1973. doi: 10.1143/PTP.49.652.
- [24] W. R. Innes et al. Observation of structure in the Υ region. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 39:1240, 1977. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.39.1240. [Erratum: Phys. Rev. Lett.39,1640(1977)].
- [25] CDF Collaboration. Observation of top quark production in pp collisions with the collider detector at fermilab. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 74:2626–2631, Apr 1995. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.74.2626. URL http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.74.2626.
- [26] D0 Collaboration. Search for high mass top quark production in pp̄ collisions at √s =
 1.8 tev. Phys. Rev. Lett., 74:2422–2426, Mar 1995. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.74.
 2422. URL http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.74.2422.
- [27] Particle Data Group, A. Ceccucci (CERN), Z. Ligeti (LBNL), and Y. Sakai (KEK). The ckm quark-mixing matrix. *Chin. Phys.*, C38:090001, 2014. doi: 10.1088/1674-1137/38/9/090001.

- [28] M. L. Perl and Abrams et al. Evidence for anomalous lepton production in e⁺ e⁻ annihilation. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 35:1489–1492, Dec 1975. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett. 35.1489. URL http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.35.1489.
- [29] The UA1 Collaboration. Experimental observation of isolated large transverse energy electrons with associated missing energy at s=540 gev. *Physics Letters B*, 122(1):103 116, 1983. ISSN 0370-2693. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0370-2693(83)91177-2. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0370269383911772.
- [30] The UA2 Collaboration. Observation of single isolated electrons of high transverse momentum in events with missing transverse energy at the {CERN} pp collider. *Physics Letters B*, 122(5 - 6):476 - 485, 1983. ISSN 0370-2693. doi: http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/0370-2693(83)91605-2. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/0370269383916052.
- [31] K. Melnikov and T. v. Ritbergen. The Three loop relation between the MS-bar and the pole quark masses. *Phys. Lett.*, B482:99–108, 2000. doi: 10.1016/S0370-2693(00) 00507-4.
- [32] F. Jegerlehner, M. Yu. Kalmykov, and B. A. Kniehl. On the difference between the pole and the MS masses of the top quark at the electroweak scale. *Phys. Lett.*, B722: 123–129, 2013. doi: 10.1016/j.physletb.2013.04.012.
- [33] First combination of Tevatron and LHC measurements of the top-quark mass. 2014.
- [34] A. Quadt. Top quark physics at hadron colliders. *Eur. Phys. J.*, C48:835–1000, 2006.
 doi: 10.1140/epjc/s2006-02631-6.
- [35] K Nakamura and Particle Data Group. Review of particle physics. Journal of Physics G: Nuclear and Particle Physics, 37(7A):075021, 2010. URL http://stacks.iop. org/0954-3899/37/i=7A/a=075021.
- [36] N. Kidonakis. Differential and total cross sections for top pair and single top production. In Proceedings, 20th International Workshop on Deep-Inelastic Scattering and Related Subjects (DIS 2012), pages 831-834, 2012. doi: 10. 3204/DESY-PROC-2012-02/251. URL http://inspirehep.net/record/1114754/files/arXiv:1205.3453.pdf. [,831(2012)].

- [37] S. Senkin. Top quark physics at the lhc with the cms detector. *PhD Thesis*, page 204, 04/2014.
- [38] The CMS Collaboration. Lhctopwg summary plots. CMS TWiki, Nov 2015. URL https://twiki.cern.ch/twiki/bin/view/LHCPhysics/LHCTopWGSummaryPlots.
- [39] G. Aad et al. Measurement of the tt production cross-section using eµ events with b -tagged jets in pp collisions at √s = 7 and 8 TeV with the ATLAS detector. Eur. Phys. J., C74(10):3109, 2014. doi: 10.1140/epjc/s10052-014-3109-7.
- [40] V. Khachatryan et al. Measurement of the t \bar{t} production cross section in the e μ channel in proton-proton collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 7$ and 8 TeV. 2016.
- [41] The ATLAS and CMS Collaborations. Summary of the inclusive measurements of the top-pair production cross-section [4]. the horizontal axis shows the center of mass energy of proton-proton collision. the mass of top quark (mt) is assumed to be 172.5 gev for these measurements and theoretical calculations. TOPLHCWG summary plots. URL twiki.cern.ch/twiki/bin/view/LHCPhysics/TopLHCWGSummaryPlots.
- [42] M. Czakon, P. Fiedler, and A. Mitov. Total Top-Quark Pair-Production Cross Section at Hadron Colliders Through O(⁴/_S). Phys. Rev. Lett., 110:252004, 2013. doi: 10.1103/ PhysRevLett.110.252004.
- [43] J. et al. Beringer. Review of particle physics. Phys. Rev. D, 86:010001, Jul 2012. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevD.86.010001. URL http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.86.010001.
- [44] V. Khachatryan et al. Measurement of the t-channel single-top-quark production cross section and of the $|V_{tb}|$ CKM matrix element in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV. *JHEP*, 06:090, 2014. doi: 10.1007/JHEP06(2014)090.
- [45] T. Mueller. New results from the top quark. 2012. URL http://www-ekp.physik. uni-karlsruhe.de/~mullerth/TOP-SEMINAR12.
- [46] T. Steeger. Background estimation in a search for $t\bar{t} + \gamma$ events. Bachelor Thesis, August, 2012.

- [47] T. Hermanns. Studies at the cms experiment on silicon microstrip module defects and on photon identification in semileptonic $t\bar{t}$ events. *PhD Thesis*, CERN-THESIS-2008-111, 12/008.
- [48] J. Aguilar-Saavedra. A minimal set of top anomalous couplings. Nucl. Phys., B812: 181, 2009. doi: 10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2008.12.012.
- [49] W. Buchmuller and D. Wyler. Effective Lagrangian Analysis of New Interactions and Flavor Conservation. Nucl. Phys., B268:621–653, 1986. doi: 10.1016/0550-3213(86) 90262-2.
- [50] Y. Kuessel. Constraints on the top quark's charge from top pair events. PhD Thesis, 2012.
- [51] U. Baur, M. Buice, and L. H. Orr. Direct measurement of the top quark charge at hadron colliders. *Phys. Rev.*, D64:094019, 2001.
- [52] H. J. A. Tholen and A. Stah. Study of the inclusive tt
 + γ cross-section with the cms experiment. https://cds.cern.ch/record/1505276, pages no. CERN-THESIS-2012-222, 2012.
- [53] The CDF Collaboration. Evidence for $t\bar{t}\gamma$ production and measurement of $\sigma_{t\bar{t}\gamma}/\sigma_{t\bar{t}}$. *Phys.Rev.*, D48:031104, 2011. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevD.84.031104.
- [54] Measurement of the inclusive top-quark pair + photon production cross section in the muon + jets channel in pp collisions at 8 TeV. Technical Report CMS-PAS-TOP-13-011, CERN, Geneva, 2014. URL http://cds.cern.ch/record/1644573.
- [55] The ATLAS Collaboration. Measurement of the inclusive $t\bar{t}\gamma$ cross section with the atlas detector. ATLAS CONF NOTE, CONF-2011-153, 2011.
- [56] The CMS Collaboration. Constraints on the top-quark charge from top-pair events. http://cdsweb.cern.ch/record/1429970, pages no. CMS-PAS-TOP-11-031, 2012.
- [57] The ATLAS Collaboration. Measurement of the top quark charge in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 7$ tev in the atlas experiment. *http://cdsweb.cern.ch/record/1385517*, 2011.
- [58] CDF and D0 Collaborations. Combination of cdf and d0 measurements of the w boson helicity in top quark decays. 2012. doi: 1202.5272.

- [59] The CMS Collaboration. W helicity in top pair events. 2012.
- [60] Measurement of the W boson polarisation in top quark decays in 0.70 fb⁻¹ of pp collisions at sqrt(s)=7 TeV with the ATLAS detector. Technical Report ATLAS-CONF-2011-122, CERN, Geneva, Aug 2011. URL http://cds.cern.ch/record/ 1376422.
- [61] The CMS Collaboration. Measurement of the t-channel single top quark production cross-section in pp collisions at √s = 7 tev. Phys.Rev.Lett.107:091802, 2011. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.107.091802.
- [62] The D0 Collaboration. Measurements of single top quark production cross sections and $|V_{tb}|$ in $p\bar{p}$ collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 1.96$ tev. arXiv:1108.3091, 2011.
- [63] V. Khachatryan. Measurement of top quark-antiquark pair production in association with a W or Z boson in pp collisions at √s = 8 TeV. Eur. Phys. J. C, 74 (arXiv:1406.7830. CERN-PH-EP-2014-136. CMS-TOP-12-036):3060. 37 p, Jun 2014. URL http://cds.cern.ch/record/1712680. Comments: Replaced with published version. Added journal reference and DOI.
- [64] The CMS Collaboration. Search for t to zq. http://cdsweb.cern.ch/record/1429971, pages no. CMS-PAS-TOP-11-028, 2012.
- [65] The ATLAS Collaboration. Search for fcnc top quark processes at 7 tev with the atlas detector. http://cdsweb.cern.ch/record/1345084, 2011.
- [66] T. Abe. Linear collider physics resource book for snowmass 2001. arXiv:hepex/0106055 and arXiv:hep-ex/0106056 and arXiv:hep-ex/0106057 and arXiv:hepex/0106058, 2001.
- [67] S. Myers. The engineering needed for particle physics. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 370:3887-3923, 2012. doi: 10.1098/rsta.2011.0053. URL http://rsta. royalsocietypublishing.org/content/370/1973/3887.
- [68] John P. B. 200-gev intersecting storage accelerators. Proceedings of The 8th In-

ternational Conference on High-Energy Accelerators. CERN. Geneva, Switzerland, 1971.

- [69] O. Sim et al. Bruning. Lhc design report. Geneva : CERN, v.1 : the LHC Main Ring:548, 2004. doi: 10.5170/CERN-2004-003-V-1.
- [70] The CMS Collaboration. Observation of a new boson at a mass of 125 gev with the cms experiment at the lhc. *Phys. Lett. B*, 716, 2012.
- [71] The ATLAS Collaboration. Observation of a new particle in the search for the standard model higgs boson with the atlas detector at the lhc. *Phys. Lett. B*, 716, 2012.
- [72] Alemany-Fernandez et al. Operation and configuration of the lhc in run 1. CERN Internal Note, 25 Nov 2013.
- [73] The CMS Collaboration. URL http://cms.web.cern.ch/news/ cms-detector-design.
- [74] The CMS Collaboration. The cms experiment at the cern lhc. JINST, 3:S08004, 2008. doi: 10.1088/1748-0221/3/08/S08004.
- [75] L. Borrello et al. Sensor design for the cms silicon strip tracker. CMS-NOTE-2003-020. doi: http://cdsweb.cern.ch/record/687861.
- [76] J.L. Agram et al. The silicon sensors for the compact muon solenoid tracker: design and qualification procedure. *Nucl. Instrum. Meth.*, A 517:77, (2004).
- [77] V. Veszpremi. Operation and performance of the cms tracker. Journal of Instrumentation, 9(03):C03005, 2014. URL http://stacks.iop.org/1748-0221/9/i=03/ a=C03005.
- [78] The CMS Collaboration. Tracking results. (2012).
- [79] L. Rossi et al. Pixel detectors. Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg Germany, (2006).
- [80] The CMS Collaboration. Letter of intent. CERN-LHCC-92-003, 1992.
- [81] The CMS Collaboration. The e.m. calorimeter project: Technical design report. CERN-LHCC-97-33, 1997.

- [82] C. Biino. The cms electromagnetic calorimeter: overview, lessons learned during run 1 and future projections. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 587(1):012001, 2015. URL http://stacks.iop.org/1742-6596/587/i=1/a=012001.
- [83] The CMS hadron calorimeter project: Technical Design Report. Technical Design Report CMS. CERN, Geneva, 1997. URL https://cds.cern.ch/record/357153.
- [84] J. et al. Mans. CMS Technical Design Report for the Phase 1 Upgrade of the Hadron Calorimeter. Technical Report CERN-LHCC-2012-015. CMS-TDR-10, CERN, Geneva, Sep 2012. URL https://cds.cern.ch/record/1481837.
- [85] CMS Collaboration. Precise mapping of the magnetic field in the cms barrel yoke using cosmic rays. Journal of Instrumentation, 5(03):T03021, 2010. URL http: //stacks.iop.org/1748-0221/5/i=03/a=T03021.
- [86] CMS Collaboration. CMS technical design report, volume II: Physics performance.
 J. Phys. G, 34:995–1579, 2007. doi: 10.1088/0954-3899/34/6/S01.
- [87] S. Chatrchyan et al. The performance of the CMS muon detector in proton-proton collisions at sqrt(s) = 7 TeV at the LHC. JINST, 8:P11002, 2013. doi: 10.1088/ 1748-0221/8/11/P11002.
- [88] J. Goh, M. S. Kim, E. Kwon, J. Seo, and I. Yu. Muon reconstruction and identification in the rpc detector with tracker tracks. *CMS Internal Note*, v2, 2013.
- [89] S. Chatrchyan et al. Measurement of the $t\bar{t}$ production cross section in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 7$ TeV with lepton + jets final states. *Phys. Lett.*, B720:83–104, 2013. doi: 10.1016/j.physletb.2013.02.021.
- [90] The CMS Collaboration. Top pair cross section in e/mu+jets at 8 tev. CMS Physics Analysis Summary, CMS-PAS-TOP-12-006, 2012.
- [91] The CMS Collaboration. The cms trigger. CMS PAPER, v10, 2015.
- [92] Particle-Flow Event Reconstruction in CMS and Performance for Jets, Taus, and MET. Technical Report CMS-PAS-PFT-09-001, CERN, 2009. Geneva, Apr 2009. URL https://cds.cern.ch/record/1194487.

- [93] Commissioning of the Particle-flow Event Reconstruction with the first LHC collisions recorded in the CMS detector. Technical Report CMS-PAS-PFT-10-001, 2010. URL https://cds.cern.ch/record/1247373.
- [94] S. Hoeche. Introduction to monte carlo event generators. Slides from 2012 CTEQ-Fermilab School on QCD and Electroweak Phenomenology, 2012. URL http://www. physics.smu.edu/olness/ftp/misc/cteq/2012/Hoeche1.pdf.
- [95] R. Brun and F. Rademakers. {ROOT} âĂŤ an object oriented data analysis framework. Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment, 389(1âĂŞ2):81 - 86, 1997. ISSN 0168-9002. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0168-9002(97)00048-X. URL http:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S016890029700048X. New Computing Techniques in Physics Research V.
- [96] The CMS Collaboration. Cmssw software framework. . URL http://cms-sw. github.io/cmssw.
- [97] GEANT4 Collaboration. Geant4: A simulation toolkit. Nucl.Instrum.Meth., A506: 250, 2003. doi: 10.1016/S0168-9002(03)01368-8.
- [98] The CMS Collaboration. Cms physics: Technical design report, volume 1: Detector performance and software. CERN/LHCC, Geneva, Switzerland, 2, 2006.
- [99] A. Giammanco. The fast simulation of the cms experiment. Journal of Physics: Conference Series, 513(2):022012, 2014. URL http://stacks.iop.org/1742-6596/ 513/i=2/a=022012.
- [100] W. Kilian, T. Ohl, and J. Reuter. Whizard: Simulating multi-particle processes at lhc and ilc. *Eur.Phys.J.*, C71:1742, 2011. doi: 10.1140/epjc/s10052-011-1742-y.
- [101] J. Alwall, M. Herquet, F. Maltoni, O. Mattelaer, and T. Stelzer. Madgraph 5: going beyond. Journal of High Energy Physics, 2011(6):128, 2011. doi: 10.1007/ JHEP06(2011)128. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP06%282011%29128.
- [102] S. Hoeche, F. Krauss, N. Lavesson, L. Lonnblad, M. Mangano, A. Schalicke, and S. Schumann. Matching parton showers and matrix elements. In *HERA and*

the LHC: A Workshop on the implications of HERA for LHC physics: Proceedings Part A, 2006. URL http://inspirehep.net/record/709818/files/arXiv: hep-ph_0602031.pdf.

- [103] T. Sjöstrand, S. Mrenna, and P. Skands. Pythia 6.4 physics and manual. Journal of High Energy Physics, 2006(05):026, 2006. URL http://stacks.iop.org/ 1126-6708/2006/i=05/a=026.
- [104] S. Frixione and B. R. Webber. Matching nlo qcd computations and parton shower simulations. Journal of High Energy Physics, 2002(06):029, 2002. URL http:// stacks.iop.org/1126-6708/2002/i=06/a=029.
- [105] S. Frixione, P. Nason, and C. Oleari. Matching nlo qcd computations with parton shower simulations: the powheg method. *Journal of High Energy Physics*, 2007(11): 070, 2007. URL http://stacks.iop.org/1126-6708/2007/i=11/a=070.
- [106] J. Pumplin, D. R. Stump, J. Huston, H. L. Lai, P. M. Nadolsky, and W. K. Tung. New generation of parton distributions with uncertainties from global QCD analysis. *JHEP*, 07:012, 2002. doi: 10.1088/1126-6708/2002/07/012.
- [107] M. R. Whalley, D. Bourilkov, and R. C. Group. The Les Houches accord PDFs (LHAPDF) and LHAGLUE. In HERA and the LHC: A Workshop on the implications of HERA for LHC physics. Proceedings, Part B, 2005.
- [108] T. Sjöstrand, S. Mrenna, and P. Skands. Pythia 6.4 physics and manual. JHEP, 05: 026, 2006. doi: 10.1088/1126-6708/2006/05/026.
- [109] Z. Was. Precision simulations with TAUOLA and PHOTOS. Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl., 169:16–21, 2007. doi: 10.1016/j.nuclphysbps.2007.02.113. [,16(2006)].
- [110] H. Geenen, Y. Maravin, M. Makouski, N. Berry, T. Arndt, and H. Tholen. Monte carlo simulation of the top quark pair plus photon production. *CMS Note*, 2013/382, 2013.
- [111] The CMS Collaboration. Description and performance of track and primary-vertex reconstruction with the cms tracker. Journal of Instrumentation, 9(10):P10009, 2014.
 URL http://stacks.iop.org/1748-0221/9/i=10/a=P10009.

- [112] P. Billoir. Progressive track recognition with a kalman-like fitting procedure. Computer Physics Communications, 57(1âĂŞ3):390 - 394, 1989. ISSN 0010-4655. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0010-4655(89)90249-X. URL http://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/001046558990249X.
- [113] W. Erdmann. Vertex reconstruction at the cms experiment. Journal of Physics: Conference Series, 110(9):092009, 2008. URL http://stacks.iop.org/1742-6596/ 110/i=9/a=092009.
- [114] W. Adam, R. FrÄijhwirth, A. Strandlie, and T. Todorov. Reconstruction of electrons with the gaussian-sum filter in the cms tracker at the lhc. Journal of Physics G: Nuclear and Particle Physics, 31(9):N9, 2005. URL http://stacks.iop.org/ 0954-3899/31/i=9/a=N01.
- [115] Particle-flow commissioning with muons and electrons from J/Psi and W events at 7 TeV. Technical Report CMS-PAS-PFT-10-003, CERN, 2010. Geneva, 2010. URL http://cds.cern.ch/record/1279347.
- [116] B. P. Roe, H. Yang, J. Zhu, Y. Liu, I. Stancu, and G. McGregor. Boosted decision trees as an alternative to artificial neural networks for particle identification. Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment, 543(2âĂŞ3):577 – 584, 2005. ISSN 0168-9002. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nima.2004.12.018. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0168900205000355.
- [117] The CMS Collaboration. Cut-based electron identification algorithm. CMS TWiki, 2015. URL https://twiki.cern.ch/twiki/bin/view/CMSPublic/ SWGuideCutBasedElectronID.
- [118] The CMS Collaboration. Cuts in categories (cic) electron identification. CMS TWiki, 2015. URL https://twiki.cern.ch/twiki/bin/view/CMSPublic/ SWGuideCategoryBasedElectronID.
- [119] The CMS Collaboration. Particle-flow event reconstruction in cms and performance for jets, taus, and met. *Technical Report*, CMS-PAS-PFT-09-001, CERN, Geneva, Switzerland, 2009.

- [120] S. Baffioni, C. Charlot, F. Ferri, D. Futyan, P. Meridiani, I. Puljak, C. Rovelli, R. Salerno, and Y. Sirois. Electron reconstruction in CMS. *Eur. Phys. J.*, C49: 1099–1116, 2007. doi: 10.1140/epjc/s10052-006-0175-5.
- [121] The CMS collaboration. Performance of cms muon reconstruction in pp collision events at $\sqrt{s} = 7$ tev. Journal of Instrumentation, 7(10):P10002, 2012. URL http: //stacks.iop.org/1748-0221/7/i=10/a=P10002.
- [122] S. D. Ellis and D. E. Soper. Successive combination jet algorithm for hadron collisions. *Phys. Rev.*, D48:3160–3166, 1993. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevD.48.3160.
- [123] Y. L. Dokshitzer, G. D. Leder, S. Moretti, and B. R. Webber. Better jet clustering algorithms. *JHEP*, 08:001, 1997. doi: 10.1088/1126-6708/1997/08/001.
- [124] G. C. Blazey et al. Run II jet physics. In QCD and weak boson physics in Run II. Proceedings, Batavia, USA, March 4-6, June 3-4, November 4-6, 1999, pages 47-77, 2000. URL http://lss.fnal.gov/cgi-bin/find_paper.pl?conf-00-092.
- [125] Matteo Cacciari, Gavin P. Salam, and Gregory Soyez. The anti- k_t jet clustering algorithm. *JHEP*, 04:063, 2008. doi: 10.1088/1126-6708/2008/04/063.
- [126] R. Eusebi and on behalf of the CMS collaboration). Jet energy corrections and uncertainties in cms: reducing their impact on physics measurements. Journal of Physics: Conference Series, 404(1):012014, 2012. URL http://stacks.iop.org/ 1742-6596/404/i=1/a=012014.
- [127] The CMS collaboration. Determination of jet energy calibration and transverse momentum resolution in cms. Journal of Instrumentation, 6(11):P11002, 2011. URL http://stacks.iop.org/1748-0221/6/i=11/a=P11002.
- [128] S. Chatrchyan et al. Identification of b-quark jets with the CMS experiment. JINST, 8:P04013, 2013. doi: 10.1088/1748-0221/8/04/P04013.
- [129] C. Weiser. A combined secondary vertex based b-tagging algorithm in cms. Technical Report, CMS-NOTE-2006-014, CERN, Geneva, Jan 2006.

- [130] T. Speer, K. Prokofiev, R. Frhwirth, W. Waltenberger, and P. Vanlaer. Vertex fitting in the cms tracker. *Technical Report*, CMS-NOTE-2006-032, CERN, Geneva, Feb 2006.
- [131] P. Symonds. Top pair production cross sections and differential cross sections in the semi-leptonic channel using the cms detector at $\sqrt{s} = 7$ and 8 tev. *PhD Thesis*, March 2015.
- [132] The CMS collaboration. Missing transverse energy performance of the cms detector. Journal of Instrumentation, 6(09):P09001, 2011. URL http://stacks.iop.org/ 1748-0221/6/i=09/a=P09001.
- [133] The CMS Collaboration. Top reference selections and recommendations (run1) twiki. CMS TWiki, . URL https://twiki.cern.ch/twiki/bin/view/CMS/ TopEventSelectionRun1.
- [134] The CMS Collaboration. Cms top egamma coordination (run1). CMS TWiki, URL https://twiki.cern.ch/twiki/bin/view/CMS/TopEGMRun1.
- [135] The CMS Collaboration. Top muon information for analysis (run1). CMS TWiki, . URL https://twiki.cern.ch/twiki/bin/view/CMS/TopMUORun1.
- [136] CMS Collaboration. Jet performance in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s}=7$ TeV. CMS Physics Analysis Summary CMS-PAS-JME-10-003, 2010. URL http://cdsweb.cern.ch/ record/1279362.
- [137] The CMS Collaboration. Simple cut based id 2012. CMS Twiki, URL https: //twiki.cern.ch/twiki/bin/viewauth/CMS/CutBasedPhotonID2012.
- [138] CMS Collaboration. Measurement of differential cross sections for the production of a pair of isolated photons in pp collisions at √s = 7 tev. The European Physical Journal C, 74(11):3129, 2014. ISSN 1434-6044. doi: 10.1140/epjc/s10052-014-3129-3. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1140/epjc/s10052-014-3129-3.
- [139] M. Peruzzi. Measurement of differential cross sections for diphoton production in pp collisions with the cms experiment. CMS Thesis, 2015.

- [140] Results on b-tagging identification in 8 TeV pp collisions. Feb 2013. URL https: //cds.cern.ch/record/1528183.
- [141] V. Khachatryan. Measurements of inclusive w and z cross sections in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 7$ tev. Journal of High Energy Physics, 2011(1):80, 2011. doi: 10.1007/JHEP01(2011)080. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/JHEP01%282011%29080.
- [142] CMS Colaboration. Top pair cross section in dileptons. CMS Physics Analysis Summary, TOP-12-007, 2012.
- [143] M. Makouski. A measurement of top quark pair and photon production cross section with cms detector. *PhD Thesis*, 2015.
- [144] CMS Collaboration. Measurement of the $w\gamma$ and $z\gamma$ inclusive cross sections in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 7$ TeV and limits on anomalous triple gauge boson couplings. *Phys. Rev. D*, 89:092005, May 2014. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevD.89.092005. URL http: //link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.89.092005.
- [145] The CMS Collaboration. Absolute calibration of the luminosity measurement at cms: Winter 2012 update. 2012.
- [146] S. White. Luminosity Scans at the LHC. Luminosity Scans at LHC. 2011. URL https://cds.cern.ch/record/1357865.
- [147] CMS Luminosity Based on Pixel Cluster Counting Summer 2013 Update. Technical Report CMS-PAS-LUM-13-001, CERN, Geneva, 2013. URL https://cds.cern.ch/ record/1598864.
- [148] V. Khachatryan et al. Performance of Electron Reconstruction and Selection with the CMS Detector in Proton-Proton Collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV. JINST, 10(06):P06005, 2015. doi: 10.1088/1748-0221/10/06/P06005.
- [149] The CMS collaboration. The performance of the cms muon detector in proton-proton collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 7$ tev at the lhc. Journal of Instrumentation, 8(11):P11002, 2013. URL http://stacks.iop.org/1748-0221/8/i=11/a=P11002.

- [150] A. Vogt, S. Moch, and J. A. M. Vermaseren. The Three-loop splitting functions in QCD: The Singlet case. Nucl. Phys., B691:129–181, 2004. doi: 10.1016/j.nuclphysb. 2004.04.024.
- [151] P. M. Nadolsky, H. Lai, Q. Cao, J. Huston, J. Pumplin, D. Stump, W. Tung, and C.-P. Yuan. Implications of cteq global analysis for collider observables. *Phys. Rev.* D, 78:013004, Jul 2008. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevD.78.013004. URL http://link.aps. org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.78.013004.
- [152] J. Gao, M. Guzzi, J. Huston, H. Lai, Z. Li, P. Nadolsky, J. Pumplin, D. Stump, and C.-P. Yuan. Ct10 next-to-next-to-leading order global analysis of qcd. *Phys. Rev. D*, 89:033009, Feb 2014. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevD.89.033009. URL http://link.aps. org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.89.033009.
- [153] 8 TeV Jet Energy Corrections and Uncertainties based on 19.8 fb⁻¹ of data in CMS.
 Oct 2013. URL https://cds.cern.ch/record/1627305.
- [154] Jet Energy Resolution in CMS at sqrt(s) = 7 TeV. 2011.
- [155] Performance of b tagging at $\sqrt{s} = 8$ tev in multijet, $t\bar{t}$ and boosted topology events. Oct 2013. URL https://cms-physics.web.cern.ch/cms-physics/public/ BTV-13-001-pas.pdf.
- [156] M. L. Mangano, M. Moretti, F. Piccinini, and M. Treccani. Matching matrix elements and shower evolution for top-quark production in hadronic collisions. *JHEP*, 01:013, 2007. doi: 10.1088/1126-6708/2007/01/013.
- [157] The CMS Collaboration. Reference muon id and isolation efficiencies. CMS TWiki,
 URL https://twiki.cern.ch/twiki/bin/viewauth/CMS/MuonReferenceEffs.
- [158] The CMS Collaboration. Electron efficiencies for top quark analysis. CMS TWiki, . URL https://twiki.cern.ch/twiki/bin/viewauth/CMS/ KoPFAElectronTagAndProbe.